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In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, Annual Report, unless the context requires otherwise, “Eledon”, the 
"Company", "we", "our", and "us" means Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly Novus Therapeutics, Inc.) and all wholly 
owned subsidiaries.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” as defined by the Private Securities 
Litigation Reform Act of 1995, which statements involve substantial risks and uncertainties. Any statements other than 
statements of historical or current fact in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward looking statements. In some 
instances, you can identify forward-looking statements by the use of words such as “believes,” “anticipates,” “plans,” 
“expects,” “estimates,” “intends,” “predicts,” “projects,” “targets,” “could,” “may,” and similar expressions, although not all 
forward-looking statements include such identifying words. Forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to 
statements regarding:

• our product development plans, expectations for and the timing of commencement, enrollment, completion, data, 
and release of results of clinical trials for our product candidates;

• our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

• our strategies with respect to our preclinical and clinical development programs;

• our plans, strategy and timing to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals of our product candidates; 

• our review of strategic alternatives and the outcome of such review; and

• our expectations about our future financial performance or condition.

Actual results may differ materially from those indicated by such forward-looking statements as a result of various 
factors, including the factors listed under “Risk Factor Summary” below. These risks and uncertainties, as well as other risks 
and uncertainties that could cause the Company’s actual results to differ significantly from the forward-looking statements 
contained herein, are described in greater detail in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

Any forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K speak only as of the date hereof and 
not of any future date, and the Company expressly disclaims any intent to update any forward-looking statements, whether as 
a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

The market data and certain other statistical information used in this Annual Report are based on independent industry 
publications, governmental publications, reports by market research firms or other independent sources. Some data are also 
based on our good faith estimates. Information that is based on estimates, forecasts, projections, market research or similar 
methodologies is inherently subject to uncertainties and actual events or circumstances may differ materially from events and 
circumstances reflected in this information.
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RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

The following summarizes the principal factors that make an investment in the Company speculative or risky, all of 
which are more fully described in Part I, Item 1A, Risk Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This summary should 
be read in conjunction with the Risk Factors section and should not be relied upon as an exhaustive summary of the material 
risks facing our business. The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and/or growth prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking 
statements we have made in this report and those we may make from time to time. You should consider all of the risk factors 
described in our public filings when evaluating our business.

• Our short operating history and the acquisition of Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. in September 2020 may make it 
difficult to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.

• Our financial condition raises substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern. If we become 
unable to continue as a going concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and the values we receive for our 
assets in liquidation or dissolution could be significantly lower than the values reflected in our financial 
statements.

• We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect that we will continue to incur losses 
over the next several years and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

• We will require additional funding to be able to complete the development of our lead drug candidate. If we are 
unable to raise such capital, or if we are unable to do so on acceptable terms, we will be forced to significantly 
alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current operations, or liquidate and cease operations 
altogether. 

• Our product candidates are in the early stages of clinical development and may not be successfully developed. If 
we are unable to successfully develop and commercialize these or any other product candidate, or if we 
experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

• The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected and it or other public health crises, pandemics or epidemics 
could in the future adversely affect our business operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.

• Unfavorable global economic conditions could have a material adverse effect on our business.

• We maintain cash deposits in excess of federally insured limits. Adverse developments affecting financial 
institutions, including bank failures, could adversely affect our liquidity and financial performance.

• Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, including failure to 
demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) or similar 
regulatory authorities outside the United States. We may incur additional costs or experience delays in 
completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development, formulation and commercialization of our 
product candidates.

• The results of nonclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates may not be predictive of the 
results of later-stage clinical trials, and there is a risk that additional nonclinical and/or clinical safety studies will 
be required by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States or that subsequent studies will 
not match results seen in prior studies.

• Delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials could delay or prevent our receipt of necessary 
regulatory approvals and increase expenses for the development of our product candidates.

• If serious adverse events or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of our product 
candidates, we may need to abandon or limit our development of some of our product candidates.

• Our future success depends on our ability to retain executives and key employees and to attract, retain and 
motivate qualified personnel in the future.

• If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals, or the approvals 
may be for a narrow indication, we may not be able to commercialize our product candidates, and our ability to 
generate revenue may be materially impaired.

• Legislation regulating the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries may increase the difficulty and cost for us to 
obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.
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• Our internal computer systems, or those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or 
consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, disruptions, or incidents, which could result in a material 
disruption of our development programs or loss of data or compromise the privacy, security, integrity or 
confidentiality of sensitive information related to our business and have a material adverse effect on our 
reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations.

• Even if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, we may fail to achieve the degree of market 
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payers and others in the medical community necessary for 
commercial success.

• If our current product candidates, or a future product candidate receives marketing approval and we, or others, 
later discover that the product is less effective than previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that 
were not previously identified, the ability to market the product could be compromised.

• We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing 
competing products before or more successfully than we do.

• The insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or 
maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for new or current products could limit our ability to market 
those products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

• Our reliance on third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for nonclinical and clinical trials, and 
for eventual commercialization, increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product 
candidates or products at an acceptable cost and quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our development 
or commercialization efforts.

• We depend on contract research organizations (“CROs”) and other contracted third parties to perform nonclinical 
and clinical testing and certain other research and development activities. As a result, the outcomes of the 
activities performed by these organizations will be, to a certain extent, beyond our control.

• If we are unable to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our technology and products or if the 
scope of the intellectual property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and 
commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize 
our technology and products may be impaired.

• Our stock price could be volatile, and the market price of our common stock may drop unexpectedly.

• If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our operating 
results and our ability to operate our business could be harmed.

• Provisions in our corporate charter and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of the Company more 
difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

WEBSITE REFERENCES

In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we make references to our website at www.eledon.com. References to our 
website through this Form 10-K are provided for convenience only and the content on our website does not constitute a part 
of, and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

Overview

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (“Eledon” or the “Company”) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company focused on 
developing life-changing, targeted medicines for persons requiring an organ or cell based transplant, living with autoimmune 
disease, or living with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (“ALS”). The Company’s lead compound in development is tegoprubart, 
an IgG1, anti-CD40L antibody with high affinity for CD40 Ligand (“CD40L”, also called “CD154”), a well-validated 
biological target that we believe has broad therapeutic potential. 

In September 2020, we acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), the company that owned and controlled the 
intellectual property related to tegoprubart.

Tegoprubart is engineered to potentially both improve safety and provide pharmacokinetic, pharmacodynamic, and 
dosing advantages compared to other anti-CD40 approaches. The CD40L/CD40 pathway is recognized for its prominent role 
in immune regulation. CD40L is primarily expressed on activated CD4+ T cells, platelets and endothelial cells while the 
CD40 receptor is constitutively expressed on antigen presenting cells such as macrophages and dendritic cells, as well as B 
cells. By blocking CD40L and not the CD40 receptor, tegoprubart inhibits both the CD40 and CD11 costimulatory signaling 
pathways, providing the potential for improved efficacy compared to anti-CD40 receptor approaches. Blocking CD40L also 
increases polarization of CD4+ lymphocytes to Tregs, a specialized subpopulation of T cells that act to suppress an immune 
response, thus creating a more tolerogenic environment, which may play a therapeutic role in autoimmune diseases and in the 
prevention of allograft rejection after solid organ transplantation.

Tegoprubart is designed to negate the risk of thrombolytic events seen in the first generation of anti-CD40L antibodies 
by introducing structural modifications that have been shown in preclinical models to eliminate binding to the Fcγ receptors 
associated with platelet activation without altering the binding of tegoprubart to CD40L. In non-human primate studies, 
dosing of tegoprubart up to 200 mg/kg per week for 26 weeks, demonstrated no adverse events regarding coagulation, 
platelet activation or thromboembolism.

Our business strategy is to optimize the clinical and commercial value of tegoprubart and become a global 
biopharmaceutical company with a focused immunology franchise. Our original strategy was to develop tegoprubart in up to 
four indications: ALS, prevention of kidney allograft rejection, prevention of islet cell allograft rejection, and IgA 
Nephropathy (“IgAN”). We selected our indications based on preclinical and clinical data that was generated with either 
tegoprubart or historical anti-CD40L molecules. In January 2023, we announced our decision to prioritize resources on our 
kidney transplantation programs, discontinue the islet cell transplantation program, and deprioritize the IgAN program. We 
also remain committed to further progressing ALS clinical development and are working with key stakeholders on potential 
next steps to do so. However, as described below, we are unable to continue our clinical development of tegoprubart for 
people with ALS without additional financing.

In January 2023, we entered into a collaborative research agreement with eGenesis, Inc., ("eGenesis"), under which 
eGenesis will gain access to tegoprubart for preclinical xenotransplantation studies in support of eGenesis’ kidney, heart and 
islet cell xenotransplantation programs.
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The following chart summarizes the status of our current clinical development programs.

Prior to our acquisition of Anelixis, we focused on developing medicines for patients with disorders of the ear, nose, 
and throat (“ENT”). In June 2020, we announced that our lead program did not achieve statistical significance for the primary 
efficacy endpoints in the treatment of acute otitis media. As a result of this failure to achieve the primary study endpoint, we 
suspended the clinical development of our legacy ENT assets while we assessed potential development strategies. Following 
the June 2020 announcement, we significantly curtailed development expenses as we sought to identify strategic alternatives 
that would maximize stockholder value. As a result of these activities, we acquired Anelixis and raised additional capital in 
September 2020, as described above. After acquiring Anelixis, we terminated our ENT activities and returned our product 
rights to the original license holders in July 2021.

Kidney transplantation: prevention of allograft rejection

In January 2023, the Company announced plans to prioritize and focus resources on its kidney transplantation 
programs. Kidney transplantation is the most common type of solid organ transplantation in the United States with an 
estimated 240,000 Americans living with a transplanted kidney. In 2019, an estimated 24,000 kidneys were transplanted, of 
which up to 15% were re-transplants in persons that had already received at least one other kidney. Over 90,000 people in the 
U.S. wait 3-5 years for a kidney transplant and in 2014, nearly 5,000 Americans died waiting for a kidney with another nearly 
4,000 becoming too sick to receive a transplant.

Calcineurin inhibitors (“CNI”s) are a critical component of many immunosuppressive regimens to prevent acute and 
long-term kidney transplant rejection. However, chronic exposure to certain CNIs including tacrolimus is associated with 
new onset diabetes due to pancreatic beta cell toxicity, nephrotoxicity, and cardiotoxicity. Over time, these CNI side effects 
may significantly damage transplanted kidneys or result in a requirement for reduced exposures to CNIs and a resulting 
potential decrease in the ability to prevent long-term rejection.

Tegoprubart seeks to address challenges associated with current immunosuppressive transplantation regimens using 
CNI-based therapies. The ability to prevent acute and chronic transplant rejection without the need for CNIs has the potential 
to transform the clinical management of preventing graft rejection by mitigating the adverse events associated with CNIs and 
improving long-term graft survival, potentially decreasing the need for repeat kidney transplants.

In aggregated data from the published studies referenced in Figure 1 below, non-human primates undergoing allograft 
renal transplantation receiving anti-CD40L monotherapy (e.g., 5c8, AI794, IDEC-131) had longer average survival than both 
those receiving anti-CD40 monotherapy (e.g., 4D11, cH5D12, Chi220, ASKP1240), tacrolimus monotherapy or untreated 
controls (Figure 1).
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Figure 1: Inhibition of CD40L improved survival vs. CD40 inhibition in non-human primate kidney transplantation 
monotherapy studies

Figure 1: Kaplan-Meir estimates of the probability of rejection free survival by treatment group from eleven published 
studies of allograft kidney transplant in non-human primates. Median survival of untreated animals is 6 days (red line), 
monotherapy anti CD40 treated animals 131 days (gray line), and monotherapy anti CD40L treated animals 352 days (blue 
line), log rank test P= 0.0001. (Kirk, 1999; Preston, 2005; Montgomery, 2002; Xu, 2001; Xu, 2002; Kanmaz, 2004; Kim 
2017; Song, 2014; Aoyagi, 2009; Imai, 2007; Haanstra, 2003; Pearson, 2002; Cordoba 2015). Analysis is not based on head-
to-head comparison. Differences between any individual programs may vary.

The Company received regulatory approvals in Canada, the United Kingdom and Australia, for a Phase 1b clinical 
trial of tegoprubart, in up to 12 subjects, replacing tacrolimus as an immunosuppressive regimen component in patients 
undergoing de novo kidney transplantation. The first subject in the Phase 1b study was dosed in July 2022.

In July 2022, the Company received Investigational New Drug (IND) application clearance from the FDA for a 
controlled, Phase 2 trial of tegoprubart for the prevention of transplant rejection in persons receiving a kidney transplant. The 
Phase 2 study will be a multicenter, open-label, active control study to assess the safety and efficacy of tegoprubart compared 
with tacrolimus in the preservation of allograft function after kidney transplantation. The study will enroll approximately 120 
participants (60/arm) undergoing kidney transplant and will run in parallel to the ongoing Phase 1b clinical trial of 
tegoprubart in kidney transplantation. The Company plans to initiate patient enrollment in the third quarter of 2023, subject to 
financing.

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

ALS is a progressive, paralytic disorder characterized by degeneration of motor neurons in the brain and spinal cord. 
In the U.S., the incidence is estimated at approximately 5,000 cases per year with a prevalence of approximately 30,000 cases 
overall. Despite 3 approved drugs, in most cases, death from respiratory failure occurs between 3 to 5 years from diagnosis, 
with 50% of patients living at least 3 years from diagnosis and only 20% of patients living at least 5 years from diagnosis.

While the exact pathogenic mechanism of ALS is still not fully understood, there is strong evidence indicating that 
neuroinflammation plays an important role in the disease’s pathogenesis. Neuroinflammation in ALS is characterized by the 
infiltration of lymphocytes and macrophages into the central nervous system, and the activation of microglia and reactive 
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astrocytes. Reactive astrocytes and microglia as well as infiltrating lymphocytes, dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages 
and immune complexes have been identified in cerebrospinal fluid and neural tissues in both animal models of ALS and at 
autopsy in ALS patients.

Tegoprubart is designed to block CD40L binding to CD40, thereby potentially inhibiting neuroinflammatory 
pathways leading to disease progression in ALS. In vitro proof-of-concept studies have shown that tegoprubart binds to 
CD40L in human cells and blocks CD40L binding on antigen presenting cells and activated T cells. The potential for 
therapeutic benefit of CD40L blockage in treating ALS has been demonstrated in a SOD1 mouse model of ALS, where a 
murine anti-CD40L antibody, MR1, prolonged survival and delayed the onset of neurological disease progression. These 
pathophysiological manifestations are believed to be due to reduced immune cell infiltration of macrophages into skeletal 
muscle and their destroying denervated nerves. The plasticity of the nervous system to repair itself in the absence of this 
immune cell attack is believed to result in improved neuromuscular junction occupancy and improved muscle function. 
Blocking CD40L signaling also prevents pro-inflammatory polarization of lymphocytes, reduced neuroinflammation and 
improved motor neuron survival in rodent ALS models (Figure 2).

Figure 2: Blocking CD40L Improves Survival and Pathophysiology Associated with ALS

Figure 2: Anti-CD40L (“MR1”) treatment decreases CD68+ macrophages, improves neuromuscular junction 
occupancy and improves motor neuron survival. (A) Quantification of reduction of CD68+ macrophages by anti-CD40L 
treatment at day 100. (White bar, control IgG); gray bar (anti-CD40L–treatment); black bar (untreated age-matched non-
transgenic mice) (B) Quantification of neuromuscular occupancy in SOD1 mice prior to overt symptoms (day 70) versus 
after symptom onset (day 85) treated with an IgG control antibody (vehicle) or anti-CD40L antibody. (C) Quantitative 
comparison of lumbar spinal cord motor neuron counts per mm2 in IgG vehicle control (White bar) versus anti-CD40L 
treated mice (grey bar) at day 100 (Lincecum, 2010).

In 2018, the FDA granted orphan drug designation to tegoprubart for ALS. In 2019, we completed a single ascending 
dose Phase 1 study of tegoprubart in healthy volunteers and people living with ALS. In this study, the doses of tegoprubart 
studied were well tolerated in healthy adult subjects and adults with ALS. Tegoprubart demonstrated low anti-drug antibody 
responses that were not dose related, linear dose proportionality across the dose ranges, and a half-life of up to 26 days.

In October 2020, we initiated a Phase 2a, open-label, multi-center study to evaluate the safety and tolerability of 
multiple doses of tegoprubart in adult subjects with ALS. Fifty-four subjects living with ALS were enrolled into the study in 
the United States and Canada at 13 ALS treatment sites. Ascending doses of tegoprubart were administered as IV infusions to 
four sequentially enrolling cohorts. The first two cohorts consisted of nine participants, and the last two cohorts of 18 
participants each. All enrolled subjects received six infusions of tegoprubart over a 12-week period. Blood samples for target 
engagement, and exploratory biomarkers for inflammation and neurodegeneration were taken and analyzed. Participant-
focused clinical outcomes were also assessed. In May 2022, we completed the Phase 2a study and reported positive topline 
results where tegoprubart successfully met the primary endpoints of safety and tolerability. Fifty of the fifty-four subjects 
completed all six study infusions, and adverse events were typical of an ALS patient population. Tegoprubart was well-
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tolerated, and no drug-related serious adverse events were observed. No new safety signals emerged. Anti-drug antibodies 
(ADAs) were present in less than 5 percent of samples. All ADAs were of low titer and did not impact tegoprubart drug 
levels. Tegoprubart target engagement was demonstrated in all dose cohorts with increasing target engagement in a dose-
dependent manner, plateauing at the 4 and 8 mg / kg dosing levels using CD40L and CXCL13 biomarkers related to T cell 
and B cell function, respectively. Tegoprubart exposure decreased inflammatory biomarker levels, in a dose dependent 
manner, in over 20 of 32 pro-inflammatory proteins.  Pro-inflammatory biomarkers reduced included biomarkers also 
associated with IgA nephropathy and kidney transplant rejection, such as IgA, IgE, IgM, C3, CXCL9, and CXCL10.

The Company is seeking to further progress ALS clinical development and plans to work with key stakeholders on 
potential next steps to do so. However, we will be unable to continue our clinical development of tegoprubart for people with 
ALS without additional financing, and we can provide no assurances that we will be able to obtain financing on acceptable 
terms or at all.

IgA Nephropathy

In January 2023, the Company announced the deprioritization of its IgAN program. IgAN is the leading cause of 
chronic glomerulonephritis, a state of inflammation producing damage to the filtering part of the kidney. Disease 
manifestation and clinical presentation involves renal dysfunction characterized by proteinuria with a slow relentless course. 
Approximately 30%-40% of persons living with IgAN ultimately reach end stage renal disease (ESRD). The standard of care 
for ESRD is dialysis or kidney transplant, which represents a significant economic burden as well as a major impact on a 
patient’s quality of life. With an estimated prevalence of approximately 150,000 persons in the United States, IgAN is one of 
the most common autoimmune glomerulonephropathies. In the United States, oral budesonide Tarpeyo was approved for use 
in IgAN by the FDA in December 2021 and Kinpeygo received conditional approval by the European Medicines Agency 
(“EMA”) in July 2022.

The pathophysiology of IgAN has been well characterized, and based on its mechanism of action, tegoprubart has the 
potential to impact the disease process both upstream, at the source of the immune complexes, and downstream in the kidney 
itself, where it may reduce inflammation in the glomeruli. By disrupting multiple steps in the IgAN’s pathophysiology, 
tegoprubart has the potential to affect the clinical course of the disease and improve outcomes for patients. The inhibition of 
CD40L has been shown to be effective in models of multiple glomerulonephritides, as measured by a reduction in proteinuria 
and were associated with a decrease in immune cell infiltrate into the glomeruli (Figure 3).

Figure 3: Blocking CD40L Improves Survival and Pathophysiology Associated with Autoimmune Nephritis

Figure 3: Effect of anti-CD40L in the SNF1 rodent model of Lupus. (A) The survival curves of anti-CD40L treated and HIg 
controls differ significantly (p < 0.001 by Wilcoxon test). Control mice receiving HIgG control die rapidly with the onset of 
severe nephritis, and all but one are dead by age 12 months while all anti-CD40L treated mice are alive when the study is 
terminated at age 15.5 months (Kalled, 1998). (B) Urine was monitored weekly for proteinuria. Proteinuria was scored as 
follows: 0.5+ (15 to 30 mg/dl); 1+ (30 mg/dl); 2+ (100 mg/dl); 3+ (300 mg/dl) and 4+ (>20000 mg/dl). The proportion of 
mice with => +3 proteinuria differed significantly between anti-CD40L treated and HIg controls at all timepoints (p < 0.001 
by x2 test). Controls that did not have => 3+ proteinuria at the start of treatment became 4+ soon after, as opposed to anti-
CD40L treated mice where the proteinuria levels of six of seven mice declined and only one mouse developed 3+ proteinuria 
(Kalled, 1998). (C) MR1 treatment was associated with a significant reduction in the number of infiltrating macrophages. The 
number of infiltrating CD4+ and CD8+ cells was not statistically different from the Adriamycin alone group. Bars represent 
mean values + standard deviation. **P < 0.01 vs. Adriamycin alone group (Kairatis, 2003).
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In August 2022, the Company received IND clearance from the FDA to evaluate tegoprubart for the treatment of 
IgAN. Including the United States, the Company has now received regulatory clearances to initiate a phase 2a study in twelve 
countries. The global study is a 96-week open-label, dose ranging trial, and will include up to 42 subjects in a high dose and a 
low dose cohort. The primary endpoint is change in urinary protein:creatinine ratio (UPCR) at week twenty-four. Secondary 
endpoints include change in estimated Glomerular Filtration Rate (eGFR) at week 96 as well as safety and tolerability. The 
first subject was dosed in May 2022. The Company does not plan to initiate the low dose cohort and only plans to report out 
safety data from the high dose cohort, in 2023.

Islet cell transplantation: prevention of allograft rejection

Type 1 diabetes is a T cell mediated autoimmune disease with progressive loss of insulin producing pancreatic beta 
cells and affects over one million persons in the U.S. Of these individuals, an estimated 70,000 people have a particularly 
hard to control type 1 diabetes called Brittle Diabetes (“BT1D”) which is in part characterized by large swings in blood 
glucose levels and impaired awareness of hypoglycemia. Impaired awareness of hypoglycemia for people with type 1 
diabetes is associated with severe hypoglycemic events which can lead to significant symptoms and even death. Pancreatic 
islet cell transplantation may be a therapeutic option for type 1 diabetes because it can restore physiological insulin secretion, 
minimize the risk of hypoglycemic unawareness, and reduce the risk of death due to severe hypoglycemia.

In November 2020, the Company received clearance from Health Canada to proceed with the initiation of a Phase 2a 
clinical trial of tegoprubart for people with type 1 diabetes undergoing islet cell transplantation. In November 2021, the 
Company received IND clearance from the FDA for a Phase 2a clinical trial of tegoprubart for up to six people with type 1 
diabetes undergoing islet cell transplantation at the University of Chicago. In June 2022, the FDA granted orphan drug 
designation to tegoprubart for the prevention of allograft rejection in pancreatic islet cell transplantation. In August 2022, the 
Company announced the closure of the clinical site in Canada in order to concentrate resources in the United States.

In January 2023, the Company announced that all clinical development for tegoprubart in islet cell transplantation 
would be discontinued.

Collaboration Agreement with eGenesis for Xenotransplantation Studies

In January 2023, the Company entered into a collaborative research agreement with eGenesis, under which eGenesis 
will gain access to tegoprubart, for preclinical xenotransplantation studies in support of eGenesis’ kidney, heart and islet cell 
programs.

The competitive conditions faced by the Company are described in greater detail in Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “We face substantial competition, which may result in others 
discovering, developing or commercializing competing products before or more successfully than we do.”

Intellectual Property

Eledon’s success depends in part on our ability to obtain and maintain proprietary protection for our product 
candidates, novel discoveries, product technologies and other know-how, to operate without infringing on the proprietary 
rights of others and to prevent others from infringing our proprietary rights. We seek to protect our product candidates by, 
among other methods, filing U.S. and foreign patent applications related to our proprietary technology, inventions and 
improvements that are important to the development and implementation of our business. We also rely on trademarks, trade 
secrets, know-how, continuing technological innovation and potential in-licensing opportunities to develop and maintain 
proprietary protection for our product candidates.

Our intellectual property portfolio includes issued patents and patent applications directed toward (i) isolated 
antibodies and (ii) methods of treatment using the isolated antibodies that block the interaction of CD40L and CD40 to treat 
CD-40L related diseases or disorders. We have exclusive rights to these patent families, of which two families are directed to 
tegoprubart and related antibodies. The first family is directed to methods for treating amyotrophic lateral sclerosis with 
antibodies and includes two issued United States patents and 14 issued foreign patents (Japan, Hong Kong, Belgium, 
Germany, Denmark, Spain, Finland, France, Great Britain, Ireland, Italy, the Netherlands, Sweden, and Switzerland). The 
second family is directed to tegoprubart. Tegoprubart is the current clinical candidate, with 13 pending applications, and 
issued/allowed patents including three issued United States patents, one allowed United States patent application, and 17 
issued foreign patents (Australia, Belgium, Switzerland, China, Germany, Denmark, France, Great Britain, Ireland, Israel, 
Italy, Japan, Mexico, the Netherlands, Russia, Sweden, Singapore). The third family is directed to tegoprubart with 17 
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pending applications, including one pending United States patent application, and issued patents, including one issued United 
States patent and one issued Russian patent. In the first family, the patents are set to expire in December 2029, absent any 
term adjustments or extensions. In the second family, any issued patent would nominally expire in February 2036, absent any 
term adjustments or extensions. In the third family, any issued patent would nominally expire in May 2038, absent any term 
adjustments or extensions.

Subsequent to our acquisition of Anelixis, we undertook a strategic review of the legacy ENT assets. We concluded 
this review and determined that the best path forward was to terminate license agreements associated with these ENT assets 
and return the rights to the original license holders, which we did in July 2021. There was no financial impact to returning 
these assets.

Patents extend for varying periods according to the date of patent filing or grant and the legal term of patents in 
various countries where patent protection is obtained. The actual protection afforded by a patent, which can vary from 
country to country, depends on the type of patent, the scope of its coverage and the availability of legal remedies in the 
country.

Eledon also protects its proprietary information by requiring its employees, consultants, contractors, and other 
advisors to execute nondisclosure and assignment of invention agreements upon commencement of their respective 
employment or engagement. In addition, Eledon also requires confidentiality or service agreements from third parties that 
receive confidential information or materials.

See Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies of the consolidated financial statements included elsewhere herein under 
the caption “Grants and Licenses” for further information about the Company’s intellectual property.

Manufacturing

We do not own or operate manufacturing facilities for the production of tegoprubart or any future product candidates, 
nor do we have plans to develop our own manufacturing operations in the foreseeable future. We currently rely on third 
parties for raw materials and the manufacturing of drug substance and drug product for nonclinical and clinical activities. As 
of the date of this Annual Report, we have not experienced any difficulty in obtaining raw materials required with respect to 
the manufacturing of tegoprubart. We believe we have enough drug substance and drug product on hand and manufacturing 
capacity with our third-party manufacturing providers to meet forecasted clinical trial demand.

We also rely on third parties to label, store and distribute drug product for our nonclinical and clinical trials.

Government Regulation

Government authorities in the United States, including federal, state, and local authorities, and in other countries, 
extensively regulate, among other things, the manufacturing, research and clinical development, marketing, labeling, and 
packaging, storage, distribution, post-approval monitoring and reporting, advertising and promotion, and export and import 
of pharmaceutical and biological products, such as those we are developing. Pricing of such products is also subject to 
regulation in many countries. The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and the subsequent compliance with appropriate 
federal, state, local, and foreign statutes and regulations require the expenditure of substantial time and financial resources.

U.S. Government Regulation

The FDA regulates drugs under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (“FDCA”) and its implementing 
regulations, and biologics under the FDCA and the Public Health Service Act (“PHSA”) and its implementing regulations. 
FDA approval is required before any new unapproved drug or biologic or dosage form, including a new use of a previously 
approved drug, can be marketed in the U.S. Drugs and biologics are also subject to other federal, state, and local statutes and 
regulations. If we fail to comply with applicable FDA or other requirements at any time during the product development 
process, clinical testing, approval process or after approval, we may become subject to administrative or judicial sanctions. 
These sanctions could include the FDA’s refusal to approve pending applications, license suspension or revocation, 
withdrawal of an approval, untitled or warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of 
production or distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties or criminal prosecution. Any FDA enforcement action could have 
a material adverse effect on us.
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The process required by the FDA before product candidates may be marketed in the United States generally involves 
the following:

• completion of extensive preclinical laboratory tests and preclinical animal studies, all performed in accordance with 
the Good Laboratory Practices (“GLP”) regulations;

• submission to the FDA of an IND which must become effective before human clinical trials may begin and must be 
updated annually;

• approval by an independent institutional review board (“IRB”) or ethics committee representing each clinical site 
before each clinical trial may be initiated;

• performance of adequate and well-controlled human clinical trials to establish the safety and efficacy of the product 
candidate for each proposed indication;

• completion of manufacturing scale up and stability studies, all performed in accordance with the Good 
Manufacturing Practices “GMP” regulations;

• preparation of and submission to the FDA of a biologics license application (“BLA”) or a new drug application, or 
NDA, after completion of all pivotal clinical trials;

• potential review of the product application by an FDA advisory committee, where appropriate and if applicable;

• a determination by the FDA within 60 days of its receipt of a BLA or NDA to file the application for review;

• satisfactory completion of an FDA pre-approval inspection of the manufacturing facilities where the proposed 
product is produced to assess compliance with current Good Manufacturing Practices (“cGMP”) regulations;

• potential FDA audit of the clinical trial sites that generated the data in support of the BLA or NDA; and

• FDA review and approval of a BLA or NDA prior to any commercial marketing or sale of the product.

The preclinical and clinical testing and approval process requires substantial time, effort, and financial resources, and 
we cannot be certain that any approvals for our product candidates will be granted on a timely basis, if at all.

An IND is a request for authorization from the FDA to administer an investigational new drug product to humans in 
clinical trials. The central focus of an IND submission is on the general investigational plan and the protocol(s) for human 
trials. The IND also includes results of animal and in vitro studies assessing the toxicology, pharmacokinetics, pharmacology, 
and pharmacodynamic characteristics of the product; chemistry, manufacturing, and controls information; and any available 
human data or literature to support the use of the investigational new drug. An IND must become effective before human 
clinical trials may begin. An IND will automatically become effective 30 days after receipt by the FDA, unless before that 
time the FDA raises concerns or questions related to the proposed clinical trials. In such a case, the IND may be placed on 
clinical hold and the IND sponsor and the FDA must resolve any outstanding concerns or questions before clinical trials can 
begin. Accordingly, submission of an IND may or may not result in the FDA allowing clinical trials to commence. The FDA 
may impose a clinical hold at any time during clinical trials and may impose a partial clinical hold that would limit trials, for 
example, to certain doses or for a certain length of time.

Clinical Trials

Clinical trials involve the administration of the investigational new drug to human subjects under the supervision of 
qualified investigators in accordance with Good Clinical Practices (“GCPs”) which include the requirement that all research 
subjects provide their informed consent for their participation in any clinical trial. Clinical trials are conducted under 
protocols detailing, among other things, the objectives of the study, the parameters to be used in monitoring safety, and the 
efficacy criteria to be evaluated. A protocol for each clinical trial and any subsequent protocol amendments must be 
submitted to the FDA as part of the IND. Additionally, approval must also be obtained from each clinical trial site’s IRB 
before the trials may be initiated, and the IRB must monitor the trial until completed. There are also requirements governing 
the reporting of ongoing clinical trials and clinical trial results to public registries.

The clinical investigation of a drug is generally divided into three phases. Although the phases are usually conducted 
sequentially, they may overlap or be combined.

• Phase 1. The drug is initially introduced into healthy human subjects or patients with the target disease or condition. 
These studies are designed to evaluate the safety, dosage tolerance, metabolism and pharmacologic actions of the 
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investigational new drug in humans, the side effects associated with increasing doses, and if possible, to gain early 
evidence on effectiveness.

• Phase 2. The drug is administered to a limited patient population to evaluate dosage tolerance and optimal dosage, 
identify possible adverse side effects and safety risks, and preliminarily evaluate efficacy.

• Phase 3. The drug is administered to an expanded patient population, generally at geographically dispersed clinical 
trial sites to generate enough data to evaluate dosage, clinical effectiveness and safety, to establish the overall 
benefit-risk relationship of the investigational new drug product, and to provide an adequate basis for physician 
labeling.

In some cases, the FDA may condition approval of a BLA or NDA for a product candidate on the sponsor’s agreement 
to conduct additional clinical trials after approval. In other cases, a sponsor may voluntarily conduct additional clinical trials 
after approval to gain more information about the drug. Such post-approval studies are typically referred to as Phase 4 
clinical trials.

Sponsors must also report to the FDA, within certain timeframes, serious and unexpected adverse reactions, any 
clinically important increase in the rate of a serious suspected adverse reaction over that listed in the protocol or 
investigator’s brochure, or any findings from other studies or animal or in vitro testing that suggest a significant risk in 
humans exposed to the product candidate. The FDA, the IRB, or the clinical trial sponsor may suspend or terminate a clinical 
trial at any time on various grounds, including a finding that the research subjects are being exposed to an unacceptable 
health risk. Additionally, some clinical trials are overseen by an independent group of qualified experts organized by the 
clinical trial sponsor, known as a data safety monitoring board or committee. This group provides authorization for whether 
or not a trial may move forward at designated check points based on access to certain data from the trial. We may also 
suspend or terminate a clinical trial based on evolving business objectives or competitive climate.

The clinical trial process can take three to ten years or more to complete, and there can be no assurance that the data 
collected will support FDA approval or licensure of the product. Results from one trial are not necessarily predictive of 
results from later trials.

A drug being studied in clinical trials may be made available to individual patients in certain circumstances. Pursuant 
to the 21st Century Cures Act (“Cures Act”) which was signed into law in December 2016, the manufacturer of an 
investigational drug for a serious disease or condition is required to make available, such as by posting on its website, its 
policy on evaluating and responding to requests for individual patient access to such investigational drug (compassionate 
use). This requirement applies on the later of 60 calendar days after the date of enactment of the Cures Act or the first 
initiation of a Phase 2 or Phase 3 trial of the investigational drug. At this time, Eledon does not have a program for the 
compassionate use of an investigational product outside of a clinical trial as it is not applicable to our investigational 
products.

Submission of a BLA or NDA to the FDA

Assuming successful completion of all required testing (e.g., completion of pivotal clinical trials) in accordance with 
all applicable regulatory requirements, detailed investigational new drug product information is submitted to the FDA in the 
form of a BLA or NDA requesting approval to market the product for one or more indications. Under federal law, the 
submission of most BLAs and NDAs is subject to an application user fee and these fees are typically increased on an annual 
basis. Applications for orphan drug products are exempted from the BLA and NDA user fees and may be exempted from 
product and establishment user fees, unless the application includes an indication for other than a rare disease or condition. 
No application user fees were paid for tegoprubart in calendar 2022.

A BLA or NDA for a new molecular entity must include all relevant data available from pertinent preclinical studies 
and clinical trials, including negative or ambiguous results as well as positive findings, together with detailed information 
relating to the product’s chemistry, manufacturing, controls, and proposed labeling, among other things. Data can come from 
company-sponsored clinical trials intended to test the safety and effectiveness of a use of a product, or from several 
alternative sources, including investigator-initiated trials that are not sponsored by Eledon. To support marketing approval, 
the data submitted must be sufficient in quality and quantity to establish the safety and effectiveness of the investigational 
new drug product to the satisfaction of the FDA.

Once a BLA or NDA for a new molecular entity has been submitted, the FDA’s goal is to review the application 
within ten months after it accepts the application for filing, or, if the application relates to an unmet medical need in a serious 
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or life-threatening indication, six months after the FDA accepts the application for filing. The review process is often 
significantly extended by the FDA’s requests for additional information or clarification.

Before approving a BLA or NDA, the FDA typically will inspect the facility or facilities where the product is 
manufactured. The FDA will not approve an application unless it determines that the manufacturing processes and facilities 
are in compliance with cGMP requirements and adequate to assure consistent production of the product within required 
specifications. Additionally, before approving a BLA or NDA, the FDA will typically inspect one or more clinical sites to 
assure compliance with GCP.

The FDA is required to refer an application for a novel drug to an advisory committee or explain why such referral 
was not made. Typically, an advisory committee is a panel of independent experts, including clinicians and other scientific 
experts, that reviews, evaluates and provides a recommendation as to whether the application should be approved and under 
what conditions. The FDA is not bound by the recommendations of an advisory committee, but it considers such 
recommendations carefully when making decisions.

The FDA’s Decision on a BLA or NDA

The FDA evaluates a BLA to determine whether the data demonstrate that the biologic is safe, pure, and potent, or 
effective, and an NDA to determine whether the drug is safe and effective. After the FDA evaluates the BLA or NDA and 
conducts inspections of manufacturing facilities where the product will be produced, it may issue an approval letter or a 
Complete Response Letter. An approval letter authorizes commercial marketing of the drug with specific prescribing 
information for specific indications. A Complete Response Letter indicates that the review cycle of the application is 
complete, and the application is not ready for approval. A Complete Response Letter may require additional clinical data or 
an additional pivotal Phase 3 clinical trial(s), or other significant, expensive and time-consuming requirements related to 
clinical trials, preclinical studies or manufacturing. Even if such additional information is submitted, the FDA may ultimately 
decide that the BLA or NDA does not satisfy the criteria for approval and issue a denial. The FDA could also approve the 
BLA or NDA with a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”) plan to mitigate risks, which could include 
medication guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, 
patient registries and other risk minimization tools. The FDA also may condition approval on, among other things, changes to 
proposed labeling, development of adequate controls and specifications, or a commitment to conduct one or more post-
market studies or clinical trials. Such post-market testing may include Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to further assess 
and monitor the product’s safety and effectiveness after commercialization. Also, new government requirements, including 
those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or prevent 
regulatory approval of our products under development.

Pediatric Trials and Exclusivity

Under the Pediatric Research Equity Act of 2003 (“PREA”) as amended, BLAs and NDAs must contain data to assess 
the safety and effectiveness of an investigational new drug product for the claimed indications in all relevant pediatric 
populations and to support dosing and administration for each pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safe and 
effective. A sponsor who is planning to submit a marketing application for a drug product that includes a new active 
ingredient, new indication, new dosage form, new dosing regimen or new route of administration must submit an initial 
Pediatric Study Plan (“PSP”) within sixty days of an end-of-phase 2 meeting or as may be agreed between the sponsor and 
the FDA. The initial PSP must include an outline of the pediatric study or studies that the sponsor plans to conduct, including 
study objectives and design, age groups, relevant endpoints and statistical approach, or a justification for not including such 
detailed information, and any request for a deferral of pediatric assessments or a full or partial waiver of the requirement to 
provide data from pediatric studies along with supporting information. The FDA may, on its own initiative or at the request 
of the applicant, grant deferrals for submission of some or all pediatric data until after approval of the product for use in 
adults or full or partial waivers if certain criteria are met. The FDA and the sponsor must reach agreement on the PSP. A 
sponsor can submit amendments to an agreed-upon initial PSP at any time if changes to the pediatric plan need to be 
considered based on data collected from preclinical studies, early phase clinical trials, and/or other clinical development 
programs. The requirements for pediatric data do not apply to any drug for an indication for which orphan designation has 
been granted. In the future we may seek pediatric approval for tegoprubart applications in connection with renal and islet cell 
transplantations, which may require the submission of a PSP.
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Pediatric exclusivity is another type of non-patent exclusivity in the United States and, if granted, provides for the 
attachment of an additional six months of marketing protection to the term of any existing regulatory exclusivity, including 
the five-year and three-year non-patent and orphan exclusivity. This six-month exclusivity may be granted if a BLA or NDA 
sponsor submits pediatric data that fairly respond to a written request from the FDA for such data. The data do not need to 
show the product to be effective in the pediatric population studied; rather, if the clinical trial is deemed to fairly respond to 
the FDA’s request, the additional protection is granted. If reports of FDA-requested pediatric trials are submitted to and 
accepted by the FDA within the statutory time limits, whatever statutory or regulatory periods of exclusivity or patent 
protection covering the product are extended by six months. This is not a patent term extension, but it effectively extends the 
regulatory period during which the FDA cannot accept or approve another application relying on the BLA or NDA sponsor’s 
data.

Post-Approval Requirements

Drugs manufactured or distributed pursuant to FDA approvals are subject to pervasive and continuing regulation by 
the FDA, including, among other things, requirements relating to recordkeeping, periodic reporting, product sampling and 
distribution, advertising and promotion and reporting of adverse experiences with the product. After approval, most changes 
to the approved product, such as adding new indications or other labeling claims, are subject to prior FDA review and 
approval. There also are continuing, annual user fee requirements for any marketed products and the establishments at which 
such products are manufactured, as well as new application fees for supplemental applications with clinical data.

Drug manufacturers are subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA and state agencies for compliance 
with cGMP requirements. Changes to the manufacturing process are strictly regulated, and, depending on the significance of 
the change, may require prior FDA approval before being implemented. FDA regulations also require investigation and 
correction of any deviations from cGMP and impose reporting and documentation requirements upon us and any third-party 
manufacturers that we may decide to use. Accordingly, manufacturers must continue to expend time, money and effort in the 
area of production and quality control to maintain compliance with cGMP and other aspects of regulatory compliance.

We rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third parties for the production of clinical quantities of our product 
candidates and expect to rely in the future on third parties for the production of commercial quantities. Future FDA and state 
inspections may identify compliance issues at our facilities or at the facilities of our contract manufacturers that may disrupt 
production, distribution, or require substantial resources to correct. In addition, discovery of previously unknown problems 
with a product or the failure to comply with applicable requirements may result in restrictions on a product, manufacturer or 
holder of an approved BLA or NDA, including withdrawal or recall of the product from the market or other voluntary, FDA-
initiated or judicial action that could delay or prohibit further marketing. Also, new government requirements, including 
those resulting from new legislation, may be established, or the FDA’s policies may change, which could delay or prevent 
regulatory approval of our products under development.

The FDA may withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if 
problems occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product, 
including adverse events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with 
regulatory requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-
market studies or clinical trials to assess new safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under 
a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of the product, complete withdrawal of the product from the market 
or product recalls;

• fines, untitled or warning letters or holds on post-approval clinical trials;

• refusal of the FDA to approve pending BLAs or NDAs or supplements to approved BLAs or NDAs, or suspension 
or revocation of licenses or withdrawal of approvals;

• product seizure or detention, or refusal to permit the import or export of products; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising, and promotion of products that are placed on the market. 
Drugs may be promoted only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label. The 
FDA and other agencies actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses, and a company 
that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses may be subject to significant liability.
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Orphan Designation and Exclusivity

The FDA may grant orphan drug designation to drugs intended to treat a rare disease or condition that affects fewer 
than 200,000 individuals in the United States, or if it affects more than 200,000 individuals in the United States, there is no 
reasonable expectation that the cost of developing and making the drug for this type of disease or condition will be recovered 
from sales in the United States.

Orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards 
clinical trial costs, tax advantages, and user-fee waivers. In addition, if a product is the first to receive FDA approval for the 
indication for which it has orphan designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity, which means the FDA may 
not approve any other application to market the same drug for the same indication for a period of seven years, except in 
limited circumstances, such as a showing of clinical superiority over the product with orphan exclusivity. The Company 
received orphan drug designations for tegoprubart for the treatment of ALS and prevention of allograft rejection in pancreatic 
islet cell transplantation.

Patent Term Restoration

Depending upon the timing, duration, and specifics of the FDA approval of the use of our product candidates, some of 
our U.S. patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Drug Price Competition and Patent Term 
Restoration Act of 1984, commonly referred to as the Hatch-Waxman Amendments. The Hatch-Waxman Amendments 
permit a patent restoration term of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during product development and the 
FDA regulatory review process. However, patent term restoration cannot extend the remaining term of a patent beyond a total 
of 14 years from the product’s approval date. The patent term restoration period is generally one-half the time between the 
effective date of an IND and the submission date of a BLA or NDA, plus the time between the submission date and the 
approval of that application, except that the review period is reduced by any time during which the applicant failed to 
exercise due diligence. Only one patent applicable to an approved product is eligible for the extension and the application for 
the extension must be submitted prior to the expiration of the patent and within 60 days of the product’s approval. The U.S. 
Patent and Trademark Office, in consultation with the FDA, reviews and approves the application for any patent term 
extension or restoration. In the future, we may apply for restoration of the patent term for one of our currently owned or 
licensed patents to add patent life beyond its current expiration date, depending on the expected length of the clinical trials 
and other factors involved in the filing of the relevant BLA or NDA.

Abbreviated New Drug Applications for Generic Drugs

In 1984, with passage of the Hatch-Waxman Amendments, Congress authorized the FDA to approve generic drugs 
that are the same as drugs previously approved by the FDA under the NDA provisions of the statute. To obtain approval of a 
generic drug, an applicant must submit an abbreviated new drug application (“ANDA”) to the agency. In support of such 
applications, a generic manufacturer may rely on the preclinical and clinical testing previously conducted for a drug product 
previously approved under an NDA, known as the reference listed drug (“RLD”).

Specifically, in order for an ANDA to be approved, the FDA must find that the generic version is identical to the RLD 
with respect to the active ingredients, the route of administration, the dosage form, and the strength of the drug. At the same 
time, the FDA must also determine that the generic drug is “bioequivalent” to the innovator drug. Under the statute, a generic 
drug is bioequivalent to an RLD if “the rate and extent of absorption of the generic drug do not show a significant difference 
from the rate and extent of absorption of the listed drug.”

Upon approval of an ANDA, the FDA indicates that the generic product is “therapeutically equivalent” to the RLD 
and it assigns a therapeutic equivalence rating to the approved generic drug in its publication “Approved Drug Products with 
Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations,” also referred to as the “Orange Book.” Physicians and pharmacists consider an “AB” 
therapeutic equivalence rating to mean that a generic drug is fully substitutable for the RLD. In addition, by operation of 
certain state laws and numerous health insurance programs, the FDA’s designation of an “AB” rating often results in 
substitution of the generic drug without the knowledge or consent of either the prescribing physician or patient.

The FDCA provides a period of five years of non-patent exclusivity for a new drug containing a new chemical entity. 
In cases where such exclusivity has been granted, an ANDA may not be filed with the FDA until the expiration of five years 
unless the submission is accompanied by a Paragraph IV certification, in which case the applicant may submit its application 
four years following the original product approval. The FDCA also provides for a period of three years of exclusivity if the 
NDA includes reports of one or more new clinical investigations, other than bioavailability or bioequivalence studies, that 
were conducted by or for the applicant and are essential to the approval of the application. This three-year exclusivity period 
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often protects changes to a previously approved drug product, such as a new dosage form, route of administration, 
combination or indication.

Hatch-Waxman Patent Certification and the 30-Month Stay

Upon approval of an NDA or a supplement thereto, NDA sponsors are required to list with the FDA each patent with 
claims that cover the applicant’s product or a method of using the product. Each of the patents listed by the NDA sponsor is 
published in the Orange Book. When an ANDA applicant files its application with the FDA, the applicant is required to 
certify to the FDA concerning any patents listed for the reference product in the Orange Book, except for patents covering 
methods of use for which the ANDA applicant is not seeking approval.

Specifically, the applicant must certify with respect to each patent that:

• the required patent information has not been filed;

• the listed patent has expired;

• the listed patent has not expired, but will expire on a particular date and approval is sought after patent expiration; or

• the listed patent is invalid, unenforceable or will not be infringed by the new product.

A certification that the new product will not infringe the already approved product’s listed patents or that such patents 
are invalid or unenforceable is called a Paragraph IV certification. If the applicant does not challenge the listed patents or 
indicates that it is not seeking approval of a patented method of use, the ANDA application will not be approved until all the 
listed patents claiming the referenced product have expired.

If the ANDA applicant has provided a Paragraph IV certification to the FDA, the applicant must also send notice of 
the Paragraph IV certification to the NDA and patent holders once the ANDA has been accepted for filing by the FDA. The 
NDA and patent holders may then initiate a patent infringement lawsuit in response to the notice of the Paragraph IV 
certification. The filing of a patent infringement lawsuit within 45 days after the receipt of a Paragraph IV certification 
automatically prevents the FDA from approving the ANDA until the earlier of 30 months after the receipt of the Paragraph 
IV notice, expiration of the patent, or a decision in the infringement case that is favorable to the ANDA applicant.

European Union/Rest of World Government Regulation

In addition to regulations in the United States, we will be subject to a variety of regulations in other jurisdictions 
governing, among other things, clinical trials and any commercial sales and distribution of our products. The cost of 
establishing a regulatory compliance system for numerous varying jurisdictions can be very significant. Although many of 
the issues discussed above with respect to the United States apply similarly in the context of the European Union (“EU”) and 
in other jurisdictions, the approval process varies between countries and jurisdictions and can involve additional product 
testing and additional administrative review periods. The time required to obtain approval in other countries and jurisdictions 
might differ from and be longer than that required to obtain FDA approval. Regulatory approval in one country or jurisdiction 
does not ensure regulatory approval in another, but a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one country or 
jurisdiction may negatively impact the regulatory process in others.

Whether or not we obtain FDA approval for a product candidate, we must obtain the requisite approvals from 
regulatory authorities in foreign countries prior to the commencement of clinical trials or marketing of the product in those 
countries. Certain countries outside of the United States have a similar process that requires the submission of a clinical trial 
application much like the IND prior to the commencement of human clinical trials. In the EU, for example, a clinical trial 
authorization application (“CTA”) must be submitted for each clinical protocol to each country’s national health authority 
and an independent ethics committee, much like the FDA and IRB, respectively. Once the CTA is accepted in accordance 
with a country’s requirements, the clinical trial may proceed.

The requirements and process governing the conduct of clinical trials vary from country to country. In all cases, the 
clinical trials are conducted in accordance with GCP the applicable regulatory requirements, and the ethical principles that 
have their origin in the Declaration of Helsinki.

To obtain regulatory approval of an investigational medicinal product under EU regulatory systems, we must submit a 
marketing authorization application. The content of the BLA or NDA filed in the United States is like that required in the EU, 
except, among other things, country-specific document requirements.
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For other countries outside of the EU, such as countries in Eastern Europe, Latin America or Asia, the requirements 
governing product licensing, pricing, and reimbursement vary from country to country.

Countries that are part of the EU, as well as countries outside of the European Union, have their own governing 
bodies, requirements, and processes with respect to the approval of pharmaceutical and biologic products. If we fail to 
comply with applicable foreign regulatory requirements, we may be subject to, among other things, fines, suspension or 
withdrawal of regulatory approvals, product recalls, seizure of products, operating restrictions and criminal prosecution.

Authorization Procedures in the EU

Medicines can be authorized in the EU by using either the centralized authorization procedure or national 
authorization procedures.

• Centralized procedure. The EMA implemented the centralized procedure for the approval of human medicines to 
facilitate marketing authorizations that are valid throughout the European Economic Area (“EEA”). This procedure 
results in a single marketing authorization issued by the EMA that is valid across the EEA. The centralized 
procedure is compulsory for human medicines that are: derived from biotechnology processes, such as genetic 
engineering, contain a new active substance indicated for the treatment of certain diseases, such as HIV/AIDS, 
cancer, diabetes, neurodegenerative disorders or autoimmune diseases and other immune dysfunctions, and officially 
designated orphan medicines.

• For medicines that do not fall within these categories, an applicant has the option of submitting an application for a 
centralized marketing authorization to the European Commission following a favorable opinion by the EMA, as 
long as the medicine concerned is a significant therapeutic, scientific or technical innovation, or if its authorization 
would be in the interest of public health.

• National authorization procedures. There are also two other possible routes to authorize medicinal products in 
several EU countries, which are available for investigational medicinal products that fall outside the scope of the 
centralized procedure:

• Decentralized procedure. Using the decentralized procedure, an applicant may apply for simultaneous authorization 
in more than one EU country of medicinal products that have not yet been authorized in any EU country and that do 
not fall within the mandatory scope of the centralized procedure.

• Mutual recognition procedure. In the mutual recognition procedure, a medicine is first authorized in one EU 
Member State, in accordance with the national procedures of that country. Following this, further marketing 
authorizations can be sought from other EU countries in a procedure whereby the countries concerned agree to 
recognize the validity of the original, national marketing authorization.

In some cases, a Pediatric Investigation Plan (“PIP”) or a request for waiver or deferral, is required for submission 
prior to submitting a marketing authorization application. A PIP describes, among other things, proposed pediatric trials and 
their timing relative to clinical trials in adults. A PIP will be submitted to EMA and other EU countries, as required. The PIP 
will need to be submitted early during product development before marketing authorization applications are submitted. The 
timing of PIP submission cannot be after initiation of pivotal trials or confirmatory (phase 3) trials. In the future we may seek 
pediatric approval for tegoprubart applications in connection with renal and islet cell transplantations, which may require the 
submission of a PIP.

Exclusivity of New Chemical Entities and New Fixed Dose Combinations

In the EU, new chemical entities, sometimes referred to as new active substances as well as new fixed dose 
combinations, qualify for eight years of data exclusivity upon marketing authorization and an additional two years of market 
exclusivity. This data exclusivity, if granted, prevents regulatory authorities in the EU from referencing the innovator’s data 
to assess a generic (abbreviated) application for eight years, after which a generic application can be submitted, and the 
innovator’s data may be referenced, but not approved for two years. The overall ten-year period will be extended to a 
maximum of eleven years if, during the first eight years of those ten years, the marketing authorization holder obtains an 
authorization for one or more new therapeutic indications which, during the scientific evaluation prior to their authorization, 
are held to bring a significant clinical benefit in comparison with existing therapies.
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Exceptional Circumstances/Conditional Approval

Orphan drugs or drugs with unmet medical needs may be eligible for EU approval under exceptional circumstances or 
with conditional approval. Approval under exceptional circumstances may be applicable to orphan products and is used when 
an applicant is unable to provide comprehensive data on the efficacy and safety under normal conditions of use because the 
indication for which the product is intended is encountered so rarely that the applicant cannot reasonably be expected to 
provide comprehensive evidence, when the present state of scientific knowledge does not allow comprehensive information 
to be provided, or when it is medically unethical to collect such information. Conditional marketing authorization may be 
applicable to orphan medicinal products, medicinal products for seriously debilitating or life-threatening diseases, or 
medicinal products to be used in emergency situations in response to recognized public threats. Conditional marketing 
authorization can be granted on the basis of less complete data than is normally required in order to meet unmet medical 
needs and in the interest of public health, provided the risk-benefit balance is positive, it is likely that the applicant will be 
able to provide the comprehensive clinical data, and unmet medical needs will be fulfilled. Conditional marketing 
authorization is subject to certain specific obligations to be reviewed annually.

Accelerated Review

Under the centralized procedure in the EU, the maximum timeframe for the evaluation of a marketing authorization 
application is 210 days (excluding clock stops, when additional written or oral information is to be provided by the applicant 
in response to questions asked by the EMA’s Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, or CHMP). Accelerated 
evaluation might be granted by the CHMP in exceptional cases, when a medicinal product is expected to be of a major public 
health interest, particularly from the point of view of therapeutic innovation. In this circumstance, EMA ensures that the 
opinion of the CHMP is given within 150 days, excluding clock stops.

Pharmaceutical Coverage, Pricing and Reimbursement

Significant uncertainty exists as to the coverage and reimbursement status of any products for which we obtain 
regulatory approval. In the United States and in other countries, sales of any products for which we receive regulatory 
approval for commercial sale will depend in part on the availability of coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors. 
Third-party payors include government authorities, managed care providers, private health insurers and other organizations. 
The process for determining whether a payor will provide coverage for a product may be separate from the process for setting 
the reimbursement rate that the payor will pay for the product. Third-party payors may limit coverage to specific products on 
an approved list, or formulary, which might not include all of the FDA-approved products for a particular indication. 
Moreover, a payor’s decision to provide coverage for a drug product does not imply that an adequate reimbursement rate will 
be approved. Adequate third- party reimbursement may not be available to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to 
realize an appropriate return on our investment in product development.

Third-party payors are increasingly challenging the price and examining the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness 
of medical products and services, in addition to their safety and efficacy. In order to obtain coverage and reimbursement for 
any product that might be approved for sale, we may need to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies in order to 
demonstrate the medical necessity and cost-effectiveness of our products, in addition to the costs required to obtain 
regulatory approvals. Our product candidates may not be considered medically necessary or cost-effective. If third-party 
payors do not consider a product to be cost-effective compared to other available therapies, they may not cover the product 
after approval as a benefit under their plans or, if they do, the level of payment may not be sufficient to allow a company to 
sell its products at a profit.

The U.S. government, state legislatures and foreign governments have shown significant interest in implementing cost 
containment programs to limit the growth of government-paid healthcare costs, including price controls, restrictions on 
reimbursement and requirements for substitution of generic products for branded prescription drugs. By way of example, the 
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010, 
collectively, the Affordable Care Act, contains provisions that may reduce the profitability of drug products, including, for 
example, increased rebates for drugs sold to Medicaid programs, extension of Medicaid rebates to Medicaid managed care 
plans, mandatory discounts for certain Medicare Part D beneficiaries and annual fees based on pharmaceutical companies’ 
share of sales to federal healthcare programs. Some of the provisions of the Affordable Care Act have yet to be fully 
implemented, while certain provisions have been subject to judicial and congressional challenges. In January 2017, Congress 
voted to adopt a budget resolution for fiscal year 2017, that while not a law, is widely viewed as the first step toward the 
passage of legislation that would repeal certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act. Further, on January 20, 2017, President 
Trump signed an Executive Order directing federal agencies with authorities and responsibilities under the Affordable Care 
Act to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the Affordable Care Act that 
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would impose a fiscal burden on states or a cost, fee, tax, penalty or regulatory burden on individuals, healthcare providers, 
health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices. Congress also could consider subsequent legislation 
to replace elements of the Affordable Care Act that are repealed. Thus, the full impact of the Affordable Care Act, any law 
replacing elements of it, or the political uncertainty surrounding its repeal or replacement on our business remains unclear. 
Adoption of government controls, measures and tightening of restrictive policies in jurisdictions with existing controls and 
measures could limit payments for pharmaceuticals.

In European countries, governments influence the price of pharmaceutical products through their pricing and 
reimbursement rules and control of national healthcare systems that fund a large part of the cost of those products to 
consumers. Some jurisdictions operate positive and negative list systems under which products may only be marketed once a 
reimbursement price has been agreed to by the government. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval, some of these 
countries may require the completion of clinical trials that compare the cost-effectiveness of a product candidate to currently 
available therapies. Other member states allow companies to fix their own prices for medicines but monitor and control 
company profits. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs, has become very 
intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to the entry of new products. In addition, in some countries, 
cross-border imports from low-priced markets exert a commercial pressure on pricing within a country.

The marketability of any products for which we receive regulatory approval for commercial sale may suffer if the 
government and third-party payors fail to provide adequate coverage and reimbursement. In addition, the emphasis on cost 
containment measures in the United States and other countries has increased, and we expect will continue to increase the 
pressure on pharmaceutical pricing. Coverage policies and third-party reimbursement rates may change at any time. Even if 
favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained for one or more products for which we receive regulatory approval, 
less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

Other Healthcare Laws and Compliance Requirements

If we obtain regulatory approval for any of our product candidates, we may be subject to various federal and state laws 
targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales, 
marketing and education programs. In addition, we may be subject to patient privacy regulation by both the federal 
government and the states in which we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully 
soliciting, receiving, offering or paying remuneration, directly or indirectly, to induce, or in return for, the purchase 
or recommendation of an item or service reimbursable under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and 
Medicaid programs;

• federal civil and criminal false claims laws and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, 
individuals or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, claims for payment from Medicare, 
Medicaid, or other third-party payors that are false or fraudulent;

• the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, (“HIPAA”), which created new federal 
criminal statutes that prohibit executing a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit program and making false 
statements relating to healthcare matters;

• the federal transparency laws, including the provision of the Affordable Care Act referred to as the federal Physician 
Payment Sunshine Act, that requires drug and biologics manufacturers to disclose payments and other transfers of 
value provided to physicians and teaching hospitals and ownership interests of physicians and their immediate 
family members;

• HIPAA, as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH”) and 
its implementing regulations, which imposes certain requirements relating to the privacy, security and transmission 
of individually identifiable health information; and

• state law equivalents of each of the above federal laws, such as anti-kickback and false claims laws that may apply 
to items or services reimbursed by any third-party payor, including commercial insurers, and state laws governing 
the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in 
significant ways and may not have the same effect, thus complicating compliance efforts.
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The Affordable Care Act broadened the reach of the fraud and abuse laws by, among other things, amending the intent 
requirement of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the applicable criminal healthcare fraud statutes contained within 42 
U.S.C. § 1320a-7b. Pursuant to the statutory amendment, a person or entity no longer needs to have actual knowledge of this 
statute or specific intent to violate it in order to have committed a violation. In addition, the Affordable Care Act provides 
that the government may assert that a claim including items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-
Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim for purposes of the civil False Claims Act or the civil monetary 
penalties statute. Many states have adopted laws similar to the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, some of which apply to the 
referral of patients for healthcare items or services reimbursed by any source, not only the Medicare and Medicaid programs.

We are also subject to the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”) which prohibits improper payments or offers 
of payments to foreign governments and their officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Safeguards we 
implement to discourage improper payments or offers of payments by our employees, consultants, and others may be 
ineffective, and violations of the FCPA and similar laws may result in severe criminal or civil sanctions, or other liabilities or 
proceedings against us, any of which would likely harm our reputation, business, financial condition and result of operations.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations 
that apply to us, we may be subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, exclusion from participation in 
government healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid and imprisonment, damages, fines and the curtailment or 
restructuring of our operations, any of which could adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of 
operations.

Employees

As of March 29, 2023, Eledon had seventeen employees, all of whom are full time. None of our employees are 
represented by labor unions or covered by collective bargaining agreements. We consider our relationship with our 
employees to be good.

Corporate Information

On September 14, 2020, the Company acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), a Delaware Corporation, 
after which Anelixis became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. On January 4, 2021, the Company changed its 
name from Novus Therapeutics, Inc. to Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Our executive offices are located at 19900 MacArthur Boulevard, Suite 550, Irvine, California 92612. The Company 
also has a research and development office in Burlington, Massachusetts. Our telephone number is (949) 238-8090 and our 
website is www.eledon.com.

You are advised to read this Annual Report on Form 10-K in conjunction with other reports and documents that we 
file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). In particular, please read our definitive proxy 
statement, which will be filed with the SEC in connection with our 2022 annual meeting of stockholders, our quarterly 
reports on Form 10-Q and any current reports on Form 8-K that we may file from time to time. You may obtain copies of 
these reports after the date of this annual report directly from us or from the SEC at its website at www.sec.gov. We make our 
periodic and current reports available on our internet website, free of charge, as soon as reasonably practicable after such 
material is electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.

An investment in shares of our common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the 
following risk factors, as well as the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and in our other public filings. 
The occurrence of any of these risks could harm our business, financial condition, results of operations and/or growth 
prospects or cause our actual results to differ materially from those contained in forward-looking statements we have made 
in this report and those we may make from time to time. You should consider all of the risk factors described in our public 
filings when evaluating our business.

Risks Related to Our Limited Operating History, Financial Condition, and Capital Requirements.

Our short operating history and the Anelixis acquisition may make it difficult to evaluate the success of our business 
to date and to assess our future viability.

We are a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company. Our ongoing operations to date have been limited to organizing 
and staffing the Company, business planning, raising capital, acquiring and developing technology, identifying potential 
product candidates and pursuing nonclinical and clinical trials. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully 
manufacture drug product in large enough quantities and with stability to support additional clinical trials, execute pivotal 
clinical trials, obtain marketing approvals, manufacture a commercial scale product or arrange for a third party to do so on 
our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful product commercialization. It can take many 
years to develop a new medicine from the time it is discovered to when it is available for treating patients. Consequently, any 
predictions made about our future success or viability based on our short operating history to date may not be as accurate as 
they could be if we had a longer operating history. In addition, as a result of the acquisition of Anelixis and our recent 
decision to discontinue our islet cell transplantation program and deprioritize the IgAN program, our future business, 
prospects, financial position and operating results could be significantly different than those in historical periods or 
previously projected by our management.

In addition, as an early-stage business, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and 
other known and unknown factors. To successfully market any of our current or future product candidates, we will need to 
transition from a company with a clinical development focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities. We 
may not be successful in such a transition. 

Our financial condition raises substantial doubt as to our ability to continue as a going concern.

Our consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that we will continue to operate as a going 
concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the normal course of business. Based 
on our current operating plans, we expect our existing capital resources will fund our planned operating expenses into the 
first quarter of 2024. Accordingly, based on recurring losses from operations incurred since inception, the expectation of 
continued operating losses, and the need to raise additional capital to finance our future operations, we determined that there 
is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that these consolidated 
financial statements are issued. Additionally, our independent registered public accounting firm has included in its audit 
opinion for the year ended December 31, 2022, an explanatory paragraph that there is substantial doubt as to our ability to 
continue as a going concern. There is no assurance that funding will be available to us, will be obtained on terms favorable to 
us or will provide us with sufficient funds to meet our objectives. The reaction of investors to the inclusion of a going 
concern statement by our auditors and our potential inability to continue as a going concern may materially adversely affect 
our share price and our ability to raise new capital or enter into partnerships. If we become unable to continue as a going 
concern, we may have to liquidate our assets and the values we receive for our assets in liquidation or dissolution could be 
significantly lower than the values reflected in our financial statements.

We have incurred significant operating losses since our inception and expect that we will continue to incur losses 
over the next several years and may never achieve or maintain profitability.

We have incurred significant annual net operating losses in every year since our inception. We have no products 
approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales to date, and we continue to incur 
significant research and development and other general and administrative expenses related to our ongoing operations. If 
tegoprubart or any future product candidates we develop are not successfully developed and approved, we may never 
generate any revenue from sales of products. The Company has experienced recurring net losses and negative cash flows 
from operating activities since its inception. The Company’s net loss for the year ended December 31, 2022 is $88.0 million. 
As of December 31, 2022, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of $56.4 million, working capital of $53.0 million and 
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an accumulated deficit of $202.9 million. We have not generated any revenues from product sales, have not completed the 
development of any product candidate and may never have a product candidate approved for commercialization. We expect it 
will be several years, if ever, before we have a product candidate ready for commercialization. We have financed our 
operations to date primarily through sales of equity, including approximately $108.1 million in total gross offering proceeds 
raised from our September and December 2020 financings, and we anticipate that we will require additional financing in the 
next twelve months. We have devoted substantially all of our financial resources and efforts to research and development, 
including preclinical studies and our clinical trials. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year 
to year and will depend, in part, on the rate at which we incur expenses and our ability to generate revenue. Net losses and 
negative cash flows have had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital.

We anticipate that we will continue to incur significant expenses as we:

• conduct nonclinical and clinical development of our product candidates or any future product candidate;

• seek to identify and acquire additional product candidates;

• acquire or in-license other products and technologies;

• enter into collaboration arrangements with regards to product discovery or development;

• develop manufacturing processes;

• seek marketing approvals for any of our product candidates that successfully complete clinical trials;

• establish a sales, marketing, and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain 
marketing approval;

• maintain, expand, and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

• hire additional personnel;

• add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our 
product development and planned future commercialization efforts; and

• operate as a public company.

To become and remain profitable, we must develop and eventually commercialize a product or products with 
significant market potential. This will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing 
clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining marketing approval for these product candidates and manufacturing, 
marketing and selling those products for which we obtain marketing approval. We may never succeed in these activities, 
including if we do not have available financial resources to allow us to pursue clinical trials and other clinical development 
activities, and, even if we are successful, we may never generate revenues that are significant or large enough to achieve 
profitability. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual 
basis. Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of the Company, could impair our ability to raise 
capital, maintain our nonclinical and clinical development efforts, and expand our business or continue our operations and 
may require us to raise additional capital that may dilute the ownership interest of common stockholders. A decline in the 
value of the Company could also cause stockholders to lose all or part of their investment.

We will require additional funding to be able to complete the development of our lead drug candidate. If we are 
unable to raise capital, we will be forced to significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current 
operations, or liquidate and cease operations altogether.

Based on our current operating plans, we expect our existing resources will fund our planned operating expenses into 
the first quarter of 2024, which is less than twelve months from the date of this Annual Report. Accordingly, our financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of operations, realization of 
assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the ordinary course of business. We will need substantial 
additional capital to operate our business and continue our development activities.

If we are unable to raise such capital, or if we are unable to do so on acceptable terms, we will be forced to 
significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current operations, or liquidate and cease operations 
altogether. For example, we are currently unable to continue our clinical development of tegoprubart for people with ALS 
without additional financing, and we can provide no assurances that we will be able to obtain financing on acceptable terms 
or at all. 
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Our funding needs may fluctuate significantly based on a number of factors, such as:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of formulation development and manufacture of drug product to support 
nonclinical and clinical development of our product candidates;

• the extent to which we enter into additional collaboration arrangements regarding product discovery or development, 
or acquire or in-license products or technologies;

• our ability to establish additional collaborations with favorable terms, if at all;

• the costs, timing, and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

• the costs of future commercialization activities, including product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, 
for any of our product candidates for which we receive marketing approval;

• revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any of our product candidates 
receive marketing approval; and

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property 
rights and defending intellectual property-related claims.

Identifying potential product candidates and conducting formulation development, nonclinical testing and clinical 
trials is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the 
necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval and achieve product sales. In addition, our product candidates, 
if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of products 
that we do not expect to be commercially available for several years, if at all. Accordingly, we will need to continue to rely 
on additional financing to achieve our business objectives. Even if we generate positive clinical data or are able to 
successfully commercialize one or more of our product candidates, additional financing may not be available to us on 
acceptable terms, or at all.

Our product candidates are in the early stages of clinical development and may not be successfully developed. If we 
are unable to successfully develop and commercialize these or any other product candidate, or if we experience significant 
delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

We currently do not have any products that have gained regulatory approval. We have invested substantially all our 
efforts and financial resources in the development of our lead drug candidate tegoprubart, including funding nonclinical 
studies, clinical trials, drug formulation and the manufacturing of clinical trial materials. Our ability to generate product 
revenues, which we do not expect will occur for several years, if ever, will depend heavily on the successful development and 
eventual commercialization of one or more drug candidates. As a result, our business is substantially dependent on our ability 
to successfully complete the development of and obtain regulatory approval for one of our potential future additional product 
candidates.

We have not yet demonstrated an ability to successfully overcome many of the risks and uncertainties frequently 
encountered by companies in new and rapidly evolving fields, particularly in the pharmaceutical area. For example, to 
execute our business plan, we will need to successfully:

• obtain additional financing in order to advance our drug product through clinical development, and to manufacture, 
obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize our product candidates;

• execute formulation, manufacturing, clinical, and nonclinical development activities;

• manufacture drug product at commercial scale;

• establish and confirm commercially acceptable stability (shelf-life) of our drug products;

• in-license or acquire other product candidates and advance them through clinical development;

• obtain required regulatory approvals for the development and commercialization of tegoprubart or other product 
candidates;

• maintain, leverage, and expand our intellectual property portfolio;

• build and maintain robust sales, distribution and marketing capabilities, either on our own or in collaboration with 
strategic partners;
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• gain market acceptance for any approved and marketed drug products;

• obtain and maintain adequate product pricing and reimbursement;

• develop and maintain any strategic relationships we elect to enter; and

• manage our spending as costs and expenses increase due to product manufacturing, nonclinical development, 
clinical trials, regulatory approvals, post-marketing commitments, and commercialization.

If we are unsuccessful in accomplishing these objectives, we may not be able to successfully develop and 
commercialize our or other product candidates, and our business will suffer.

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected and it or other public health crises, pandemics or epidemics could 
in the future adversely affect our business operations, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our business and operations, including but not limited to ongoing or planned research and development activities, 
have been and may continue to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, which has also caused significant 
disruption in the operations of third parties upon whom we rely. Other future public health crises, pandemics or epidemics 
could have a similar impact on our business.

We have experienced, and may in the future experience disruptions as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic or from 
another public health crisis, pandemic or epidemic that could severely impact our operations and development activities, 
including, but not limited to:

• delays in necessary interactions with local regulators, ethics committees and other important agencies and 
contractors due to limitations in employee resources or forced furlough of government employees;

• delays in manufacturing of our drug candidates due to increased competition for manufacturing capacity as a result 
of the pandemic;

• limitations in employee resources that would otherwise be focused on the conduct of our development activities, 
including because of sickness of employees or their families or the desire of employees to avoid contact with large 
groups of people;

• refusal of the FDA to accept data from clinical trials in affected geographies;

• delays in procuring drug substance and/or in manufacturing drug product due to limitations in employee resources or 
forced furloughs at our contract manufacturing organizations;

• delays in initiation of future clinical trials, including delays in receiving authorization from local regulatory 
authorities to initiate such clinical trials; and

• delays or disturbances in enrollment and trial execution, for example, because clinical trial sites may be unable to 
operate normally, or patients may elect to forego visits to medical facilities or undertake voluntary medical 
procedures.

 Any of the foregoing factors, or other effects of the COVID-19 pandemic or another public health crisis, pandemic or 
epidemic, could materially affect our business, possibly to a significant degree. The severity and duration of any such impacts 
cannot be predicted.

Unfavorable global economic conditions could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of 
operations.

The global economy, including the financial and credit markets, has recently experienced extreme volatility and 
disruptions, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in 
economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, increases in inflation rates, rising interest rates and uncertainty about 
economic stability. Likewise, the current conflict between Ukraine and Russia has created extreme volatility in the global 
capital markets and global economic consequences, including disruptions of the global supply chain and energy markets. A 
severe or prolonged economic downturn or continued volatility in the financial and credit markets could negatively impact 
our ability to obtain necessary debt or equity financing in a timely manner or on favorable terms, if at all. The severity and 
duration of any such impacts cannot be predicted. Any such failure to raise capital as and when needed could have a negative 
impact on our financial condition and on our ability to pursue our business plans and strategies or cause us to delay our 
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clinical development plans, research and development programs or commercialization efforts, out-license intellectual 
property rights to our product candidates or sell unsecured assets, or a combination of the above. Any of these actions could 
materially harm our business. For example, we do not currently have sufficient liquidity to fund the continued clinical 
development of tegoprubart for people with ALS without additional financing, notwithstanding the positive topline results of 
our Phase 2a study of tegoprubart for adult subjects with ALS. In addition, our existing capital resources will fund our 
planned operating expenses only into the first quarter of 2024 and if we are unable to raise capital, we will be forced to 
significantly alter our business strategy, substantially curtail our current operations, or liquidate and cease operations 
altogether.

In addition, inflation has recently increased throughout the U.S. economy. As a result of inflation, we have 
experienced and may continue to experience cost increases, including costs of clinical trials and research and development of 
our product candidates, production costs, the price of labor, administration and other costs of doing business. Although we 
may continue to take measures to mitigate the impact of this inflation, if these measures are not effective, our business, 
financial condition, results of operations and liquidity could be materially adversely affected. Further, in an inflationary 
environment, cost increases may outpace our expectations, causing us to use our cash and other liquid assets faster than 
forecasted. If this happens, we may need to raise more capital to fund our operations than expected, and such capital may not 
be available in sufficient amounts or on reasonable terms, if at all.

We maintain cash deposits in excess of federally insured limits. Adverse developments affecting financial 
institutions, including bank failures, could adversely affect our liquidity and financial performance.

We regularly maintain domestic cash deposits in Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insured banks, 
which exceed the FDIC insurance limits. Bank failures, events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other 
adverse developments that affect financial institutions, or concerns or rumors about such events, may lead to widespread 
demands for customer withdrawals and liquidity constraints that may result in market-wide liquidity problems. For example, 
on March 10, 2023, Silicon Valley Bank failed and was taken into receivership by the FDIC. At this time, we maintained 
deposits amounting to approximately 78% of our total cash at Silicon Valley Bank.  On March 13, 2023, the assets and 
operations of Silicon Valley Bank were acquired by Silicon Valley Bridge Bank, which is guaranteeing full access to 
deposits, including ours. In response to the failure of Silicon Valley Bank, we are in the process of diversifying our cash 
deposits, although we expect that our cash deposits will continue to exceed FDIC limits. The failure of a bank, or other 
adverse conditions in the financial or credit markets impacting financial institutions at which we maintain balances, could 
adversely impact our liquidity and financial performance. There can be no assurance that our deposits in excess of the FDIC 
or other comparable insurance limits will be backstopped by the U.S. or any applicable foreign government in the future or 
that any bank or financial institution with which we do business will be able to obtain needed liquidity from other banks, 
government institutions or by acquisition in the event of a future failure or liquidity crisis.

Drug development involves a lengthy and expensive process with an uncertain outcome, including failure to 
demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States. 
We may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the formulation 
and commercialization of our product candidates.

Given the early stage of development for our product candidates, the risk of failure is high. Before obtaining 
marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of any product candidate, we must conduct nonclinical trials, and 
then conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates in humans. Formulation 
and device development, nonclinical and clinical testing are all expensive activities, difficult to design and implement, and 
can take years to complete. Failure can occur at any time during the development program, including during the clinical trial 
process. Further, the results of nonclinical studies and early clinical trials of our product candidates, as well as earlier 
generation formulations may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. Interim results of a clinical trial do 
not necessarily predict final results. Moreover, nonclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations 
and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in nonclinical and 
clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their products. There is a risk that additional nonclinical 
and/or clinical safety studies will be required by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities outside the United States and/or 
that subsequent studies will not match results seen in prior studies. It is impossible to predict when or if any of our product 
candidates will prove effective, safe and well-tolerated in humans or will receive regulatory approval.

We may experience delays in our clinical trials, and we do not know whether planned clinical trials will begin or 
enroll subjects on time, need to be redesigned or be completed on schedule, if at all. There can be no assurance that the FDA 
or equivalent foreign regulatory bodies will approve investigational new drug applications and allow us to start clinical trials 
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for any of our product candidates in the future, including for islet cell transplant. Once a clinical trial has commenced, there is 
also no assurance that the FDA or equivalent foreign regulatory body will not put any of our product candidates on clinical 
hold. We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our 
ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize our product candidates. Clinical trials may be delayed, suspended or 
prematurely terminated for a variety of reasons, such as: 

• delay or failure in reaching agreement with the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority on a trial design 
that we want to execute;

• delay or failure in obtaining authorization to commence a trial or inability to comply with conditions imposed by a 
regulatory authority regarding the scope or design of a clinical trial;

• delays in reaching, or failure to reach, agreement on acceptable clinical trial contracts or clinical trial protocols with 
prospective trial sites;

• delays in completing formulation development and manufacturing as a prerequisite to commencing clinical work;

• inability, delay, or failure in identifying and maintaining a sufficient number of trial sites, many of which may 
already be engaged in other clinical programs;

• delay or failure in recruiting and enrolling suitable subjects to participate in a trial;

• delay or failure in having subjects complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

• clinical sites and investigators deviating from trial protocol, failing to conduct the trial in accordance with regulatory 
requirements, or dropping out of a trial;

• lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial, including the incurrence of unforeseen costs due to enrollment 
delays, requirements to conduct additional clinical trials and increased expenses associated with the services of our 
contract research organizations (“CROs”) and other third parties;

• clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or 
regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

• the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, 
enrollment in these clinical trials may be slower than we anticipate, or participants may drop out of these clinical 
trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

• we may experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients that our product candidates are designed to 
target;

• our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to 
us in a timely manner, or at all;

• we may have difficulty partnering with experienced CROs and study sites that can identify patients that our product 
candidates are designed to target and run our clinical trials effectively;

• regulators or IRBs may require that we or our investigators suspend or terminate clinical research for various 
reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed 
to unacceptable health risks;

• the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

• the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product 
candidates may be insufficient or inadequate; or

• there may be changes in governmental regulations or administrative actions. In addition, our development and 
commercialization activities could be harmed or delayed by a shutdown of the U.S. government, including the FDA. 
For example, a prolonged shutdown may significantly delay the FDA's ability to timely review and process any 
submissions we may file or cause other regulatory delays, which could materially and adversely affect our business.

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we 
currently contemplate, if we are unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if 
the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are only modestly positive, or if there are safety concerns, we may:

• be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates;
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• not obtain marketing approval at all;

• obtain approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

• obtain approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings that would 
reduce the potential market for our products or inhibit our ability to successfully commercialize our products;

• be subject to additional post-marketing restrictions and/or testing requirements; or

• have the product removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our product development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or marketing approvals. We do not 
know whether any of our nonclinical studies or clinical trials will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or 
at all. Significant nonclinical or clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive 
right to commercialize our product candidates or may allow our competitors to bring products to market before we do and 
impair our ability to successfully commercialize our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations.

If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary 
regulatory approvals could be delayed or prevented and expenses for the development of our product candidates could 
increase.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and 
enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in these trials to demonstrate safety and efficacy. We do not know 
whether the ongoing or planned clinical trials will enroll subjects in a timely fashion, require redesign of essential trial 
elements or be completed on its projected schedule. In addition, competitors may have ongoing clinical trials for product 
candidates that treat related or the same indications as our product candidates, and patients who would otherwise be eligible 
for our clinical trials may instead enroll in clinical trials of our competitors’ product candidates. Our inability to enroll a 
sufficient number of patients for our clinical trials would result in significant delays and could require us to abandon one or 
more clinical trials altogether.

Patient enrollment is affected by other factors including:

• the eligibility criteria for the study in question;

• the perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

• the efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

• the inability to identify and maintain a sufficient number of trial sites, many of which may already be engaged in 
other clinical trial programs, including some that may be for the same disease indication;

• the patient referral practices of physicians;

• the proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients;

• ambiguous or negative interim results of our clinical trials, or results that are inconsistent with earlier results;

• feedback from regulatory authorities, IRBs, ethics committees (“ECs”), or data safety monitoring boards, or results 
from earlier stage or concurrent nonclinical and clinical trials, that might require modifications to the protocol;

• decisions by regulatory authorities, IRBs, ECs, or the Company, or recommendations by data safety monitoring 
boards, to suspend or terminate clinical trials at any time for safety issues or for any other reason; and

• unacceptable risk-benefit profile or unforeseen safety issues or adverse effects.

Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased development costs for our product candidates, which 
would cause the value of the Company to decline and limit our ability to obtain additional financing.

Our ability to conduct clinical trials in some jurisdictions outside of the United States may be adversely affected. 

We currently have clinical trial sites in regions outside the United States, including Asia, the European Union and the 
United Kingdom, and we will continue to conduct future clinical trials in these markets. Our ability to conduct clinical trials 
at sites located outside the United States is subject to numerous risks unique to conducting business in jurisdictions outside 
the United States, including:
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• difficulty in establishing or managing relationships with qualified CROs, physicians and clinical trial sites;

• different local standards for the conduct of clinical trials;

• difficulty in complying with various and complex import laws and regulations when shipping drugs to certain 
countries;

• the potential burden of complying with a variety of laws, medical standards and regulatory requirements, including 
the regulation of pharmaceutical and biotechnology products and treatments; 

• lack of consistency in standard of care from country to country;

• diminished protection of intellectual property in some countries;

• instability in economic or political conditions, including inflation, recession and actual or anticipated military 
conflicts, social upheaval or political uncertainty;

• foreign exchange fluctuations;

• cultural differences in medical practice and clinical research; and

• changes in country or regional regulatory requirements.

Additionally, Russia’s February 2022 invasion of Ukraine and the resulting imposition of economic and other 
sanctions by the United States, European Union and many other nations on Russia, individuals in Russia, Russian businesses 
and the Russian central bank, or any escalation of tensions in the region, could have a broader impact that expands into other 
countries. Although the length and impact of any military action and expansion of the conflict into other countries are highly 
unpredictable, if the conflict spreads or has effects on countries outside Ukraine and Russia, we may experience disruptions 
or delays in our plans to conduct clinical trial activities in affected regions outside the United States.

If serious adverse events or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of our product 
candidates, we may need to abandon or limit our development of some of our product candidates.

If our product candidates are associated with undesirable effects in nonclinical or clinical trials or have characteristics 
that are unexpected, we may need to interrupt, delay or abandon their development or limit development to more narrow uses 
or subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more 
acceptable from a risk-benefit perspective. Any occurrences of clinically significant adverse events with our product 
candidates may harm our business, financial condition and prospects significantly.

Tegoprubart is an early-product candidate, and the side effect profile in humans has not been fully established. 
Currently unknown, drug-related side effects may be identified through ongoing and future clinical trials and, as such, these 
possible drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment, the ability of enrolled subjects to complete the trial, or 
result in potential product liability claims.

Our future success depends on our ability to retain executives and key employees and to attract, retain and 
motivate qualified personnel in the future.

We are highly dependent on the product development, clinical and business development expertise of the principal 
members of our management, scientific and clinical team. Although we have entered into employment agreements with our 
executives and key employees, each of them may terminate their employment with us at any time. We do not maintain “key 
person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees. Our recent decision to discontinue the islet cell 
transplantation program and deprioritize the IgAN program and uncertainties regarding our financial condition may increase 
the likelihood that employees depart in the foreseeable future.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scientific, clinical, manufacturing, sales and marketing personnel is critical to our 
success. Due to the small size of the Company and the limited number of employees, each of our executives and key 
employees serves in a critical role. The loss of the services of our executive officers or other key employees could impede the 
achievement of our development and commercialization objectives and seriously harm our ability to successfully implement 
our business strategy. Furthermore, replacing executive officers and key employees may be difficult and may take an 
extended period of time because of the limited number of individuals in our industry with the breadth of skills and experience 
required to successfully develop, gain regulatory approval of, and commercialize products. Competition to hire from this 
limited pool is intense, and we may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate these key personnel on acceptable terms given 
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the competition among numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies for similar personnel. We also experience 
competition for the hiring of scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions. In addition, we rely 
on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical advisors, to assist us in formulating drug product, nonclinical 
development, clinical development, regulatory strategy, and commercial strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be 
employed by employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities 
that may limit their availability to provide services to us. If we are unable to continue to attract and retain high quality 
personnel, our ability to pursue our growth strategy will be limited.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates and Other Legal Compliance Matters

If we are not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals, or the approvals may 
be for a narrow indication, we may not be able to commercialize our product candidates, and our ability to generate 
revenue may be materially impaired.

Our product candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to a new drug application in the United States and by 
other regulatory authorities outside the United States prior to commercialization in the respective regions. The process of 
obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and outside the United States, is expensive and takes several years, 
if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and 
novelty of the product candidates involved. Failure to obtain marketing approval for a product candidate will prevent us from 
commercializing the product candidate. We have not received approval to market any of our product candidates from 
regulatory authorities in any country. We have no experience in filing and supporting the applications necessary to gain 
marketing approvals for our products and may engage third-party consultants to assist in this process. Securing marketing 
approval requires the submission of extensive nonclinical and clinical data, and other supporting information to regulatory 
authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Securing marketing 
approval also requires the submission of information about the product formulation and manufacturing process to, and 
inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the regulatory authorities. Our product candidates may not be effective, may be 
only moderately effective or may prove to have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that 
may preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit commercial use. Regulatory authorities have substantial 
discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data are insufficient for 
approval and require additional nonclinical, clinical or other data. In addition, varying interpretations of the data obtained 
from nonclinical and clinical trials could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Changes in 
marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, 
or changes in regulatory review for each submitted product application, may also cause delays in or prevent the approval of 
an application.

Any marketing approval we ultimately obtain may be for fewer or more limited indications than requested or subject 
to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the approved product not commercially viable or its market potential 
significantly impaired. In addition, regulatory agencies may not approve the labeling claims that are necessary or desirable 
for the successful commercialization of our product candidates.

In order to market and sell our products in the EU and other international jurisdictions outside of the United States, we 
or our third-party collaborators must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory 
requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries and may require additional nonclinical, clinical or health 
outcome data. In addition, the time required to obtain approval may differ substantially amongst international jurisdictions. 
The regulatory approval process outside the United States generally includes all the risks associated with obtaining FDA 
approval. In addition to regulatory approval, in many countries outside the United States, it is required that the product be 
approved for reimbursement before the product can be approved for sale in that country.

If we experience delays in obtaining approval or if we fail to obtain approval of our product candidates, the 
commercial prospects for our product candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be materially 
impaired.

Any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval will be subject to extensive post-marketing 
regulatory requirements and could be subject to post-marketing restrictions or withdrawal from the market, and we may 
be subject to penalties if we fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we experience unanticipated problems with 
our products, when and if any of them are approved.

Our product candidates and the activities associated with their development and commercialization, including their 
testing, manufacture, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution, are subject to 
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comprehensive regulation that are specific to those defined by regulatory authorities in the countries where the product is 
approved. In the United States and other countries that follow the International Conference on Harmonization, these 
requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing 
requirements, cGMP requirements relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance and corresponding 
maintenance of records and documents, including periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities, 
requirements regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping.

The FDA, or other regulatory authorities, may also impose requirements for costly post-marketing studies or clinical 
trials and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of the product. The FDA closely regulates the post-approval 
marketing and promotion of drugs to ensure drugs are marketed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the 
provisions of the approved labeling. The FDA imposes stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding 
use of their products and if we promote our products beyond their approved indications, we may be subject to enforcement 
action for off-label promotion. Violations of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act relating to the promotion of 
prescription drugs may lead to investigations alleging violations of federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, as well 
as state consumer protection laws.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our products, manufacturers 
or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

• restrictions on such products, manufacturers, or manufacturing processes;

• restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a product;

• restrictions on product distribution or use;

• requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;

• warning or untitled letters;

• withdrawal of the products from the market;

• refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;

• recall of products;

• fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

• suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

• refusal to permit the import or export of our products;

• product seizure; or

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Non-compliance with EU requirements regarding safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance, and with requirements 
related to the development of products for the pediatric population, can also result in significant financial penalties. Similarly, 
failure to comply with the EU’s requirements regarding the protection of personal information can also lead to significant 
penalties and sanctions.

Legislation regulating the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries may increase the difficulty and cost for us to 
obtain marketing approval of and commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we may obtain.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes 
and proposed changes intended to contain healthcare costs and modify the regulation of drug and biologic products.  These 
and other regulatory changes could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-
approval activities and affect our ability to profitably sell any product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval.

For example, on August 16, 2022, the U.S. government enacted the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which, among 
other things, includes policies that are designed to have a direct impact on drug prices and reduce drug spending by the 
federal government, which shall take effect in 2023. The Inflation Reduction Act requires drug manufacturers to pay rebates 
to Medicare if they increase prices faster than inflation for certain drugs used by Medicare beneficiaries. The mechanics of 
the rebate calculation would mimic those of the Medicaid rebate, but the expansion of inflation-based rebates may further 
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complicate pricing strategies. The Inflation Reduction Act of 2022 or other similar legislation could have the effect of 
reducing the prices we can charge and reimbursement we receive for our products, thereby reducing our profitability.

We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures and regulations will be adopted in the future. 
Any of these measures and regulations could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare 
products and services, result in reduced demand for our product candidates or additional pricing pressures and affect our 
product development, testing, marketing approvals and post-market activities.

Laws, restrictions, and other regulatory measures are also imposed by healthcare laws and regulations in international 
jurisdictions and in those jurisdictions we face the same issues as in the United States regarding difficulty and cost for us to 
obtain marketing approval and commercialization of our product candidates and which may affect the prices we may obtain.

In some countries, particularly the countries of the EU, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to 
governmental control. In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after 
the receipt of marketing approval for a product. To obtain reimbursement or pricing approval in some countries, we may be 
required to conduct a clinical trial that compares the cost-effectiveness of our product candidate to other available therapies. 
If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our 
business could be harmed, possibly materially.

Our business operations and relationships with healthcare providers, physicians, third-party payers, and customers 
will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other broadly applicable healthcare laws, which could 
expose us to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, program exclusion, contractual damages, reputational harm and 
diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payers will play a primary role in the recommendation and 
prescription of any product candidates for which we receive marketing approval. Our current and future arrangements may 
expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other healthcare laws that may constrain the business or financial 
arrangements and relationships through which we would market, sell and distribute the products for which we receive 
marketing approval. Even though we will not control referrals of healthcare services or bill directly to Medicare, Medicaid or 
other third-party payers, federal and state healthcare laws are and will be applicable to our business. Such laws include, but 
are not limited to federal false claims, false statements and civil monetary penalties laws, including the federal civil False 
Claims Act (“FCA”), the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 
1996 (“HIPAA”), patient data privacy and security regulation, including, in the United States, HIPAA, as amended by the 
Health Information Technology for Clinical Health Act of 2009 (“HITECH”), the federal transparency requirements under 
the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, and analogous state, local or foreign law.

Pharmaceutical and other healthcare companies have been prosecuted under these laws for a variety of promotional 
and marketing activities, such as: providing free trips, free goods, sham consulting fees and grants and other monetary 
benefits to prescribers; reporting to pricing services inflated average wholesale prices that were then used by federal 
programs to set reimbursement rates; engaging in off-label promotion; and submitting inflated best price information to the 
Medicaid Rebate Program to reduce liability for Medicaid rebates. Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third 
parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve substantial costs. It is possible that 
governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations 
or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may 
apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, fines, 
imprisonment, exclusion from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, additional oversight 
and reporting obligations, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and the curtailment 
or restructuring of our operations. If any of the physicians or other healthcare providers or entities with whom we expect to 
do business are found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, that person or entity may be subject to criminal, civil or 
administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government funded healthcare programs.

Laws, restrictions, and other regulatory measures are also imposed by anti-kickback, fraud and abuse, and other 
healthcare laws and regulations in international jurisdictions, and in those jurisdictions we face the same issues as in the 
United State regarding exposure to criminal sanctions, civil penalties, program exclusion, contractual damages, reputational 
harm, and diminished profits and future earnings.
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We depend on our information technology systems and those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, 
contractors or consultants. Our internal computer systems, or those of our third-party collaborators, service providers, 
contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, disruptions, or incidents, which could result in a material 
disruption of our development programs or loss of data or compromise the privacy, security, integrity or confidentiality of 
sensitive information related to our business and have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, financial 
condition or results of operations.

In the ordinary course of our business, we collect, store and transmit large amounts of confidential information, 
including intellectual property, proprietary business information and personal information. Our internal technology systems 
and infrastructure, and those of our current or future third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors and consultants 
are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access or use resulting from malware, natural disasters, 
terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures, denial-of-service attacks, cyber-attacks or cyber-intrusions over 
the Internet, hacking, phishing and other social engineering attacks, persons inside our organizations (including employees or 
contractors), loss or theft, or persons with access to systems inside our organization. Attacks on information technology 
systems are increasing in their frequency, levels of persistence, sophistication and intensity, and they are being conducted by 
increasingly sophisticated and organized foreign governments, groups and individuals with a wide range of motives and 
expertise. In addition to extracting or accessing sensitive information, such attacks could include the deployment of harmful 
malware, ransomware, denial-of-service attacks, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten 
the security, confidentiality, integrity and availability of information. The prevalent use of mobile devices that access 
sensitive information also increases the risk of data security incidents which could lead to the loss of confidential information 
or other intellectual property. While to our knowledge we have not experienced any material system failure, accident or 
security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations or the operations of third-
party collaborators, service providers, contractors and consultants, it could result in a material disruption of our development 
programs and significant reputational, financial, legal, regulatory, business or operational harm. The costs to us to mitigate, 
investigate and respond to potential security incidents, breaches, disruptions, network security problems, bugs, viruses, 
worms, malicious software programs and security vulnerabilities could be significant, and while we have implemented 
security measures to protect our data security and information technology systems, our efforts to address these problems may 
not be successful, and these problems could result in unexpected interruptions, delays, cessation of service and other harm to 
our business and our competitive position.

For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed, ongoing or planned clinical trials for our product 
candidates could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or 
reproduce the data. To the extent that any real or perceived security breach affects our systems (or those of our third-party 
collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants), or results in the loss of or accidental, unlawful or unauthorized 
access to, use of, release of, or other processing of personally identifiable information or damage to our data or applications 
or other data or applications relating to our technology or product candidates, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or 
proprietary information, we could incur liabilities and the further development of our product candidates could be delayed. 
Such a breach may require notification to governmental agencies, the media or individuals pursuant to various foreign, 
domestic (federal and state) privacy and security laws, if applicable, including HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and its 
implementing rules and regulations, as well as regulations promulgated by the Federal Trade Commission and state breach 
notification laws. In addition, our liability insurance may not be sufficient in type or amount to cover us against claims 
related to security breaches, cyberattacks and other related incidents.

Any failure or perceived failure by us or any third-party collaborators, service providers, contractors or consultants to 
comply with our privacy, confidentiality, data security or similar obligations, or any data security incidents or other security 
breaches that result in the accidental, unlawful or unauthorized access to, use of, release of, processing of, or transfer of 
sensitive information, including personally identifiable information, may result in negative publicity, harm to our reputation, 
governmental investigations, enforcement actions, regulatory fines, litigation or public statements against us, could cause 
third parties to lose trust in us or could result in claims by third parties, including those that assert that we have breached our 
privacy, confidentiality, data security or similar obligations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our 
reputation, business, financial condition or results of operations. To the extent we maintain individually identifiable health 
information, we could be subject to fines and penalties (including civil and criminal) under HIPAA for any failure by us or 
our business associates to comply with HIPAA’s requirements. Moreover, data security incidents and other security breaches 
can be difficult to detect, and any delay in identifying them may lead to increased harm. While we have implemented data 
security measures intended to protect our information, data, information technology systems, applications and infrastructure, 
there can be no assurance that such measures will successfully prevent service interruptions or data security incidents.
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European data collection is governed by restrictive regulations governing the collection, use, processing and cross-
border transfer of personal information.

We may collect, process, use or transfer personal information from individuals located in the European Economic 
Area in connection with our business, including in connection with conducting clinical trials in the EEA. Additionally, if any 
of our product candidates are approved, we may seek to commercialize those products in the European Economic Area. The 
collection and use of personal health data in the European Economic Area is governed by the provisions of the General Data 
Protection Regulation ((EU) 2016/679) (the “GDPR”), along with other European Union and country-specific laws and 
regulations. The United Kingdom and Switzerland have also adopted data protection laws and regulations. These legislative 
acts (together with regulations and guidelines) impose requirements relating to having legal bases for processing personal 
data relating to identifiable individuals and transferring such data outside of the European Economic Area, including to the 
United States, providing details to those individuals regarding the processing of their personal data, keeping personal data 
secure, having data processing agreements with third parties who process personal data, responding to individuals’ requests 
to exercise their rights in respect of their personal data, reporting security breaches involving personal data to the competent 
national data protection authority and affected individuals, appointing data protection officers or corporate representatives, 
conducting data protection impact assessments and record-keeping. The GDPR imposes additional responsibilities and 
liabilities in relation to personal data that we process, and we may be required to put in place additional mechanisms ensuring 
compliance with the new data protection rules. Failure to comply with the requirements of the GDPR and related national 
data protection laws of the member states of the European Economic Area and other states in the European Economic Area 
may result in substantial fines, other administrative penalties and civil claims being brought against us, which could have a 
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. European data protection authorities 
may interpret the GDPR and national laws differently and may impose additional requirements, which adds to the complexity 
of processing personal data in or from the EEA or United Kingdom. Guidance on implementation and compliance practices 
are often updated or otherwise revised.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines 
or penalties or incur costs that could harm our business.

We may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and 
regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair our nonclinical or clinical development or production 
efforts. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Risks Related to the Commercialization of Our Product Candidates

Even if any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, we may fail to achieve the degree of market 
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payers and others in the medical community necessary for commercial 
success.

If any of our product candidates receives marketing approval, we may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market 
acceptance by physicians, patients, third-party payers and others in the medical community. In addition, physicians, patients 
and third-party payers may prefer other novel products to ours. If our product candidates do not achieve an adequate level of 
acceptance, we may not generate significant product revenues and we may not become profitable. The degree of market 
acceptance of our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

• the efficacy and safety and potential advantages and disadvantages compared to alternative treatments;

• the ability to offer our products for sale at competitive prices;

• the convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

• the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

• the strength of our marketing and distribution support;

• the availability of third-party coverage and adequate reimbursement, including patient cost-sharing programs such as 
copays and deductibles;

• the ability to develop or partner with third-party collaborators to develop companion diagnostics;

• the prevalence and severity of any side effects; and

• any restrictions on the use of our products together with other medications.
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If our current product candidates, or a future product candidate receives marketing approval and we, or others, 
later discover that the product is less effective than previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not 
previously identified, the ability to market the product could be compromised.

Clinical trials are conducted in carefully defined subsets of patients who have agreed to enter into clinical trials. 
Consequently, it is possible that our clinical trials may indicate an apparent beneficial effect of a product candidate that is 
greater than the actual positive effect in a broader patient population or alternatively fail to identify undesirable side effects. 
If, following approval of a product candidate, we, or others, discover that the product is less effective than previously 
believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, any of the following events could occur:

• regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the product or seize the product;

• the product may be required to be recalled or changes may be required to the way the product is administered;

• additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the product;

• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a 
contraindication;

• the creation of a Medication Guide outlining the risks of the previously unidentified side effects for distribution to 
patients;

• additional restrictions may be imposed on the distribution or use of the product via a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation 
Strategy;

• we could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients;

• the product may become less competitive; and

• our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our operations and business. The commercial 
prospects for our product candidates may be harmed and our ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired.

We currently have no marketing and sales force. If we are unable to establish effective marketing and sales 
capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell our product candidates, we may not be able to 
effectively market and sell our product candidates, if approved, or generate product revenues.

We currently do not have a marketing or sales team for the marketing, sales and distribution of any of our product 
candidates that are able to obtain regulatory approval. In order to commercialize any product candidates, we must build on a 
territory-by-territory basis marketing, sales, distribution, managerial and other non-technical capabilities or make 
arrangements with third parties to perform these services, and we may not be successful in doing so. If our product candidates 
receive regulatory approval, we intend to establish an internal sales and marketing team with technical expertise and 
supporting distribution capabilities to commercialize our product candidates, which will be expensive and time-consuming, 
will require significant attention of our executive officers to manage and may nonetheless fail to effectively market and sell 
our product candidates. Any failure or delay in the development of our internal sales, marketing and distribution capabilities 
would adversely impact the commercialization of any of our products that we obtain approval to market. With respect to the 
commercialization of all or certain of our product candidates, we may choose to collaborate, either globally or on a territory-
by-territory basis, with third parties that have direct sales forces and established distribution systems, either to augment our 
own sales force and distribution systems or in lieu of our own sales force and distribution systems. If we are unable to enter 
into such arrangements when needed on acceptable terms or at all, we may not be able to successfully commercialize any of 
our product candidates that receive regulatory approval, or any such commercialization may experience delays or limitations. 
If we are not successful in commercializing our product candidates, either on our own or through collaborations with one or 
more third parties, our future product revenue will suffer, and we may incur significant additional losses.
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We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing competing 
products before or more successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization of new drug products is highly competitive. We face competition with 
respect to our current product candidates and will face competition with respect to any product candidates that we may seek 
to develop or commercialize in the future, from major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and 
biotechnology companies worldwide. There are several large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that currently 
market and sell products or are pursuing the development of products for the treatment of the disease indications for which 
we are developing our product candidates. Some of these competitive products and therapies are based on scientific 
approaches that are the same as or similar to our approach, and others are based on entirely different approaches. Potential 
competitors also include academic institutions, government agencies and other public and private research organizations that 
conduct research, seek patent protection and establish collaborative arrangements for research, development, manufacturing 
and commercialization.

Specifically, there are a number of companies developing competing anti-CD40 and anti-CD40L therapeutics in 
clinical trials for transplant, autoimmune or central nervous system indications, including: Novartis, Sanofi, UCB, Amgen 
(post acquisition of Horizon Therapeutics), Bristol Myers Squibb, and Kiniksa. All of these companies are larger than Eledon 
and have significantly greater resources to develop their drug candidates.

If approved, we expect that tegoprubart will face competition from numerous FDA-approved therapeutics for the 
prevention of transplant rejection, including PROGRAF®, ASTAGRAF XL®, ENVARSUS XR®, NULOJIX®, CELLCEPT®, 
MYFORTIC®, and numerous other branded and generic immunosuppressive agents. Multiple companies are working on islet 
cell and kidney transplant solutions that may ultimately potentially negate the need for immunosuppressive agents in these 
indications altogether.

If approved, we expect tegoprubart will face competition from other FDA-approved therapeutics for the treatment of 
LN, FSGS or IgAN, including TARPEYO™, LUPKYNIS™ and BENLYSTA®, SPARSENTAN, and numerous other 
branded and generic medicines are already being used “off-label” to treat them.

We expect that tegoprubart will face competition from FDA-approved therapeutics for the treatment of ALS including   
RADICAVA®, RELYVRIO™, RILUZOLE, and numerous other branded and generic immunosuppressive agents. Multiple 
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, including but not limited to Biogen, Ionis Pharmaceuticals, Alexion 
Pharmaceuticals, Orion Pharma, Orphazyme, AZTherapies, Voyager Therapeutics, Apic Bio, Brainstorm Cell Therapeutics, 
and Cytokinetics, are also working on competing ALS pharmaceutical, gene therapy and cell therapy approaches.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize products 
that are safer, more effective, have fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any 
products that we may develop. In addition, our ability to compete may be affected in many cases by insurers or other third-
party payers seeking to encourage the use of generic products.

Generic products are currently available, with additional generic products expected to become available over the 
coming years, potentially creating pricing pressure. If our product candidates achieve marketing approval, we expect that they 
will be priced at a significant premium over competitive generic products.

Many of the companies against which we are competing or against which we may compete in the future have 
significantly greater financial resources and expertise in research and development, manufacturing, conducting nonclinical 
studies, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved products than we do. Mergers and 
acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries may result in even more resources being concentrated among 
a smaller number of our competitors. Smaller and other early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, 
particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and established companies. These third parties compete with us in 
recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel, establishing clinical trial sites and patient registration 
for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or necessary for, our programs.
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The insurance coverage and reimbursement status of newly approved products is uncertain. Failure to obtain or 
maintain adequate coverage and reimbursement for new or current products could limit our ability to market those 
products and decrease our ability to generate revenue.

The availability and extent of reimbursement by governmental and private payers is essential for most patients to be 
able to afford expensive treatments. Sales of our product candidates will depend substantially, both domestically and 
internationally, on the extent to which the costs of our product candidates will be paid by health maintenance, managed care, 
pharmacy benefit and similar healthcare management organizations, or reimbursed by government health administration 
authorities, private health coverage insurers and other third-party payers. If reimbursement is not available, or is available 
only to limited levels, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates. Even if coverage is 
provided, the approved reimbursement amount may not be high enough to allow us to establish or maintain pricing sufficient 
to realize a sufficient return on our investment.

There is significant uncertainty related to the insurance coverage and reimbursement of newly approved products. In 
the United States, the principal decisions about reimbursement for new medicines are typically made by CMS, as CMS 
decides whether and to what extent a new medicine will be covered and reimbursed under Medicare. Private payers tend to 
follow CMS to a substantial degree. It is difficult to predict what CMS will decide with respect to reimbursement for 
fundamentally novel products such as ours, as there is no body of established practices and precedents for these new 
products. Reimbursement agencies in Europe may be more conservative than CMS. Outside the United States, international 
operations are generally subject to extensive governmental price controls and other market regulations, and we believe the 
increasing emphasis on cost-containment initiatives in Europe, Canada, and other countries has and will continue to put 
pressure on the pricing and usage of our product candidates. In many countries, the prices of medical products are subject to 
varying price control mechanisms as part of national health systems. In general, the prices of medicines under such systems 
are substantially lower than in the United States. Other countries allow companies to fix their own prices for medicines but 
monitor and control company profits. Additional foreign price controls or other changes in pricing regulation could restrict 
the amount that we are able to charge for our product candidates. Accordingly, in markets outside the United States, the 
reimbursement for our products may be reduced compared with the United States and may be insufficient to generate 
commercially reasonable revenues and profits.

Moreover, increasing efforts by governmental and third-party payers, in the United States and internationally, to cap 
or reduce healthcare costs may cause such organizations to limit both coverage and level of reimbursement for new products 
approved and, as a result, they may not cover or provide adequate payment for our product candidates. Increased expense is 
incurred to cover costs of health outcome focused research used to generate data necessary to justify the value of our products 
in order to secure reimbursement. We expect to experience pricing pressures in connection with the sale of any of our product 
candidates, due to the trend toward managed healthcare, the increasing influence of health maintenance organizations and 
additional legislative changes. The downward pressure on healthcare costs in general, particularly prescription drugs and 
surgical procedures and other treatments, has become very intense. As a result, increasingly high barriers are being erected to 
the entry of new products into the healthcare market.

In addition, many private payers contract with commercial vendors who sell software that provide guidelines that 
attempt to limit utilization of, and therefore reimbursement for, certain products deemed to provide limited benefit to existing 
alternatives. Such organizations may set guidelines that limit reimbursement or utilization of our products.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of 
any products that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in human clinical 
trials and will face an even greater risk if we commercially sell any products that we may develop. If we cannot successfully 
defend against claims that our product candidates or products caused injuries, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless 
of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in decreased demand for any product candidates or products that we 
may develop; injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention; withdrawal of clinical trial participants; 
significant costs to defend the related litigation; substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients; loss of revenue; 
reduced resources of our management to pursue our business strategy; and the inability to commercialize any products that 
we may develop.

We currently hold $10.0 million in product liability insurance coverage in the aggregate, with a per incident limit of 
$10.0 million, which may not be adequate to cover all liabilities that we may incur. We may need to increase our insurance 
coverage as we expand our clinical trials or if we commence commercialization of our product candidates. Insurance 
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coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount 
adequate to satisfy any liability that may arise.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We contract with third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for nonclinical and clinical trials and 
expect to continue to do so for commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have 
sufficient quantities of our product candidates or products at an acceptable cost and quality, which could delay, prevent or 
impair our development or commercialization efforts.

We have utilized, and intend to continue utilizing, third parties to formulate, manufacture, package, and distribute 
clinical supplies of our drug candidates. We have no experience in manufacturing and do not have any manufacturing 
facilities. Currently, we rely on third parties for the manufacturing of drug substance and drug product for nonclinical and 
clinical activities. Our manufacturing vendors utilize proprietary cell culture media, cell lines, buffers, manufacturing 
equipment, manufacturing supplies, and storage buffers for the manufacturing of tegoprubart and other product candidates. 
These materials are custom-made and available from only a limited number of sources. Although we believe that our third-
party suppliers maintain a significant supply of these materials and equipment on hand, any sustained disruption in this 
supply, could adversely affect our operations. We do not have any long-term agreements in place with our current suppliers. 
If we are required to change manufacturers, we may experience delays associated with finding an alternate manufacturer that 
is properly qualified to produce supplies of our products and product candidates in accordance with regulatory requirements 
and our specifications. Any delays or difficulties in obtaining or in manufacturing, packaging or distributing approved 
product candidates could negatively impact our clinical trials.

We expect to rely on third-party manufacturers or third-party collaborators for the manufacture of commercial supply 
of any other product candidates for which our collaborators or we obtain marketing approval. Despite drug substance and 
product risk management, this reliance on third parties presents a risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our 
product candidates or products or such quantities at an acceptable cost or quality, which could delay, prevent or impair our 
development or commercialization efforts. For example, these third parties experienced disruptions in their operations in 
conjunction with the COVID-19 pandemic. Any delay or performance failure on the part of our existing or future 
manufacturers of drug substance or drug products could delay clinical development or marketing approval. We do not 
currently have arrangements in place for redundant supply. If suppliers cannot supply us with our requirements, we may be 
required to identify alternative manufacturers, which would lead us to incur added costs and delays in identifying and 
qualifying any such replacement.

Formulations and devices used in early studies are not final formulations and devices for commercialization. 
Additional changes may be required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities on specifications and storage conditions. 
These may require additional studies and may result in a delay in our clinical trials and commercialization activities.

We also expect to rely on other third parties to label, store, and distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Any 
performance failure on the part of our distributors could delay clinical development or marketing approval of our product 
candidates or commercialization of our products, producing additional losses and depriving us of potential product revenue.

We may be unable to establish any agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if 
we are able to establish agreements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional 
risks, including:

• reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance;

• the possible breach of the manufacturing agreement by the third party;

• the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how; and

• the possible termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party at a time that is costly or inconvenient for 
us.

The third parties we rely on for manufacturing and packaging are also subject to regulatory review, and any regulatory 
compliance problems with these third parties could significantly delay or disrupt our clinical or commercialization activities. 
Third-party manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP regulations or similar regulatory requirements outside the 
United States. Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result 
in sanctions being imposed on us, including clinical holds, fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal 
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of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or products, operating restrictions and criminal 
prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our products. Additionally, macro-economic 
conditions may adversely affect these third parties, causing them to suffer liquidity or operational problems. If a key third-
party vendor becomes insolvent or is forced to lay off workers assisting with our projects, our results and development timing 
could suffer.

Our product candidates and any products that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and 
products for access to manufacturing facilities. There are a limited number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP 
regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us.

Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates or products 
may adversely affect our future profit margins and our ability to commercialize any products that receive marketing approval 
on a timely and competitive basis.

We depend on CROs and other contracted third parties to perform nonclinical and clinical testing and certain 
other research and development activities. As a result, the outcomes of the activities performed by these organizations will 
be, to a certain extent, beyond our control.

The nature of outsourcing a substantial portion of our business will require that we rely on CROs and other contractors 
to assist us with research and development, clinical testing activities, patient enrollment, data collection, and regulatory 
submissions to the FDA or other regulatory bodies. As a result, our success will depend partially on the success of these third 
parties in performing their responsibilities. Although we intend to pre-qualify our CROs and other contractors and we believe 
that the contractors selected will be fully capable of performing their contractual obligations, we cannot directly control the 
adequacy and timeliness of the resources and expertise that they apply to these activities. Additionally, macro-economic 
conditions may affect our development partners and vendors, which could adversely affect their ability to timely perform 
their tasks. If our contractors do not perform their obligations in an adequate and timely manner, the pace of clinical 
development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our drug candidates could be significantly delayed, and our 
prospects could be adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection for our technology and products or if the 
scope of the intellectual property protection obtained is not sufficiently broad, our competitors could develop and 
commercialize technology and products similar or identical to ours, and our ability to successfully commercialize our 
technology and products may be impaired.

Our success depends in large part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in relevant countries with 
respect to our proprietary technology and products. We seek to protect our proprietary position by filing patent applications 
in the United States and internationally that are related to our novel technologies and product candidates. This patent 
portfolio includes issued patents and pending patent applications covering pharmaceutical compositions and methods of use.

The patent prosecution process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all 
necessary or desirable patent applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. We may choose not to seek patent 
protection for certain innovations and may choose not to pursue patent protection in certain jurisdictions, and under the laws 
of certain jurisdictions, patents or other intellectual property rights may be unavailable or limited in scope. It is also possible 
that we will fail to identify patentable aspects of our discovery and nonclinical development output before it is too late to 
obtain patent protection. Moreover, in some circumstances, we may not have the right to control the preparation, filing and 
prosecution of patent applications, or to maintain the patents, covering technology that we license from third parties. 
Therefore, these patents and applications may not be prosecuted and enforced in a manner consistent with the best interests of 
our business.

The patent position of biotechnology and pharmaceutical companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex 
legal and factual questions and has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. In addition, the laws of foreign 
countries may not protect our rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. For example, India and China do not 
allow patents for methods of treating the human body. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind 
the actual discoveries, and patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 
months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore, we cannot know with certainty whether we were the first to make 
the inventions claimed in our owned or licensed patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for 
patent protection of such inventions. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our 
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patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which 
protect our technology or products, in whole or in part, or which effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive 
technologies and products. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the EU, the United States 
and other countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection.

The risks described pertaining to our patents and other intellectual property rights also apply to the intellectual 
property rights that we license, and any failure to obtain, maintain and enforce these rights could have a material adverse 
effect on our business. In some cases, we may not have control over the prosecution, maintenance or enforcement of the 
patents that we license, and our licensors may fail to take the steps that we believe are necessary or desirable in order to 
obtain, maintain and enforce the licensed patents. Any inability on our part to protect adequately our intellectual property 
may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial position.

The USPTO and various non-U.S. governmental patent agencies require compliance with several procedural, 
documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In certain situations, non-
compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of 
patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, our competitors might be able to enter the market and this 
circumstance would have a material adverse effect on our business.

In addition, we have acquired rights to tegoprubart and other product candidates through a license agreement with The 
ALS Therapy Development Institute, and may in the future enter into other license agreements with third parties for other 
intellectual property rights or assets. These license agreements may impose various diligence, milestone payment, royalty, 
and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with our obligations under these agreements, or we are subject to a 
bankruptcy, we may be required to make certain payments to the licensor, we may lose the exclusivity of our license, or the 
licensor may have the right to terminate the license, in which event we would not be able to develop or market products 
covered by the license. Additionally, the milestone and other payments associated with these licenses will make it less 
profitable for us to develop our drug candidates than if we had developed the licensed technology internally.

In some cases, patent prosecution of our licensed technology may be controlled solely by the licensor. If our licensors 
fail to obtain and maintain patent or other protection for the proprietary intellectual property we license from them, we could 
lose our rights to the intellectual property or our exclusivity with respect to those rights, and our competitors could market 
competing products using the intellectual property. In certain cases, we may control the prosecution of patents resulting from 
licensed technology. In the event we breach any of our obligations related to such prosecution, we may incur significant 
liability to our licensing partners. If disputes over intellectual property and other rights that we have licensed prevent or 
impair our ability to maintain our current licensing arrangements on acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully 
develop and commercialize the affected product candidates.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or other intellectual property, which could be 
expensive, time-consuming and unsuccessful.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability, and the ability of our collaborators, to develop, manufacture, 
market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third 
parties. There is considerable intellectual property litigation in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. We may 
become party to, or threatened with, future adversarial proceedings or litigation regarding intellectual property rights with 
respect to our products and technology, including interference or derivation proceedings before the USPTO. Third parties 
may assert infringement claims against us based on existing patents or patents that may be granted in the future.

If we are found to infringe a third party’s intellectual property rights, we could be required to obtain a license from 
such third party to continue developing and marketing our products and technology. However, we may not be able to obtain 
any required license on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if we were able to obtain a license, it could be non-
exclusive, thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. We could be forced, including by 
court order, to cease commercializing the infringing technology or product. In addition, we could be found liable for 
monetary damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees if we are found to have willfully infringed a patent. A 
finding of infringement could prevent us from commercializing our product candidates or force us to cease some of our 
business operations, which could materially harm our business. Claims that we have misappropriated the confidential 
information or trade secrets of third parties could have a similar negative impact on our business.

Because competition in our industry is intense, competitors may infringe or otherwise violate our issued patents, 
patents of our licensors or other intellectual property. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to 
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file infringement claims, which can be expensive and time-consuming. Any claims we assert against perceived infringers 
could provoke these parties to assert counterclaims against us alleging that we infringe their patents. In addition, in a patent 
infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a patent of ours is invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part, construe the 
patent’s claims narrowly, or refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the grounds that our patents 
do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of our patents 
at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. We may also elect to enter into license agreements in order to settle 
patent infringement claims or to resolve disputes prior to litigation, and any such license agreements may require us to pay 
royalties and other fees that could be significant. Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in 
connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our confidential information could be 
compromised by disclosure.

We may need to license certain intellectual property from third parties, and such licenses may not be available or 
may not be available on commercially reasonable terms.

A third party may hold intellectual property, including patent rights, that are important or necessary to the 
development of our products. It may be necessary for us to use the patented or proprietary technology of third parties to 
commercialize our products, in which case we would be required to obtain a license from these third parties on commercially 
reasonable terms, or our business could be harmed, possibly materially. If we were not able to obtain a license or are not able 
to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, our business could be harmed, possibly materially.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality of our trade secrets, our business and competitive position would be 
harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for some of our technology and product candidates, we also rely on trade secrets, 
including unpatented know-how, technology and other proprietary information, to maintain our competitive position. Any 
NDAs or similar agreements entered into by the Company may not be with all relevant parties, or adequately protect the 
confidentiality of our trade secrets. Moreover, to the extent we enter into such agreements, any of these parties may breach 
the agreements and disclose our proprietary information, including our trade secrets, and we may not be able to obtain 
adequate remedies for such breaches. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is 
difficult, expensive and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the 
United States are less willing or unwilling to protect trade secrets. If any of our trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or 
independently developed by a competitor, we would have no right to prevent them, or those to whom they communicate 
them, from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of our trade secrets were to be disclosed to or 
independently developed by a competitor, our competitive position would be harmed.

We may be subject to claims of misappropriation of trade secrets from former employers of Company personnel.

Many of our employees and certain of our directors were previously employed at or affiliated with research 
foundations or other biotechnology or pharmaceutical companies. Although we try to ensure that our employees and directors 
do not use the proprietary information or know-how of others in their work for us, we may be subject to claims that we or 
these employees or directors have used or disclosed intellectual property, including trade secrets or other proprietary 
information, of any such employee’s or director’s former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these 
claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual 
property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial 
costs and be a distraction to management.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We expect our stock price to be volatile, and the market price of our common stock may drop unexpectedly.

The market price of our common stock could be subject to significant fluctuations. Market prices for securities of 
early-stage pharmaceutical, biopharmaceutical, and other life sciences companies have historically been particularly volatile. 
Some of the factors that may cause the market price of our common stock to fluctuate include:

• uncertainties regarding our financial condition and our ability to raise sufficient capital to fund our ongoing 
operations;

• our ability to obtain regulatory approvals for our product candidates or other product candidates, and delays or 
failures to obtain such approvals;
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• failure of any of our product candidates, if approved, to achieve commercial success;

• issues in manufacturing our approved products, if any, or product candidates;

• the results of our current and any future clinical trials of our product candidates;

• the entry into, or termination of, key agreements, including key commercial partner agreements;

• the initiation of, material developments in, or conclusion of litigation to enforce or defend any of our intellectual 
property rights or defend against the intellectual property rights of others;

• announcements by commercial partners or competitors of new commercial products, clinical progress, or the lack 
thereof, significant contracts, commercial relationships, or capital commitments;

• the introduction of technological innovations or new therapies that compete with our potential products;

• the loss of key employees;

• changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if any, who cover our common stock;

• general and industry-specific economic conditions that may affect our research and development expenditures;

• changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems; and

• period-to-period fluctuations in our financial results.

Moreover, the stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the 
operating performance of individual companies. These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price 
of our common stock.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders have often 
instituted class action securities litigation against those companies. Such litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial 
costs and diversion of management attention and resources, which could significantly harm our profitability and reputation.

If we fail to establish and maintain proper and effective internal control over financial reporting, our operating 
results and our ability to operate our business could be harmed.

Ensuring that we will have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place so that we can 
produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis is a costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated 
frequently. Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States (“GAAP”).

If we are unable to successfully maintain internal controls over financial reporting, the accuracy and timing of our 
financial reporting, and our stock price, may be adversely affected and we may be unable to maintain compliance with the 
applicable stock exchange listing requirements. Additionally, as we become a larger company, we will become subject to 
Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires our independent auditors to document and test our internal 
controls. These additional requirements are costly, and our auditors may identify control deficiencies.

Implementing any appropriate changes to our internal controls may distract the officers and employees of the 
Company, entail substantial costs to modify its existing processes and take significant time to complete. These changes may 
not, however, be effective in maintaining the adequacy of the internal controls of the Company, and any failure to maintain 
that adequacy, or consequent inability to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis, could increase operating 
costs and harm the business. In addition, investors’ perceptions that the internal controls of the Company are inadequate or 
that we are unable to produce accurate financial statements on a timely basis may harm the stock price of the Company.

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of the 
Company, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to 
replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our corporate charter and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change 
in control of the Company that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which our stockholders might 
otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to 
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pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. In addition, 
because our Board is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or 
prevent any attempts by stockholders to replace or remove the current management by making it more difficult for 
stockholders to replace members of our Board. Among other things, these provisions:

• establish a classified Board such that not all members of the Board are elected at one time;

• allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our Board;

• limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from our Board;

• establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and 
nominations to our Board;

• require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our 
stockholders by written consent;

• limit who may call stockholder meetings;

• authorize our Board to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison 
pill” that would work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions 
that have not been approved by our Board; and

• require the approval of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to 
amend or repeal certain provisions of the Company’s charter or bylaws.

We do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

We expect to retain our future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. As a result, capital 
appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be the sole source of gain, if any, for any stockholders for the foreseeable 
future.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties.

Our executive offices are located in Irvine, California. We lease approximately 5,197 square feet of office space under 
an operating lease that expires on December 31, 2024. Additionally, we have an operating lease for approximately 6,138 
square feet of office space in Burlington, Massachusetts, that expires on November 20, 2024.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

Neither we nor any of our subsidiaries is a party to, and none of their respective property is the subject of, any 
material legal proceeding, although we are from time-to-time party to legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of 
our business.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity 
Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “ELDN”.

As of March 29, 2023, there were approximately 21 stockholders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid, and do not anticipate declaring or paying in the foreseeable future, any cash 
dividends on our common stock. Future determination as to the declaration and payment of dividends, if any, will be at the 
discretion of our Board and will depend on then existing conditions, including our operating results, financial condition, 
contractual restrictions, capital requirements, business prospects and other factors that our Board may deem relevant.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations is intended to help the 
reader understand the results of operations and financial condition of the Company. The Management’s Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations should be read in conjunction with our audited consolidated 
financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2022. In addition to historical information, this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, which are intended to be covered by 
the safe harbors created thereby. See “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” in this report. Our actual 
results and the timing of events could differ materially from those discussed in our forward-looking statements as a result of 
many factors, including those set forth under the Part I, Item 1A. Risk Factors section and elsewhere in this report, as well 
as, in other reports and documents we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission from time to time. Except as 
required by law, we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances 
occurring after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Strategic Updates

In January 2023, we announced our decision to prioritize resources on our kidney transplantation programs, 
discontinue the islet cell transplantation program, and deprioritize the IgAN program.  We also remain committed to further 
progressing ALS clinical development and are working with key stakeholders on potential next steps to do so. However, we 
are unable to continue our clinical development of tegoprubart for people with ALS without additional financing.

Legacy Operations and Acquisition of Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc.

On September 14, 2020, the Company completed the acquisition of Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), a 
privately held clinical stage biotechnology company developing a next generation anti-CD40L antibody as a potential 
treatment for organ transplantation, autoimmune diseases, and ALS. 

Financing Activities

September 2020 Stock Purchase Agreement

On September 14, 2020, Eledon entered into a Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with certain 
institutional and accredited investors (the “Investors”). Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Eledon agreed to sell an 
aggregate of approximately 199,112 shares of Series X1 non-voting Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series X1 Preferred 
Stock”) for an aggregate purchase price of approximately $99.1 million (collectively, the “Financing”). Eledon had 
commitments for an additional $9.0 million in equity financing that was contingent upon the satisfaction of certain 
incremental closing conditions, including stockholder approval of the issuance of the Company’s common stock upon the 
conversion of the Company’s X1 Preferred Stock and the effective registration of its common stock. Subject to stockholder 
approval, each share of Series X1 Preferred Stock was convertible into 55.5556 shares of Common Stock, as described below. 
The preferences, rights and limitations applicable to the Series X1 Preferred Stock are set forth in the Certificate of 
Designation, as filed with the SEC. The Financing was exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities 
Act and/or Regulation D promulgated thereunder, as a transaction by an issuer not involving a public offering. The Investors 
have acquired the securities for investment only and not with a view to or for sale in connection with any distribution thereof, 
and appropriate legends have been affixed to the securities issued in this transaction.

On December 18, 2020, the Company held a special meeting of stockholders (the “Special Meeting”). At the Special 
Meeting, the Company’s stockholders approved the issuance of the Company’s common stock, upon conversion of the 
Company’s Series X1 Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 per share, issued in September 2020.

On December 23, 2020, the Company sold 1,004,111 shares of its common stock for gross proceeds of $9.0 million 
that was contingent upon the satisfaction of certain incremental closing conditions, as described above.

2020 Common Stock Exchange Agreements

On February 13, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Exchange Agreement”) with 
Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P., Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P. and Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P. (the 
“Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the “February Exchange”) 210,888 
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shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share, for 3,796 shares of newly designated Series X non-
voting Convertible Preferred Stock (the “Series X Preferred Stock”). The Company agreed to reimburse the Exchanging 
Stockholders for their expenses in connection with the Exchange up to a total of $25,000, which was recorded as operating 
expense in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.

On February 13, 2020, in connection with the February Exchange, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation 
setting forth the preferences, rights and limitations of the Series X Preferred Stock with the Secretary of State of the State of 
Delaware. Each share of Series X Preferred Stock will be convertible into 55.5556 shares of common stock at the option of 
the holder at any time; subject to certain limitations, including, that the holder will be prohibited from converting Series X 
Preferred Stock into common stock if, as a result of such conversion, the holder, together with its affiliates, would 
beneficially own a number of shares of common stock above a conversion blocker, which is initially set at 9.99% of the total 
common stock then issued and outstanding immediately following the conversion of such shares of Series X Preferred Stock. 
In the event of the Company’s liquidation, dissolution or winding up, holders of Series X Preferred Stock will participate pari 
passu with any distribution of proceeds to holders of common stock. Holders of Series X Preferred Stock are entitled to 
receive dividends on shares of Series X Preferred Stock equal (on an as-if-converted-to-common stock basis) to and in the 
same form as dividends actually paid on the common stock or other junior securities of the Company. Shares of Series X 
Preferred Stock will generally have no voting rights, except as required by law and except that the consent of a majority of 
the holders of the outstanding Series X Preferred Stock will be required to amend the terms of the Series X Preferred Stock.

On June 1, 2020 and June 10, 2020, the Exchanging Stockholders converted a total of 3,285 shares of Series X 
Preferred Stock into 182,500 shares of common stock. 

2020 Warrant Exercise Transactions

On January 10, 2020 and January 15, 2020, the Company entered into warrant exercise agreements (the “Exercise 
Agreements”) with the holders (the “Holders”) of its Series A Warrants and Series B Warrants (collectively, the “Warrants”), 
pursuant to which the Holders agreed to exercise in cash their Warrants to purchase an aggregate of 383,235 shares of the 
Company’s common stock at a reduced exercise price of $12.87 per share, plus an additional $2.25 per share for the issuance 
of the private placement warrants for gross proceeds (before placement agent fees and expenses) to the Company of 
approximately $5.8 million (the “Exercise Transaction”).

Under the Exercise Agreements, the Company also agreed to issue to the Holders new warrants to purchase up to 
383,235 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $12.96 per share, with an exercise period of five and 
a half years (the “Private Placement Warrants”). The Private Placement Warrants transaction subsequently closed and the 
Private Placement Warrants were issued on January 14, 2020 with respect to the Warrants exercised on January 10, 2020 and 
on or about January 17, 2020, with respect to the Warrants exercised on January 15, 2020. In addition, the Company agreed 
to issue to the placement agent warrants to purchase up to 19,162 shares of common stock, representing 5.0% of the 
aggregate number of shares of common stock issued in the Exercise Transaction. The placement agent warrants have 
substantially the same terms as the Private Placement Warrants issued to the Holders, except that the placement agent 
warrants have an exercise price equal to $18.90. A warrant inducement expense of $4.8 million was incurred which was 
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and was calculated as the difference between the fair value of the 
Warrants prior to, and immediately after, the reduction in the exercise price on the date of repricing in addition to the fair 
value of the Private Placement Warrants issued.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Holders exercised approximately 64,171 Private Placement Warrants in a 
cashless exchange for 28,553 shares of the Company’s common stock. Additionally, approximately 9,985 private placement 
warrants were exercised for 9,985 shares of the Company’s common stock for gross proceeds of $188,773.

December 2020 Exchange Agreements

On December 31, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Series X Exchange Agreement”) with 
Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P., Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P., Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P. , MSI 
BVF SPV, L.L.C. (the “BVF Exchanging Stockholders”) and Cormorant Global Healthcare Master Fund, LP (together with 
the BVF Exchanging Stockholders, the “Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Exchanging Stockholders 
exchanged (the “Series X Exchange”) 344,666 shares of the Company’s common stock, for 6,203.98 shares of Series X 
Preferred Stock. 
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In addition, on December 31, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Warrant Exchange 
Agreement,” and together with the Series X Exchange Agreement, the “Exchange Agreements”) with the BVF Exchanging 
Stockholders, pursuant to which the BVF Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the “Warrant Exchange,” and together with 
the Series X Exchange, “the Exchanges”) 509,117 shares of the Common Stock for one or more pre-funded warrants to 
purchase an aggregate of 509,117 shares of the Common Stock at a nominal exercise price (the “Warrants”).

The Company recorded the shares of Series X Preferred Stock and Warrants issuable as preferred stock and warrant 
subscriptions at December 31, 2020, since the physical settlement of the Exchanges was made on January 5, 2021, whereby 
the transfer agent recorded the exchange of common stock for the issuance of preferred stock and warrants.

September 2021 Exchange Agreements

On September 21, 2021, the Company issued warrants exercisable for 298,692 shares of common stock in exchange 
for warrants exercisable for 5,376.456 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock previously issued as part of the Anelixis merger. 
These Series X1 Preferred Stock warrants were replaced by the Company for the outstanding warrants issued by Anelixis that 
were not settled upon completion of the merger.

January 2022 Exchange Agreement

On January 11, 2022, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Series X1 Exchange Agreement”) with 
Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P., Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P., Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P., MSI BVF 
SPV, L.L.C. (collectively, the “BVF Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Series X1 Exchanging Stockholders 
exchanged (the “Series X1 Exchange”) 550,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for 9,899.99 shares of Series X1 
Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock.

Common Stock Warrants 

As of December 31, 2022, 1,145,631 warrants were exercisable into common stock (after rounding for fractional 
shares and subject to beneficial ownership conversion blockers). The shares of common stock underlying the registered direct 
and private placement warrants are registered for offer and sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 
Act”), pursuant to the Company’s effective registration statements on Forms S-1.

Series X1 Preferred Stock Warrants 

As of December 31, 2022, 50,207.419 warrants were exercisable into Series X1 Preferred Stock which are convertible 
into 2,789,301 shares of common stock (after rounding for fractional shares and subject to beneficial ownership conversion 
blockers).

2021 Equity Distribution Agreement

On March 31, 2021, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 containing a prospectus and prospectus 
supplement (the "Prospectus") under which the Company may offer and sell up to $75 million in shares of our common 
stock, from time to time, pursuant to an open market sale agreement with Jeffries LLC and by any method deemed to be an 
“at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “ATM Program”). 
Pursuant to the “baby shelf rules” promulgated by the SEC, if the Company’s public float is less than $75.0 million as of 
specified measurement periods, the number of shares of common stock that may be offered and sold by the Company under a 
Form S-3 registration statement, including pursuant to the ATM Program, in any twelve-month period is limited to an 
aggregate amount that does not exceed one-third of the Company’s public float.  As of December 31, 2022, due to the SEC’s 
“baby shelf rules,” we were permitted to sell up to $10.5 million of shares of common stock pursuant to the ATM Program. 
The Company will remain subject to the “baby shelf rules” under the Form S-3 registration statement until such time as our 
public float exceeds $75.0 million. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, no shares were sold under the 
Prospectus.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SIGNIFICANT JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Our management’s discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our 
consolidated financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States (“GAAP”). The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that 
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affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the 
date of the financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments. We base our estimates on 
historical experience, known trends and events, and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ materially from these estimates under different 
assumptions or conditions.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value of the net assets acquired 
under the acquisition method of accounting. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment as of December 31 of 
each year or earlier if indicators of impairment exist that would, more likely than not, reduce the fair value from its carrying 
amount. 

The Company performs its goodwill impairment analysis at the reporting unit level, which aligns with the Company’s 
reporting structure and availability of discrete financial information. The Company performs its annual impairment analysis 
by either comparing the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its carrying amount or doing a qualitative assessment of a 
reporting unit’s fair value from the last quantitative assessment to determine if there is potential impairment. The Company 
may do a qualitative assessment when the results of the previous quantitative test indicated the reporting unit’s estimated fair 
value was significantly in excess of the carrying value of its net assets and it does not believe there have been significant 
changes in the reporting unit’s operations that would significantly decrease its estimated fair value or significantly increase 
its net assets. If a quantitative assessment is performed the evaluation includes management estimates of cash flow 
projections based on internal future projections and/or use of a market approach by looking at market values of comparable 
companies. Key assumptions for these projections include revenue growth, future gross and operating margin growth, and its 
weighted cost of capital and terminal growth rates. The revenue and margin growth are based on increased sales of new 
products as the Company maintains investments in research and development. Additional assumed value creators may 
include increased efficiencies from capital spending. The resulting cash flows are discounted using a weighted average cost 
of capital. Operating mechanisms and requirements to ensure that growth and efficiency assumptions will ultimately be 
realized are also considered in the evaluation, including timing and probability of regulatory approvals for Company products 
to be commercialized. The Company’s market capitalization is also considered as a part of its analysis.

The Company’s annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill consists of one reporting unit. In accordance with the 
Company’s policy, the Company completed its annual evaluation for impairment as of December 31, 2022 using the 
quantitative assessment, utilizing the market approach and due to sustained decrease in our market capitalization, determined 
that the fair value of the reporting unit was below its carrying value.  As a result, the Company recognized $48.6 million of 
goodwill impairment, reducing the goodwill balance to zero. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 
2021.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include personnel and facility-related expenses, outside contracted services 
including clinical trial costs, manufacturing and process development costs, research costs and other consulting services and 
non-cash stock-based compensation. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Amounts due under contracts 
with third parties may be either fixed fee or fee for service, and may include upfront payments, monthly payments and 
payments upon the completion of milestones or receipt of deliverables. Non-refundable advance payments under agreements 
are capitalized and expensed as the related goods are delivered or services are performed.

The Company’s contracts with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the on-going development of 
potential products. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may 
result in uneven payment flows to its vendors. Payments under the contracts depend on factors such as the achievement of 
certain events, successful enrollment of patients, and completion of portions of the clinical trial or similar conditions. The 
Company’s accrual for clinical trials is based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts 
with clinical trial centers and clinical research organizations. These contracts may be terminated by the Company upon 
written notice and the Company is generally only liable for actual effort expended by the organizations to the date of 
termination, although in certain instances the Company may be further responsible for termination fees and penalties. The 
Company estimates its research and development expenses and the related accrual as of each balance sheet date based on the 
facts and circumstances known to the Company at that time. There have been no material adjustments to the Company’s prior 
period accrued estimates for clinical trial activities through December 31, 2022.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the grant-date estimated fair 
value.

The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using assumptions that 
are subjective and require significant judgment and estimation by management. The fair value of stock options is determined 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using assumptions which are subjective and require significant judgment and 
estimation by management. The risk-free rate assumption was based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon 
bonds with an equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on historical volatilities of a group of 
comparable industry companies whose share prices are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on 
companies in the pharmaceutical industry. The expected term of stock options represents the weighted-average period that the 
stock options are expected to be outstanding. Because the Company does not have historical exercise behavior, the Company 
determined the expected life assumption using the simplified method for stock options granted to employees, which is an 
average of the options ordinary vesting period and the contractual term. For stock options granted to the Company’s board of 
directors (the “Board”), the Company determined the expected life assumption using the simplified method as the starting 
point with an average period of twelve (12) months added to take into account for the extended range of time of 12 to 18 
months vested stock options granted to Board members may be exercised upon termination. The expected dividend 
assumption was based on the Company’s history and expectation of dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does 
not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes forfeitures on an actual basis and 
as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based compensation. 

Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Units (“PRSU”) are measured and 
recognized based on the quoted market price of our common stock on the date of grant.

Stock-based compensation expense related to stock options granted to nonemployees is recognized based on the 
estimated fair value of the stock options on their grant date, determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The 
awards generally vest over the period the Company expects to receive services from the nonemployees. Similar to stock 
options granted to employees, the fair value of stock options granted nonemployees, determined using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model, involves assumptions that are subjective and require significant judgment and estimation by 
management.  The risk-free rate assumption was based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon bonds with an 
equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on historical volatilities of a group of comparable industry 
companies whose share prices are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on companies in the 
pharmaceutical industry. The expected term of stock options represents the weighted-average period that the stock options are 
expected to be outstanding. Because the Company does not have historical exercise behavior on stock options granted to 
nonemployees, the Company determined the contractual term is the appropriate period for expected life on stock options 
granted to nonemployees. The expected dividend assumption was based on the Company’s history and expectation of 
dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The 
Company recognizes forfeitures on an actual basis and as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based 
compensation.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

The following table provides comparative results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in 
thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021 $ Variance % Variance
Operating expenses:

Research and development $ 27,080 $ 23,735 $ 3,345 14%
General and administrative 12,700 13,132 (432) -3%
Goodwill impairment 48,648 — 48,648 100%

Total operating expenses 88,428 36,867 51,561 140%
Loss from operations (88,428) (36,867) (51,561) -140%
Other income, net 462 7 455 6500%
Loss before income tax benefit (87,966) (36,860) (51,106) -139%
Income tax benefit — 2,354 (2,354) -100%
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (87,966) $ (34,506) $ (53,460) -155%

Research and Development Expenses 

Research and development expenses increased $3.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to the 
year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily due to higher clinical development expenses, primarily with 
external CROs of $1.2 million, an increase in personnel costs, including stock-based compensation costs of $1.1 million, due 
to increased headcount, and an increase in manufacturing costs of $0.9 million, related to the increased production of clinical 
trial materials.

General and Administrative Expenses 

General and administrative expenses decreased $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to 
December 31, 2021. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in personnel costs of $0.6 million, associated with 
decreased headcount and $0.2 million from a decrease in professional and consulting fees.  The decrease was partially offset 
by an increase in stock-based compensation of $0.2 million and general operating expenses of $0.2 million.

Goodwill Impairment

The Company performed its annual goodwill impairment assessment as of December 31, 2022 and determined that the 
fair value of the reporting unit was below its carrying value. As a result, the Company recognized $48.6 million of goodwill 
impairment. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Other Income, Net 

The increase in other income, net, was primarily due to an increase in interest income associated with higher interest 
rates on our cash and cash equivalents for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Income Tax Benefit

The Company recognized an income tax benefit of $2.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2021, due to the 
change in deferred tax liability for the acquired IPR&D related to the Anelixis acquisition in 2020. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Sources of Liquidity

The Company had a net loss of $88.0 million during 2022 and an accumulated deficit of $202.9 million at 
December 31, 2022 as a result of incurring losses since our inception. As of December 31, 2022, we had cash and cash 
equivalents of approximately $56.4 million, consisting of readily available cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts. While 



52

we believe our cash and cash equivalents are not subject to excessive risk, we maintain significant amounts of cash and cash 
equivalents at one or more financial institutions that are in excess of federally insured limits. See Part I, Item 1A. Risk 
Factors in this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the caption “We maintain cash deposits in excess of federally insured 
limits. Adverse developments affecting financial institutions, including bank failures, could adversely affect our liquidity and 
financial performance.”

To date, our operations have been financed primarily by net proceeds from the sale of preferred and common stock 
and warrants. In September 2020, we completed a $99.1 million financing and in December 2020, we sold 1,004,111 shares 
of common stock for gross proceeds of $9.0 million. On March 31, 2021, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 
containing a prospectus and prospectus supplement (the "Prospectus") under which we may offer and sell up to $75 million in 
shares of our common stock, from time to time, pursuant to an open market sale agreement with Jeffries LLC and by any 
method deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 
(the “ATM Program”). Pursuant to the “baby shelf rules” promulgated by the SEC, if our public float is less than $75.0 
million as of specified measurement periods, the number of shares of common stock that may be offered and sold by the 
Company under a Form S-3 registration statement, including pursuant to the ATM Program, in any twelve-month period is 
limited to an aggregate amount that does not exceed one-third of the Company’s public float.  As of December 31, 2022, due 
to the SEC’s “baby shelf rules,” we were permitted to sell up to $10.5 million of shares of common stock pursuant to the 
ATM Program. We will remain subject to the “baby shelf rules” under the Form S-3 registration statement until such time as 
our public float exceeds $75.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2022, no shares were sold under the Prospectus.

We do not have any approved products for commercial sale and have never generated revenue from product sales and 
have incurred significant net losses since our inception and expect to continue to incur net operating losses for the foreseeable 
future. We do not expect to receive any revenue from any product candidates that we develop unless and until we obtain 
regulatory approval and commercialize our product candidates or enter into collaborative arrangements with third parties. We 
currently have no credit facility or committed sources of capital.

Material Cash Requirements

Our primary use of cash is to fund operating expenses, which consist of clinical research and development expenses, 
manufacturing expenses, legal and compliance expenses, compensation and related expenses, and general overhead costs. 
Cash used to fund operating expenses is impacted by the timing of when we pay or prepay these expenses. We expect our 
expenses to increase in connection with our ongoing activities, particularly as we expand our clinical program with 
tegoprubart, continue the research and development of, and seek marketing approval for, our product candidates. In addition, 
if we obtain marketing approval for any of our product candidates, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses 
related to product sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution.

Based on our available cash and cash equivalents, of $56.4 million as of December 31, 2022, we believe that we have 
sufficient resources to fund our operations into the first quarter of 2024. Based on recurring losses from operations incurred 
since inception, the expectation of continued operating losses, and the need to raise additional capital to finance our future 
operations, we determined that there is substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern within one year 
after the date of the financial statements contained in this Annual Report. As a result, in order to continue to operate our 
business beyond that time, including to advance our drug product through clinical development, to manufacture, obtain 
regulatory approval for and to commercialize our product candidates, to develop, acquire or in-license other potential product 
candidates, we will need to raise additional funds. However, there can be no assurance that we will be able to generate funds 
on terms acceptable to us, on a timely basis, or at all. In addition, we have based this estimate on assumptions that may prove 
to be incorrect, and we could utilize our available resources sooner than we currently expect. Further, our operating plan may 
change, and we may need additional funds to meet operational needs for clinical studies sooner than planned or to fund 
additional clinical studies.

We will seek to raise additional capital through equity offerings, debt financings or other capital sources, including 
potentially collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements. The ability to raise substantial additional capital will 
depend on many factors, including:

• the initiation, progress, timing, costs and results of our ongoing and future clinical trials of tegoprubart, including as 
such activities may be adversely impacted by the global events, including COVID-19 pandemic or other future 
public crises and the ongoing conflict in Ukraine; 

• the impact of global macroeconomic trends and uncertainties, which have recently experienced extreme volatility 
and disruptions, including severely diminished liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, 
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declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates, increases in inflation rates, rising interest rates and 
uncertainty about economic stability; 

• the number and scope of indications we decide to pursue for tegoprubart development; 

• the cost, timing and outcome of any regulatory review that may be required for tegoprubart;

• the costs and timing of manufacturing for tegoprubart, if approved;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property 
rights and defending intellectual property-related claims;

• our efforts to enhance operational systems and our ability to attract, hire and retain qualified personnel, including 
personnel to support the development of tegoprubart;

• the costs associated with being a public company; 

• the terms and timing of establishing and maintaining collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements;

• the extent to which we acquire or in-license other product candidates and technologies; and 

• the cost associated with commercializing tegoprubart, if approved for commercial sale.

Current conditions in the financial and credit markets may also limit the availability of funding or increase the cost of 
funding. As a result of any of the foregoing factors, adequate additional funding may not be available to us on acceptable 
terms on a timely basis, or at all. The severity and duration of any such impacts cannot be predicted. Any such failure to raise 
capital as and when needed could have a negative impact on our financial condition and on our ability to pursue our business 
plans and strategies, and may cause us to delay the scope of or suspend one or more of our clinical trials, research and 
development programs or commercialization efforts, out-license intellectual property rights to our product candidates or sell 
unsecured assets, or a combination of the above. Any of these actions could materially harm our business. To the extent that 
we raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, our stockholders’ ownership interests will 
be diluted, and the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect our 
stockholders’ rights. Debt financing, if available, would result in fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that 
include restrictive covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital 
expenditures or declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. If we raise funds 
through collaborations, licenses and other similar arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights 
to our technologies, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or to grant licenses on terms that may 
not be favorable to us. Please see the section of this Annual Report titled “Risk Factors” for additional risks associated with 
our substantial capital requirements and the challenges we may face in raising capital.

We lease our office facilities in Irvine, California and Burlington, Massachusetts under non-cancelable operating 
leases that expire in December 2024 and November 2024, respectively. As of December 31, 2022, we expect to make total 
lease payments of $0.8 million through December 2024.

We enter into contracts in the normal course of business with third-party contract organizations for preclinical and 
clinical studies, manufacture and supply of our preclinical and clinical materials and providing other services and products 
for operating purposes. Contracts for preclinical and clinicals studies and other services generally provide for termination 
following a certain period after notice, and therefore we believe that our non-cancelable obligations under these agreements 
are not material. We do not have any long-term manufacturing and supply agreements with our third-party contract 
manufacturers but enter into specific contracts on an as needed basis for individual batch production runs.
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Cash Flows

The following table provides a summary of our net cash flow activity for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 
2021 (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Net cash used in operating activities $ (28,424) $ (28,913)
Net cash provided by investing activities — —
Net cash used in financing activities — (449)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ (28,424) $ (29,362)

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31, 2022 and 2021

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2022 consisted primarily of our net loss of 
$88.0 million, partially offset by non-cash items consisting of goodwill impairment of $48.6 million and stock-based 
compensation and amortization of operating lease assets totaling $8.5 million. Operating activities also included an increase 
of accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.1 million and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $0.7 million, 
partially offset by a decrease in operating lease liability of $0.4 million.

Net cash used in operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 consisted primarily of our net loss of 
$34.5 million, partially offset by non-cash items consisting of stock-based compensation and amortization of operating lease 
assets totaling $8.1 million, partially offset by a decrease in deferred income taxes of $2.4 million. Operating activities also 
included a decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $2.1 million, a decrease in operating lease liability of $0.2 
million, partially offset by an increase of accounts payable and accrued expenses of $2.1 million.

There was no cash provided by or used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021.

There was no cash provided by or used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2021 was comprised of $0.5 million of offering 
costs accrued as of December 31, 2020 in connection with the sale of shares of common stock and paid during the year ended 
December 31, 2021.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Per §229.305 of Regulation S-K, the Company, designated a Smaller Reporting Company as defined in §229.10(f)(1) 
of Regulation S-K, is not required to provide the disclosure required by this Item.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, our consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes listed under Part IV, Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K are set forth beginning on page F-1 immediately following the signature page hereof and incorporated by reference 
herein.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure. 

Not applicable 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our management, with the participation of 
our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 
procedures. The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange 
Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed 
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by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, 
within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without 
limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports 
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the Company’s management, including 
its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. 
Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only 
reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost 
benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that our disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective, at the reasonable assurance level, as of December 31, 2022.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as 
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance to 
our management and Board regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial statements. All internal 
control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even those systems determined to be 
effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and presentation.

Our management has assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 
2022. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of 
the Treadway Commission (“COSO Framework”) in its 2013 Internal Control—Integrated Framework. Management 
believes that the COSO Framework is a suitable framework for its evaluation of financial reporting because it is free from 
bias, permits reasonably consistent qualitative and quantitative measurements of our internal control over financial reporting, 
is sufficiently complete so that those relevant factors that would alter a conclusion about the effectiveness of our internal 
control over financial reporting are not omitted and is relevant to an evaluation of internal control over financial reporting.

Based on this assessment, our management has concluded that as of December 31, 2022, our internal control over 
financial reporting is effective.

As a non-accelerated filer, we are not required to provide an attestation report on our internal control over financial 
reporting issued by the Company’s independent registered accounting firm.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) 
of the Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2022, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to 
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information. 

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspection. 

Not applicable.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance. 

The information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our proxy statement for 
our 2023 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “2023 Proxy Statement”), which we expect to be filed with the SEC within 
120 days of the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, including under headings “Board of Directors and Corporate 
Governance—Election of Directors,” “Executive Officers and Executive Compensation—Executive Officers,” “Board of 
Directors and Corporate Governance—Director Nomination Process” and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—
Committees of the Board of Directors”.

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to our directors, officers and employees, 
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or persons 
performing similar functions. A copy of the code is available on the Corporate Governance section of our website, which is 
located at http://ir.eledon.com/corporate-governance/governance-overview. We intend to disclose on our website any 
amendments to, or waivers from, the code of business conduct and ethics that are required to be disclosed pursuant to the 
disclosure requirements of Item 5.05 of Form 8-K within four business days following the date of the amendment or waiver.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

The information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2023 Proxy 
Statement, including under headings “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” and “Board of Directors and 
Corporate Governance—Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation”. 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The information required by this Item 12 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2023 Proxy 
Statement, including under headings “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Securities 
Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans”.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

The information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2023 Proxy 
Statement, including under headings “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Related Person Transactions,” “Board 
of Directors and Corporate Governance,” and “Board of Directors and Corporate Governance—Committees of the Board of 
Directors”.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

The information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to information in our 2023 Proxy 
Statement, including under headings “Matters to be Voted—on Proposal No. 2—Ratification of the Appointment of 
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm”.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules. 

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements:

The Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, our consolidated financial statements and 
accompanying notes are set forth beginning on page F-1 immediately following the signature page of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

The financial statement schedules are omitted as they are either not applicable or the information required is 
presented in the financial statements and notes thereto under Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and 
Supplementary Data.

(3) Exhibits:

Exhibit              
Number  Exhibit Description  Incorporated by Reference  Filed

    Form  File No.  Exhibit   Filing Date  Herewith

   1.1 Open Market Sales Agreement by and 
between the Registrant and Jefferies, LLC 
dated March 30, 2021

10-K 001-36620 1.1 March 31, 2021

   2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 
September 14, 2020, by and among Novus 
Therapeutics, Inc., Nautilus Merger Sub 1, 
Inc., Nautilus Merger Sub 2, LLC and 
Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc.

8-K 001-36620 2.1 September 15, 2020

   3.1  Restated Certificate of Incorporation of 
Novus Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, dated September 22, 2014

  8-K   001-36620    3.1    September 26, 2014   

   3.2  Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of 
Incorporation of Novus Therapeutics, Inc. 
(effecting, among other things a reverse 
stock-split), filed with the Secretary of the 
State of Delaware on May 9, 2017

 8-K  001-36620   3.1   May 15, 2017   

   3.3  Certificate of Amendment to Certificate of 
Incorporation of Novus Therapeutics, Inc. 
(effecting, among other things a change in 
the corporation’s name to “Novus 
Therapeutics, Inc.”), filed with the Secretary 
of the State of Delaware on May 9, 2017

 8-K  001-36620   3.2   May 15, 2017   

   3.4 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation of Novus 
Therapeutics, Inc., (effecting, among other 
things a reverse stock-split) effective as of 
October 5, 2020

8-K  001-36620   3.1 October 6, 2020

   3.5 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation of Novus 
Therapeutics, Inc., (effecting, among other 
things a change in the corporation’s name to 
“Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.”) effective as 
of January 5, 2021

8-K  001-36620   3.1 January 5, 2021
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   3.6  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Eledon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

 8-K  001-36620   3.2   January 5, 2021   

   3.7 Certificate of Designations of Series X 
Convertible Preferred Stock

8-K 001-36620 3.1 February 19, 2020

   3.8 Certificate of Designations of Series X1 
Convertible Preferred Stock

8-K 001-36620 3.1 September 15, 2020

   4.1  Form of Common Stock Certificate  8-A/A  001-36620   4.1   June 23, 2017   

   4.2 Form of Warrant 8-K 001-36620 4.1 May 2, 2019

   4.3 Form of Placement Agent Warrant 8-K 001-36620 4.2 May 2, 2019

   4.4 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant 8-K 001-36620 4.1 January 16, 2020

   4.5 Description of Securities 10-K 001-36620 4.5 March 31, 2021

  10.1*  Form of Indemnification Agreement  8-K  001-36620   10.1   September 15, 2020   

  10.2  Lease Agreement, dated as of September 2, 
2015, by and between The Irvine Company 
LLC and Otic Pharma, Inc.

 10-Q  001-36620   10.2   August 9, 2017   

  10.3 First Amendment to Lease Agreement, 
dated April 19, 2018, by and between The 
Irvine Company LLC and Novus 
Therapeutics, Inc.

10-Q 001-36620 10.1 August 7, 2018

  10.4*  Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2007 Stock 
Incentive Plan

 10-K  001-36620   10.11 April 2, 2018  

  10.5*  Tokai Pharmaceuticals, Inc. 2014 Stock 
Incentive Plan

 10-Q  001-36620   10.2 August 7, 2018  

  10.6* Novus Therapeutics, Inc., 2014 Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan

10-Q 001-36620 10.3 August 7, 2018

  10.7* Executive Employment Agreement, dated 
September 9, 2020, between Novus 
Therapeutics, Inc. and David-Alexandre C. 
Gros, M.D.

10-K 001-36620 10.8 March 31, 2021

  10.8* Executive Employment Agreement, dated 
March 15, 2021, between Eledon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and Paul Little

10-K 001-36620 10.10 March 31, 2021

  10.9* Novus Therapeutics, Inc., 2020 Long Term 
Incentive Plan

10-K 001-36620 10.11 March 31, 2021

  10.10* Performance Stock Option Agreement, 
dated February 1, 2022, between Eledon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and David-Alexandre 
C. Gros, M.D.

10-K 001-36620 10.12 March 24, 2022

  10.11 Second Amendment to Lease Agreement, 
dated May 3, 2021, by and between 
Newport Gateway Office LLC and Eledon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

10-K 001-36620 10.13 March 24, 2022
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  10.12 Sublease Agreement, dated as of November 
4, 2021, by and between Corporate 
Technologies, Inc. and Eledon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

10-K 001-36620 10.14 March 24, 2022

  10.13 Amended and Restated License Agreement 
by and between ALS Therapy Development 
Foundation, Inc. and Anelixis Therapeutics, 
Inc, dated February 18, 2020

10-Q 001-36620 10.1 August 11, 2022

  10.14 First Amendment to Restated License 
Agreement between ALS Therapy 
Development Foundation, Inc. and Anelixis 
Therapeutics, Inc. dated September 5, 2020

10-Q 001-36620 10.2 August 11, 2022

  10.15 License Agreement between Lonza Sales 
AG and Anelixis Therapeutics, LLC, dated 
September 11, 2018

10-Q 001-36620 10.3 August 11, 2022

  21.1  Subsidiaries of the Registrant  10-K 001-36620 21.1 March 17, 2020  

  23.1  Consent of KMJ Corbin & Company LLP, 
independent registered public accounting 
firm

           X

  31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer 
Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

           X

  31.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer 
Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

           X

  32.1#  Certification of Principal Executive Officer 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

           X

  32.2#  Certification of Principal Financial Officer 
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

           X

101.INS  INLINE XBRL Instance Document - the 
instance document does not appear in the 
Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags 
are embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document

            

101.SCH  INLINE XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Schema Document

            

101.CAL  INLINE XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Calculation Linkbase Document

            

101.DEF  INLINE XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Definition Linkbase Document
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101.LAB  INLINE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label 
Linkbase Document

            

101.PRE  INLINE XBRL Taxonomy Extension 
Presentation Linkbase Document

            

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File – the cover 
page interactive date file does not appear in 
the Interactive Data File because its XBRL 
tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL 
document

              
*  Indicates a management contract or 

compensatory plan
            

#  These certifications are not deemed filed by 
the SEC and are not to be incorporated by 
reference in any filing we make under the 
Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, irrespective of any 
general incorporation language in any 
filings.

        

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary. 

None.
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be 
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.

Chief Executive Officer
and Director (Principal

Executive Officer)

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Paul Little
Paul Little

Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this Report has been signed below 
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name Title Date

/s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D. Chief Executive Officer and Director March 30, 2023
David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D. (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Paul Little Chief Financial Officer March 30, 2023
Paul Little (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Keith A. Katkin Chairman of the Board of Directors March 30, 2023
Keith A. Katkin

/s/ Jan Hillson, M.D. Director March 30, 2023
Jan Hillson, M.D.

/s/ Gary A. Lyons Director March 30, 2023
Gary A. Lyons

/s/ John S. McBride Director March 30, 2023
John S. McBride

/s/ Walter Ogier Director March 30, 2023
Walter Ogier

/s/ June Lee, M.D. Director March 30, 2023
June Lee, M.D.

/s/ Steven Perrin President, Director March 30, 2023
Steven Perrin
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity 
and cash flows for the each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively referred 
to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America.
 
Going Concern
 
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going 
concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred recurring operating losses 
and expects to continue to incur net losses into the foreseeable future. In addition, the Company has an accumulated deficit of 
$202.9 million as of December 31, 2022 and is dependent on its ability to raise capital. These matters raise substantial doubt 
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described 
in Note 2. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this 
uncertainty.
 
Basis for Opinion
 
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the 
Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to 
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and 
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, 
whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal 
control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over 
financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over 
financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
 
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on 
a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
Critical Audit Matter
 
The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial 
statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or 
disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or 
complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate 
opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Goodwill Impairment Assessment
 
Critical Audit Matter Description
 
As described in Notes 3 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company performs goodwill impairment testing on 
an annual basis on December 31 or if indicators of impairment exist that would, more likely than not, reduce the fair value from 
its carrying value. Due to a sustained decline in the Company’s market capitalization, the Company elected to perform a 
quantitative impairment analysis of goodwill for its single reporting unit on December 31, 2022. For the single reporting unit 
evaluated using a quantitative assessment, the fair value was estimated using a market approach utilizing a set of guideline 
public companies and enterprise to revenue multiples for those companies. An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying 
amount of the reporting unit’s net assets exceeds the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. Based on the impairment test, 
the Company recorded an impairment charge of $48.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2022. As a result of the 
impairment charges recorded, the carrying value of goodwill was reduced to zero.
 
Auditing management’s impairment test for goodwill was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant assumptions 
used in determining the fair value of the Company’s single reporting unit. Significant assumptions used include (i) estimating 
the expected timing and amount of projected future revenues; (ii) the enterprise to revenue multiples; and (iii) the probabilities 
of technical success.
 
How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit
 
To test the estimated fair value of the single reporting unit, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, 
assessing the methodologies used by the Company, comparing the significant assumptions to current industry peers and 
economic trends and other relevant factors that would affect the significant assumptions. We involved a valuation specialist to 
assist with assessing the methodologies and evaluating certain significant assumptions described above, such as projected future 
revenues, the enterprise to revenue multiples and the probabilities of technical success. We also performed sensitivity analyses 
of significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair value of the reporting unit that would result from changes in the 
assumptions.
 
 
/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP
 
We have served as the Company's auditor since 2019.
 
Irvine, California
March 30, 2023
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

December 31,
2022 2021

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 56,409 $ 84,833
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,109 3,513

Total current assets 59,518 88,346
Operating lease asset, net 739 768
Goodwill — 48,648
In-process research and development 32,386 32,386
Other assets 150 400
Total assets $ 92,793 $ 170,548

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,200 $ 1,813
Current operating lease liability 363 369
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 3,912 2,219

Total current liabilities 6,475 4,401
Deferred tax liability 1,752 1,752
Non-current operating lease liability 383 400
Total liabilities 8,610 6,553
 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)
 
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 5,000,000 shares authorized at December 31, 
   2022 and 2021:

Series X1 non-voting convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 515,000 
   shares designated; 117,970 and 108,070 shares issued and outstanding at 
   December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively — —
Series X non-voting convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value, 10,000 
   shares designated; 6,204 shares issued and outstanding at December 31,
   2022 and 2021  — —

Common stock, $0.001 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized at 
    December 31, 2022 and 2021; 13,776,788 and 14,306,788 shares issued
    and outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively 14 14
Additional paid-in capital 287,034 278,880
Accumulated deficit (202,865) (114,899)
Total stockholders’ equity 84,183 163,995
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 92,793 $ 170,548

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(In thousands, except share and per share data) 

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Operating expenses
Research and development $ 27,080 $ 23,735
General and administrative 12,700 13,132
Goodwill impairment 48,648 —

Total operating expenses 88,428 36,867
Loss from operations (88,428) (36,867)
Other income, net 462 7
Loss before income tax benefit (87,966) (36,860)
Income tax benefit — 2,354
Net loss and comprehensive loss $ (87,966) $ (34,506)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (6.16) $ (2.33)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding, basic and diluted 14,285,254 14,819,582

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(In thousands) 

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Operating activities
Net loss $ (87,966) $ (34,506)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Amortization of operating lease asset 373 195
Goodwill impairment 48,648 —
Stock-based compensation 8,153 7,904
Deferred income taxes — (2,354)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

Prepaid expenses and other assets 654 (2,095)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 2,081 2,143
Operating lease liability (367) (200)

Net cash used in operating activities (28,424) (28,913)
Financing activities
Proceeds from exercise of stock options — 1
Payment of offering costs in connection with PIPE transaction — (450)

Net cash used in financing activities — (449)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents (28,424) (29,362)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 84,833 114,195
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 56,409 $ 84,833
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities
Increase in operating lease asset and liability due to new and modified operating leases $ 344 $ 825
Common stock exchange for warrants $ — $ 1
Common stock exchanged for X1 non-voting convertible preferred stock $ 1 $ —

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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ELEDON PHARMACEUTICALS, INC. 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Description of Business 

Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (formerly Novus Therapeutics, Inc.) is a clinical stage biopharmaceutical company 
focused on developing life-changing, targeted medicines for persons living with an autoimmune disease, requiring an organ 
or cell-based transplant, or living with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (“ALS”). Unless otherwise indicated, references to the 
terms “Eledon,” “our,” “us,” “we”, or the “Company” refer to Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, on a consolidated basis.

The Company’s lead compound in development is tegoprubart, an anti-CD40L antibody with high affinity for CD40 
ligand, a well-validated biological target with broad therapeutic potential.

On September 14, 2020, Eledon acquired Anelixis Therapeutics, Inc. (“Anelixis”), a privately held clinical stage 
biotechnology company developing a next generation anti-CD40L antibody as a potential treatment for organ and cellular 
transplantation, autoimmune diseases, and neurodegenerative diseases. The Company maintains its corporate headquarters in 
Irvine, California and has research and development facilities in Burlington, Massachusetts.

Note 2. Going Concern and Management’s Plans

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the assumption the Company will 
continue to operate as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business. The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments to reflect the possible future 
effects on the recoverability and classification of assets or the amounts of liabilities that may result from uncertainty related 
to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

 The Company had a net loss of $88.0 million and an accumulated deficit of $202.9 million as of December 31, 2022, 
as a result of incurring losses since our inception. Due to continuing research and development activities, the Company 
expects to continue to incur net losses into the foreseeable future. The Company has financed operations primarily by net 
proceeds from the sale of preferred and common stock and warrants.

The Company’s ability to raise additional capital in the equity and debt markets is dependent on a number of factors, 
including, but not limited to, the market demand for the Company’s common stock, which itself is subject to a number of 
development and business risks and uncertainties, as well as the uncertainty that the Company would be able to raise such 
additional capital at a price or on terms that are favorable to the Company.  If the Company issues equity or convertible debt 
securities to raise additional funding, its existing stockholders may experience dilution, it may incur significant financing 
costs, and the new equity or convertible debt securities may have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of its 
existing stockholders. If the Company issues debt securities to raise additional funding, it would incur additional debt service 
obligations, it could become subject to additional restrictions limiting its ability to operate its business, and it may be required 
to further encumber its assets.

 As of December 31, 2022, the Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $56.4 million, consisting of 
readily available cash and cash equivalents in bank accounts. Management believes that the Company does not have 
sufficient capital resources to sustain operations through at least the next twelve months from the date of this filing. The 
Company plans to seek to address this condition by raising additional capital to finance its operations, although the 
availability of, and the Company’s access to such financing is not assured. Accordingly, management believes that there is 
substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue operating as a going concern through at least the next twelve 
months from the date of this filing.
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Note 3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States (“GAAP”). Eledon, a Delaware corporation, owns 100% of the issued and outstanding common stock or other 
ownership interest in Anelixis Therapeutics, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Otic Pharma, Ltd., a private 
limited company organized under the laws of the State of Israel (“Otic”). Otic owns 100% of the issued and outstanding 
common stock or other ownership interest in its U.S. subsidiary, Otic Pharma, Inc. The functional currency of the Company’s 
foreign subsidiary is the U.S. Dollar; however, certain expenses, assets and liabilities are transacted at the local currency. 
These transactions are translated from the local currency into U.S. Dollars at exchange rates during or at the end of the 
reporting period. The activities of the Company’s foreign subsidiary are not significant to the consolidated financial 
statements.

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions among the entities have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management 
to make informed estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the Company’s consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. 
The most significant estimates in the Company’s consolidated financial statements relate to stock-based compensation, 
accruals for liabilities, impairment of long-lived assets, including goodwill, and other matters that affect the consolidated 
financial statements and related disclosures. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates under different 
assumptions or conditions and the differences may be material to the consolidated financial statements.

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash represents cash deposits held at financial institutions. The Company considers all liquid investments purchased 
with an original maturity of three months or less and that can be liquidated without prior notice or penalty to be cash 
equivalents. The carrying value of cash equivalents approximates their fair value due to the short-term maturities of these 
instruments. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-term liquidity requirements, rather than for 
investment purposes. The Company had $9.3 million in cash equivalents at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Fair Value Measurements 

Financial assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value.

The Company measures the fair value of certain of its financial instruments on a recurring basis. A fair value 
hierarchy is used to rank the quality and reliability of the information used to determine fair values. Financial assets and 
liabilities carried at fair value will be classified and disclosed in one of the following three categories:

Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as unadjusted quoted prices 
for similar assets and liabilities, unadjusted quoted prices in the markets that are not active, or other inputs that are 
observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair 
value of the assets or liabilities.

There have been no transfers of assets for liabilities between these fair value measurement classifications during the 
periods presented.

The Company had no financial instruments, assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of 
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Concentration of Credit Risk and Other Risks and Uncertainties

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, all of the Company’s long-lived assets were located in the United States.
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Financial instruments that are subject to concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents. The 
Company’s policy is to invest cash in institutional money market funds to limit the amount of credit exposure. At times, the 
Company maintains cash equivalents in short-term money market funds and it has not experienced any losses on its cash 
equivalents.

The Company’s products will require approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) and foreign 
regulatory agencies before commercial sales can commence. There can be no assurance that its products will receive any of 
these required approvals. The denial or delay of such approvals may impact the Company’s business in the future. In 
addition, after the approval by the FDA, there is still an ongoing risk of adverse events that did not appear during the product 
approval process.

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including, but not limited to, 
new technological innovations, clinical development risk, establishment of appropriate commercial partnerships, protection 
of proprietary technology, compliance with government and environmental regulations, uncertainty of market acceptance of 
products, product liability, the volatility of its stock price and the need to obtain additional financing.

Our facilities and equipment, including those of our suppliers and vendors, may be affected by natural or man-made 
disasters. Our administrative office is based in Irvine, California and we manage all our research and development activities 
through third parties that are located throughout the world. We have taken precautions to safeguard our facilities, equipment 
and systems, including insurance, health and safety protocols, and off-site storage of computer data. However, our facilities 
and systems, as well as those of our third-party suppliers and vendors, may be vulnerable to earthquakes, fire, storm, public 
health or similar emergencies, power loss, telecommunications failures, physical and software break-ins, software viruses and 
similar events which could cause substantial delays in our operations, damage or destroy our equipment or inventory, and 
cause us to incur additional expenses and delay research and development activities. In addition, the insurance coverage we 
maintain may not be adequate to cover our losses in any circumstance and may not continue to be available to use on 
acceptable terms, or at all.

Reportable Segments

Operating segments under GAAP are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial 
information is available that is evaluated regularly by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM”), or decision-making 
group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance. The CODM is the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer and the Company has determined that it operates in one business segment, which is the development of products for 
therapeutic medicines selectively targeting critical pathways associated with the underlying molecular pathogenesis for 
patients with severe inflammation and autoimmune diseases.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value of the net assets acquired 
under the acquisition method of accounting. Goodwill is not amortized but is evaluated for impairment as of December 31 of 
each year or if indicators of impairment exist that would, more likely than not, reduce the fair value from its carrying amount.

The Company performs its goodwill impairment analysis at the reporting unit level, which aligns with the Company’s 
reporting structure and availability of discrete financial information. The Company performs its annual impairment analysis 
by either comparing the reporting unit’s estimated fair value to its carrying amount or doing a qualitative assessment of a 
reporting unit’s fair value from the last quantitative assessment to determine if there is potential impairment. The Company 
may do a qualitative assessment when the results of the previous quantitative test indicated the reporting unit’s estimated fair 
value was significantly in excess of the carrying value of its net assets and it does not believe there have been significant 
changes in the reporting unit’s operations that would significantly decrease its estimated fair value or significantly increase 
its net assets. If a quantitative assessment is performed, the evaluation includes management estimates of cash flow 
projections based on internal future projections and/or use of a market approach by looking at market values of comparable 
companies. Key assumptions for these projections include revenue growth, future gross and operating margin growth, and its 
weighted cost of capital and terminal growth rates. The revenue and margin growth is based on increased sales of new 
products as the Company maintains investments in research and development. Additional assumed value creators may 
include increased efficiencies from capital spending. The resulting cash flows are discounted using a weighted average cost 
of capital. Operating mechanisms and requirements to ensure that growth and efficiency assumptions will ultimately be 
realized are also considered in the evaluation, including timing and probability of regulatory approvals for Company products 
to be commercialized. The Company’s market capitalization is also considered as a part of its analysis.
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The Company’s annual evaluation for impairment of goodwill consists of one reporting unit. In accordance with the 
Company’s policy, the Company completed its annual evaluation for impairment as of December 31, 2022 using the 
quantitative assessment, utilizing the market approach and due to declining market conditions, determined that the fair value 
of the reporting unit was below its carrying value.  As a result, the Company recognized $48.6 million of goodwill 
impairment, reducing the goodwill balance to zero. No impairment was recorded for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the 
estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Additions, major renewals and improvements are capitalized and repair and 
maintenance costs are charged to expense as incurred. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the remaining life of the 
initial lease term or the estimated useful lives of the assets, whichever is shorter.

The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss would be recognized when estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows relating to the asset are less than its carrying amount. An impairment loss is measured as the amount 
by which the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its fair value. Significant management judgment is required in the forecast 
of future operating results that are used in the preparation of expected cash flows. No impairments of long-lived assets have 
been identified during the years presented.

In-Process Research and Development

The fair value of in-process research and development (“IPR&D”) acquired through a business combination is 
capitalized as an indefinite-lived intangible asset until the completion or abandonment of the related research and 
development activities. When the related research and development is completed, the asset will be assigned a useful life and 
amortized.

The fair value of an IPR&D intangible asset is determined using the replacement cost method. This method involves 
arriving at an asset’s value by reference to the present-day cost, in an arms-length transaction, of replacing that asset with a 
similar asset in a similar condition.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses include personnel and facility-related expenses, outside contracted services 
including clinical trial costs, manufacturing and process development costs, research costs and other consulting services and 
non-cash stock-based compensation. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Amounts due under contracts 
with third parties may be either fixed fee or fee for service, and may include upfront payments, monthly payments and 
payments upon the completion of milestones or receipt of deliverables. Non-refundable advance payments under agreements 
are capitalized and expensed as the related goods are delivered or services are performed.

The Company’s contracts with third parties to perform various clinical trial activities in the on-going development of 
potential products. The financial terms of these agreements are subject to negotiation, vary from contract to contract and may 
result in uneven payment flows to its vendors. Payments under the contracts depend on factors such as the achievement of 
certain events, successful enrollment of patients, and completion of portions of the clinical trial or similar conditions. The 
Company’s accrual for clinical trials is based on estimates of the services received and efforts expended pursuant to contracts 
with clinical trial centers and clinical research organizations. These contracts may be terminated by the Company upon 
written notice and the Company is generally only liable for actual effort expended by the organizations to the date of 
termination, although in certain instances the Company may be further responsible for termination fees and penalties. The 
Company estimates its research and development expenses and the related accrual as of each balance sheet date based on the 
facts and circumstances known to the Company at that time. There have been no material adjustments to the Company’s prior 
period accrued estimates for clinical trial activities through December 31, 2022.
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Net Loss Per Share 

Basic net loss per common share is calculated by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the 
weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, without consideration for potentially dilutive 
securities. Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss attributable to common stockholders by the 
weighted-average number of common shares and potentially dilutive securities outstanding for the period determined using 
the treasury-stock and if-converted methods. For purposes of the diluted net loss per share calculation, preferred stock, and 
stock options and warrants are considered to be potentially dilutive securities and are excluded from the calculation of diluted 
net loss per share because their effect would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share was the same for 
the periods presented due to the Company’s net loss position. Basic weighted average shares outstanding for the years ended 
December 31, 2022 and 2021 include 509,117 shares underlying warrants to purchase common shares. As the shares 
underlying these warrants can be issued for little consideration (an exercise price per share equal to $0.001 per share), these 
shares are deemed to be issued for purposes of basic earnings per share.
 

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
(In thousands, except share and per 

share data)
Net loss $ (87,966) $ (34,506)
Net loss per share, basic and diluted $ (6.16) $ (2.33)
Weighted-average number of common shares 14,285,254 14,819,582

The computation of diluted earnings per share excludes stock options, warrants, and restricted stock units that are anti-
dilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2022, common share equivalents of 8,139,155 shares were anti-dilutive. For the 
year ended December 31, 2021, common share equivalents of 1,087,174 shares were anti-dilutive.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recognizes compensation expense for all stock-based awards based on the grant-date estimated fair 
value.

The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using assumptions that 
are subjective and require significant judgment and estimation by management. The fair value of stock options is determined 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, using assumptions which are subjective and require significant judgment and 
estimation by management. The risk-free rate assumption was based on observed yields from governmental zero-coupon 
bonds with an equivalent term. The expected volatility assumption was based on historical volatilities of a group of 
comparable industry companies whose share prices are publicly available. The peer group was developed based on 
companies in the pharmaceutical industry. The expected term of stock options represents the weighted-average period that the 
stock options are expected to be outstanding. Because the Company does not have historical exercise behavior, the Company 
determined the expected life assumption using the simplified method for stock options granted to employees, which is an 
average of the options ordinary vesting period and the contractual term. For stock options granted to the Company’s board of 
directors (the “Board”), the Company determined the expected life assumption using the simplified method as the starting 
point with an average period of twelve (12) months added to take into account for the extended range of time of 12 to 18 
months vested stock options granted to Board members may be exercised upon termination. The expected dividend 
assumption was based on the Company’s history and expectation of dividend payouts. The Company has not paid and does 
not expect to pay dividends at any time in the foreseeable future. The Company recognizes forfeitures on an actual basis and 
as such did not estimate forfeitures to calculate stock-based compensation.

Restricted Stock Units (“RSU”) are measured and recognized based on the quoted market price of our common stock 
on the date of grant.

In March 2020, the Board approved an increase of 28,816 shares issuable under the 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the 
“2014 Plan”) and 7,204 shares issuable under the 2014 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”).
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On December 18, 2020, the Company held the Special Meeting, whereby the Company’s stockholders approved the 
2020 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”). The aggregate number of shares of stock available for issuance under the 
2020 Plan will initially be 4,860,000 shares of common stock, which represented approximately 15% of the total issued and 
outstanding shares of the Company’s common stock as of the record date of the Special Meeting (calculated on an as-
converted basis and without regard to the potential application of beneficial ownership conversion limitations on the 
preferred stock) and may be increased by the number of shares under the 2014 Plan that expire, terminate or are otherwise 
surrendered, cancelled, forfeited or repurchased by the Company. Based on projected utilization rates, the Board currently 
intends that the initial shares under the 2020 Plan will be sufficient to fund the Company’s equity compensation needs for 
approximately three years from the date of the Special Meeting.

The 2014 Plan was closed to new grants following the approval of the 2020 Plan, and therefore, there were no shares 
reserved for issuance under the 2014 Plan as of December 31, 2022. The number of shares reserved for issuance under the 
2020 Plan and ESPP was 3,126,608 and 24,077 shares, respectively, as of December 31, 2022.

Income Taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities and the valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax assets. We assess the likelihood that deferred tax 
assets will be recovered as deductions from future taxable income. The evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance is 
performed on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis and includes a review of all available positive and negative evidence. 
Factors reviewed include projections of pre-tax book income for the foreseeable future, determination of cumulative pre-tax 
book income after permanent differences, earnings history, and reliability of forecasting. We have provided a valuation 
allowance on our deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 because we believe it is more likely than not that a 
majority of our deferred tax assets will not be realized as of this date.

The Company evaluates the accounting for uncertainty in income tax recognized in its consolidated financial 
statements and determines whether it is more likely than not that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the 
appropriate taxing authorities before any part of the benefit is recorded in its consolidated financial statements. For those tax 
positions where it is “not more likely than not” that a tax benefit will be sustained, no tax benefit is recognized. Where 
applicable, associated interest and penalties are also recorded. The Company has not accrued any liabilities for any such 
uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. The Company is subject to U.S. federal and state tax authority 
examinations for all the years since inception due to net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. The net operating losses 
and tax credits are subject to adjustment until the statute closes on the year the attributes are ultimately utilized.

The Company’s income tax returns are based on calculations and assumptions that are subject to examination by the 
Internal Revenue Service and other tax authorities. In addition, the calculation of the Company’s tax liabilities involves 
dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations. The Company recognizes liabilities for uncertain tax 
positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for recognition by determining if the 
weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained on audit, including 
resolution of related appeals or processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is 
more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the Company believes it has appropriate support for the 
positions taken on its tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the potential outcomes of examinations by tax authorities 
in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes. The Company continually assesses the likelihood and amount 
of potential revisions and adjusts the income tax provision, income taxes payable and deferred taxes in the period in which 
the facts that give rise to a revision become known. For additional information, see Note 7. Income Taxes.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements 

No new accounting pronouncement issued or effective during the fiscal period had or is expected to have a material 
impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements or disclosures.
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Note 4. Prepaid Expenses, Other Assets, Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities

Prepaid expenses and other current assets consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in 
thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021

Prepaid insurance $ 823 $ 1,344
Prepaid clinical 2,115 2,039
Prepaid other 143 96
Other current assets 28 34
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 3,109 $ 3,513

Accrued expenses and other liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 (in thousands):

December 31,
2022 2021

Accrued compensation and related expenses $ 1,909 $ 1,411
Accrued severance — 104
Accrued clinical 1,826 454
Accrued professional services 65 167
Accrued other 112 83
Total accrued expenses and other liabilities $ 3,912 $ 2,219

Note 5. Goodwill

In 2022, the Company determined that the sustained decrease in our market capitalization constituted an indicator of 
impairment and as a result, a quantitative goodwill impairment test, utilizing the market approach, determined that the fair 
value of the reporting unit was below its carrying value and the goodwill was fully impaired.

The Company recorded an impairment of $48.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 for the full write-down 
of the goodwill recorded as part of the acquisition of Anelixis.

Total

Balance as of January 1, 2021 $ 48,648
Impairments —

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 48,648
Impairments (48,648)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ —
  

Note 6. Commitments and Contingencies

Operating Leases 

The Company leases office space under various operating leases. Total rent expense for all operating leases in the 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss was approximately $0.3 million and $0.3 million for the years 
ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The Company has an operating lease for 5,197 square feet of office space in Irvine, California, which was set to expire 
on December 31, 2022. On August 12, 2022, the Company extended the term of the lease through December 31, 2024, by 
amending the office lease effective January 1, 2023.

On November 4, 2021, the Company entered into an operating lease for 6,138 square feet of office space in 
Burlington, Massachusetts, that expires on November 20, 2024.

The Company determines if a contract contains a lease at inception. Our office leases have remaining term of 
approximately two years and do not include options to extend the leases for additional periods.
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Operating lease assets and liabilities are recognized at the lease commencement date. Operating lease liabilities 
represent the present value of lease payments not yet paid. Operating lease assets represent our right to use an underlying 
asset and are based upon the operating lease liabilities as adjusted for prepayments or accrued lease payments, initial direct 
costs, lease incentives, and impairment of operating lease assets. To determine the present value of lease payments not yet 
paid, we estimate incremental secured borrowing rates corresponding to the maturities of the leases. As we have no 
outstanding debt nor committed credit facilities, secured or otherwise, we estimate this rate based on prevailing financial 
market conditions, comparable company and credit analysis, and management’s judgment.

Our leases contain rent escalations over the lease term. We recognize expense for these leases on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term. Additionally, tenant incentives used to fund leasehold improvements are recognized when earned and 
reduce our right-of-use asset related to the lease. These are amortized through the right-of-use asset as reductions of expense 
over the lease term. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive 
covenants.

While we do not currently have any lease agreement with lease and non-lease components, we elected to account for 
lease and non-lease components as separate components.

We have elected the short-term lease recognition exemption for all applicable classes of underlying assets. Short-term 
disclosures include only those leases with a term greater than one month and 12 months or less, and expense is recognized on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less, that do not include an option to 
purchase the underlying asset that we are reasonably certain to exercise, are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet.

The components of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Operating lease cost(a) $ 403 $ 283
(a) Includes variable operating lease expenses, which are immaterial.

Other information related to leases was as follows (in thousands, except lease term and discount rate):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Supplemental Cash Flows Information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liability:

Operating cash flows from operating lease $ 387 $ 208
Operating lease asset obtained in exchange for lease liability:

Operating lease $ 344 $ 825
Remaining lease term

Operating lease 1.95 years 2.41 years
Discount rate

Operating lease 2.49% 3.00%

Future payments under noncancelable operating leases having initial or remaining terms of one year or more are as 
follows for the succeeding fiscal year and thereafter (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022
2023 378
2024 388

Total minimum lease payments 766
Less imputed interest (20)

Present value of lease liabilities 746
Less current portion of operating lease liability (363)

Non-current operating lease liability $ 383
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Grants and Licenses

ALS Therapy Development Foundation, Inc. License Agreement

In May 2015, Anelixis executed a License Agreement (the “Agreement”), which is an exclusive patent rights 
agreement with ALS Therapy Development Foundation, Inc. (“ALS TDI”) for certain patents and “know-how” of ALS TDI. 
This agreement continues until the licensee terminates the agreement with ninety days written notice. The Agreement 
requires license fees payable to ALS TDI, subject to the achievement of certain milestones and other conditions.

The first and second milestones of the Agreement are the dosing of the first subjects in a first toxicity study in non-
human primates and the dosing of the first patient in a Phase I Clinical Trial, respectively. Both of these milestones were 
achieved as of December 31, 2018 and 2017. The fee due for the achievement of these milestones was $1.0 million each. 
During 2018 and 2017, Anelixis issued $1.0 million worth of its common stock in lieu of making a cash payment. There were 
no milestones achieved during 2022 and 2021.

The Agreement was amended and restated in February 2020, and a first amendment to the restated license agreement 
was executed in September 2020. As amended in September 2020, the remaining milestone payments for a first licensed 
product total $6.0 million. In the event that the Company develops a second licensed product, the Company is obligated to 
pay up to $2.5 million in additional milestone payments.

In addition to the milestone payments, the Company is required to pay ALS TDI an amended annual license 
maintenance fee of $0.1 million beginning on the earlier of January 1, 2022, the Company’s first sublicense, or change in 
control, as defined in the Agreement. The Company made the first $0.1 million annual license maintenance fee in 2022.

Furthermore, the Company shall pay ALS TDI fees based on reaching certain levels of annual net sales of any product 
produced with the patent rights. A royalty in the low single digits will be due on aggregate net sales. Upon the first calendar 
year of reaching $500.0 million in aggregate net sales, the Company shall pay ALS TDI a one-time milestone payment of 
$15.0 million. Upon the first calendar year of reaching $1.0 billion in aggregate net sales, the Company is obligated to pay 
ALS TDI a one-time milestone payment of $30.0 million.

Lonza Sales AG Inc. License Agreement

In September 2018, Anelixis executed a License Agreement (the “Lonza Agreement”), which is a manufacturing 
know-how rights agreement with Lonza Sales AG Inc. (“Lonza”) for the use of certain processes and know-how related to 
the manufacture of tegoprubart. The Lonza Agreement continues until the later of the last Valid Claim (as defined therein) or 
ten years from the First Commercial Sale of tegoprubart, as defined and subject to the conditions therein. A royalty in the low 
single digits will be due on aggregate net sales of tegoprubart that is manufactured by Lonza or any other third-party or 
licensee.

eGenesis, Inc. Collaboration Agreement

In September 2022, and subsequently amended in January 2023, Eledon executed a collaborative research agreement 
with eGenesis, Inc. (the “eGenesis Agreement”), under which eGenesis will gain access to tegoprubart for eGenesis’ ongoing 
preclinical research and development xenotransplant studies of human-compatible organs and cells for the treatment of organ 
failure.  eGenesis will pay Eledon for supplies of tegoprubart based on the number of study days per animal needed for the 
eGenesis preclinical xenotransplant studies.  The eGenesis agreement continues until September 2025, unless terminated 
earlier by either party.

Israeli Innovation Authority Grant

From 2012 through 2015, the Company received grants in the amount of approximately $0.5 million from the Israeli 
Innovation Authority (previously the Office of Chief Scientist) of the Israeli Ministry of Economy and Industry designated 
for investments in research and development. The grants are linked to the U.S. dollar and bear annual interest of LIBOR. The 
grants are to be repaid as royalties from sales of the products developed by the Company from their investments in research 
and development. Because the Company has not yet earned revenues related to these investments and cannot estimate 
potential royalties, no liabilities related to these grants have been recorded as of each period presented. Repayment of the 
grant is contingent upon the successful completion of the Company’s research and development programs and generating 
sales. The Company has no obligation to repay these grants, if the research and development program fails, is unsuccessful or 
aborted or if no sales are generated. The Company had not yet generated sales as of December 31, 2022; therefore, no 
liability was recorded for the repayment in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.



F-17

Legal Matters

The Company and its subsidiaries are not a party to or the subject of any claim or lawsuit that individually or in the 
aggregate is anticipated to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, financial condition or cash 
flows.

Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of 
representations and warranties and provide for general indemnification. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is 
unknown because it involves future claims that may be made against the Company but have not yet been made. To date, the 
Company has not paid any claims or been required to defend any action related to its indemnification obligations. However, 
the Company may record charges in the future because of these indemnification obligations. No amounts associated with 
such indemnifications have been recorded to date.

Contingencies 

From time to time, the Company may have certain contingent liabilities that arise in the ordinary course of business 
activities. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is probable that future expenditures will be made and 
such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. There have been no contingent liabilities requiring accrual at December 31, 
2022 and 2021.

Note 7. Income Taxes

Loss before income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Losses before income taxes:
U.S. $ (88,159) $ (37,055)
Non-U.S. 193 195

Total $ (87,966) $ (36,860)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Current:

Federal $ — $ —
State — —
Foreign — —

— —
Deferred:

Federal — (2,746)
State — 392
Foreign — —

— (2,354)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes $ — $ (2,354)

The Company is subject to income taxes under U.S. tax laws.  The Company is subject to an Israeli corporate tax rate 
of 23% in 2020 and thereafter. The Company was subject to a blended U.S. tax rate (federal as well as state corporate tax) of 
21% in 2022 and 2021.

Significant judgment is required in determining the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and 
liabilities and the valuation allowance recorded against net deferred tax assets. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
determined using the enacted tax rates in effect for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be realized. A valuation 
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allowance is established when it is more likely than not the future realization of all or some of the deferred tax assets will not 
be achieved. The evaluation of the need for a valuation allowance is performed on a jurisdiction-by-jurisdiction basis, and 
includes a review of all available positive and negative evidence. Factors reviewed include projections of pre-tax book 
income for the foreseeable future, determination of cumulative pre-tax book income after permanent differences, earnings 
history, and reliability of forecasting.

Based on its review, the Company concluded that it was more likely than not that they would not realize the benefit of 
a portion of its deferred tax assets in the future. This conclusion was based on historical and projected operating performance, 
as well as the Company’s expectation that its operations will not generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to 
realize the tax benefits associated with the deferred tax assets within the statutory carryover periods. Therefore, the Company 
has a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2022.

The Company will continue to assess the need for a valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets by evaluating both 
positive and negative evidence that may exist. Any adjustment to the net deferred tax asset valuation allowance would be 
recorded in the statement of operations for the period that the adjustment is determined to be required.

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate to the Company’s effective income tax rate is as follows 
(in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Statutory Federal income tax rate $ (18,473) $ (7,741)
State income taxes, net of Federal tax benefits (2,678) (445)
Tax credits (1,046) (651)
Stock-based compensation 986 651
Permanent items 3 2
State rate differential 274 235
NOL true-up (337) (991)
Other 114 146
Goodwill impairment 11,697 —
Change in valuation allowance 9,460 6,440
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $ — $ (2,354)

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 
consisted of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Net operating loss carryforwards $ 15,230 $ 12,531
Research and development tax credits 2,294 1,356
Accruals and reserves 452 296
Research expenditures 5,264 —
Stock-based compensation 2,874 1,867
Depreciation and amortization 1,595 1,713
Lease liability 179 171

Total deferred tax assets 27,888 17,934
Right-of-use asset (178) (171)
Acquired IPR&D (7,787) (7,192)

Total deferred tax liabilities (7,965) (7,363)
Less: valuation allowance (21,675) (12,323)
Net deferred tax liabilities $ (1,752) $ (1,752)
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The following table reconciles the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits for the years presented 
(in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of the 
year $ 1,469 $ 764
Additions from tax positions taken in the current year 914 712
Additions from tax positions taken in prior years 281 —
Reductions from tax positions taken in prior years — (7)
Gross unrecognized tax benefits at the end of the year $ 2,664 $ 1,469

The deferred income tax assets have been offset by a valuation allowance, as realization is dependent on future 
earnings, if any, the timing and amount of which are uncertain. The net valuation allowance increased by $9.4 million from 
December 31, 2021 to December 31, 2022. The net valuation allowance increased by $6.4 million from December 31, 2020 
to December 31, 2021.

The Company’s accounting for deferred taxes involves the evaluation of a number of factors concerning the 
realizability of its net deferred tax assets. The Company primarily considered such factors as its history of operating losses, 
the nature of the Company’s deferred tax assets, and the timing, likelihood, and amount, if any, of future taxable income 
during the periods in which those temporary differences and carryforwards become deductible. At present, the Company does 
not believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will be realized; accordingly, a valuation allowance has 
been established.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately 
$56.8 million and $46.9 million, respectively, available to reduce future taxable income. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, 
the Company also has state net operating loss carryforwards of $25.0 million and $15.0 million, respectively. Both the federal 
and state net operating loss carryforwards incurred before 2018 begin expiring in 2035, if not utilized. The federal net 
operating losses incurred since 2018 of $56.0 million do not expire. The state net operating losses begin to expire in 2035. As 
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had Israeli net operating losses of $7.9, which carryforward indefinitely.

As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had federal research and development tax credit carryforwards of 
approximately $2.4 million and $1.9 million, respectively. If not utilized, the carryforwards will begin expiring in 2036. As 
of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company has state research and development credit carryforwards or approximately 
$1.2 million and $1.1 million, respectively, which will begin expiring in 2030 if not utilized.

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code (“IRC) Sections 382 and 383, annual use of the Company’s net operating loss and 
research and development credit carryforwards may be limited in the event a cumulative change in ownership of more than 
50% occurs within a three-year period. The Company has not completed an IRC Section 382/383 analysis regarding the 
limitation of net operating loss and research and development credit carryforwards. Due to the existence of the valuation 
allowance, future changes in the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits will not impact the Company’s effective tax rate.

The Company’s ability to use its remaining net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be further limited if 
the Company experiences a Section 382 ownership change in connection with future changes in our stock ownership.

In the United States, the Company files income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdiction, California and 
Massachusetts. The Company’s tax years for 2018 and forward are subject to examination by the Federal and California tax 
authorities due to the carryforward of unutilized net operating losses and research and development credits.

The Company’s policy is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of 
income tax expense. There was no accrued interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 
2022 and 2021. The Company has not recorded any interest or penalties in 2022 or 2021.
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Note 8. Stockholders’ Equity

December 2020 Exchange Agreements

On December 31, 2020, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Series X Exchange Agreement”) with 
Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P., Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P., Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P. , MSI 
BVF SPV, L.L.C. (collectively, the “BVF Exchanging Stockholders”) and Cormorant Global Healthcare Master Fund, LP 
(together with the BVF Exchanging Stockholders, the “Series X Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Series X 
Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the “Series X Exchange”) 344,666 shares of the Company’s common stock for 
6,203.98 shares of Series X Convertible Preferred Stock.

In addition, on December 31, 2020 the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Warrant Exchange 
Agreement,” and together with the Series X Exchange Agreement, the “Exchange Agreements”) with the BVF Exchanging 
Stockholders, pursuant to which the BVF Exchanging Stockholders exchanged (the “Warrant Exchange,” and together with 
the Series X Exchange, “the Exchanges”) 509,117 shares of the Common Stock for one or more pre-funded warrants to 
purchase an aggregate of 509,117 shares of the Common Stock at a nominal exercise price (the “Warrants”).

The Company recorded the shares of Series X Preferred Stock and Warrants issuable as preferred stock and warrant 
subscriptions at December 31, 2020, since the physical settlement of the Exchanges was made on January 5, 2021, whereby 
the transfer agent recorded the exchange of common stock for the issuance of preferred stock and warrants.

September 2021 Warrant Exchange Agreement

On September 21, 2021, the Company issued warrants exercisable for 298,692 shares of common stock in exchange 
for warrants exercisable for 5,376.456 shares of Series X1 Preferred Stock previously issued as part of the Anelixis merger. 
These Series X1 Preferred Stock warrants were replaced by Eledon for the outstanding warrants issued by Anelixis that were 
not settled upon completion of the merger.

January 2022 Exchange Agreement

On January 11, 2022, the Company entered into an exchange agreement (the “Series X1 Exchange Agreement”) with 
Biotechnology Value Fund, L.P., Biotechnology Value Fund II, L.P., Biotechnology Value Trading Fund OS, L.P., MSI BVF 
SPV, L.L.C. (collectively, the “BVF Exchanging Stockholders”), pursuant to which the Series X1 Exchanging Stockholders 
exchanged (the “Series X1 Exchange”) 550,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for 9,899.99 shares of Series X1 
Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock.

Common Stock Warrants

As of December 31, 2022, 1,145,631 warrants were exercisable into common stock (after rounding for fractional 
shares and subject to beneficial ownership conversion blockers). The shares of common stock underlying the registered direct 
and private placement warrants are registered for offer and sale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities 
Act”), pursuant to the Company’s effective registration statements on Forms S-1.

The following table shows the warrants to purchase common stock activity:

Rollforward of Warrant Activity
Registered 

direct 
warrants, 
placement 

agent

Private 
placement 
warrants

Private 
placement 
warrants, 
placement 

agent

Warrants 
exchanged for 
common stock

Warrants 
exchanged for  

Series X1 

preferred 
stock Total

Balance as of December 31, 
2021 9,581 319,064 9,177 509,117 298,692 1,145,631
Issued — — — — — —
Exercised — — — — — —
Cancelled/Expired — — — — — —
Balance as of December 31, 
2022 9,581 319,064 9,177 509,117 298,692 1,145,631
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Series X1 Preferred Stock Warrants

As of December 31, 2022, 50,207.419 warrants were exercisable into Series X1 Preferred Stock which are convertible 
into 2,789,301 shares of common stock (after rounding for fractional shares and subject to beneficial ownership conversion 
blockers).

The following table shows the warrants to purchase Series X1 Convertible Preferred Stock activity:

Rollforward of Warrant Activity
Warrants assumed and
replaced in acquisition Total

Balance as of December 31, 2021 50,207.419 50,207.419
Assumed and replaced — —
Exercised — —
Cancelled/Expired — —
Balance as of December 31, 2022 50,207.419 50,207.419

2021 Equity Distribution Agreement

On March 31, 2021, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 containing a prospectus and prospectus 
supplement (the "Prospectus") under which the Company may offer and sell up to $75 million in shares of its common stock, 
from time to time, pursuant to an open market sale agreement with Jeffries LLC and by any method deemed to be an “at the 
market offering” as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “ATM Program”). Pursuant 
to the “baby shelf rules” promulgated by the SEC, if the Company’s public float is less than $75.0 million as of specified 
measurement periods, the number of shares of common stock that may be offered and sold by the Company under a Form S-3 
registration statement, including pursuant to the ATM Program, in any twelve-month period is limited to an aggregate 
amount that does not exceed one-third of the Company’s public float.  As of December 31, 2022, due to the SEC’s “baby 
shelf rules,” the Company was permitted to sell up to $10.5 million of shares of common stock pursuant to the ATM 
Program. The Company will remain subject to the “baby shelf rules” under the Form S-3 registration statement until such 
time as its public float exceeds $75.0 million. During the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, no shares were sold 
under the Prospectus.

Note 9. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Option Plans

The Company has three stock compensation plans, the 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”), the 2014 Stock 
Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”) and the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan”). The 2020 Plan permits the Company 
to make grants of incentive stock options, non-statutory stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, stock 
appreciation rights and other stock-based awards to the Company’s employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors; 
however, incentive stock options may only be granted to the Company’s employees. The number of shares initially reserved 
for issuance under the 2020 Plan was 4,860,000 shares of common stock and may be increased by the number of shares under 
the 2014 Plan that expire, terminate or are otherwise surrendered, cancelled, forfeited or repurchased by the Company. 
Options remain outstanding under the 2007, 2014 and the 2020 Plan. As of December 31, 2022, there were 1,151 and 72,519 
options outstanding under the 2007 Plan and 2014 Plan, respectively. Options granted under the 2007, 2014 and 2020 Plans 
generally expire ten years from the date of grant. The Company intends for the 2020 Plan to be its primary stock 
compensation plan in the future. As of December 31, 2022, there were 1,733,392 options outstanding and 3,126,608 shares 
available to issue under the 2020 Plan.

The 2014 Plan was closed to new grants following the approval of the 2020 Plan, and therefore, there were no shares 
reserved for issuance under the 2007 and 2014 Plan as of December 31, 2022.
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The following table summarizes all option activity under the 2007 Plan, 2014 Plan, 2020 Plan and inducement grants:

Shares
Issuable

Under Options

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value
(In years)

Outstanding as of January 1, 2021 3,621,479 $ 10.63 8.9 $ —
Granted 702,836 10.69 — —
Options Assumed (174) 4.73 — —
Forfeited / Canceled (110,164) 19.50 — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 4,213,977 $ 10.33 8.4 $ —
Granted 1,267,700 3.81 — —
Forfeited / Canceled (263,644) 12.12 — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 5,218,033 $ 8.69 8.1 $ —
Options vested and expected to vest as of
   December 31, 2022 5,218,033 $ 8.69 8.1 $ —
Options exercisable as of December 31, 2022 3,076,338 $ 8.72 7.0 $ —

As of December 31, 2022, the range of exercise prices was between $2.45 and $2,147 for options outstanding.

Intrinsic value is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the underlying options and the fair value of 
the common stock for the options that had exercise prices that were lower than the fair value per share of the common stock 
on the date of exercise. There was no aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 
2022.

The following table presents the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair 
value of stock options granted in the periods presented, as follows:

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Expected stock price volatility 81% - 84% 105% - 110%
Risk-free interest rate 1.8% - 4.2% 1%
Expected life of option (in years) 6.25 - 6.50 6.25 - 6.75
Estimated dividend yield 0% 0%

Restricted Stock Units

The following table shows the RSU activity, as follows:

Shares
Issuable

Under RSUs

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2021 — $ — $ —
Granted 20,000 5.07 —
RSUs Vested — — —
Forfeited / Canceled — — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2021 20,000 $ 5.07 $ —
Granted 15,000 2.47 —
RSUs Vested (20,000) 5.07 —
Forfeited / Canceled — — —

Outstanding as of December 31, 2022 15,000 $ 2.47 $ —
RSUs vested and expected to vest as of
   December 31, 2022 15,000 $ 2.47 $ —
RSUs exercisable as of December 31, 2022 — $ — $ —
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Stock-based Compensation Expense 

Total compensation expense related to all of the Company’s stock-based awards for the years ended December 31, 
2022 and 2021 was comprised of the following (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,

2022 2021
Stock-based compensation classified as:

Research and development expense $ 3,230 $ 3,166
General and administrative expense 4,923 4,738

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 8,153 $ 7,904

As of December 31, 2022, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to non-vested equity awards 
was $10.5 million, which is expected to be recognized over an estimated weighted-average period of 2.5 years.

Note 10. Subsequent Events

The Company has evaluated events subsequent to December 31, 2022 through the filing date of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K. Any material subsequent events that occurred during this time have been properly recognized or disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
 



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-200413, 333-203032, 333-
210058, 333-216432, 333-232428, 333-237380 and 333-255173 on Form S-8 and Registration Statement Nos. 333-
251305 and 333-254890 on Form S-3 of our report dated March 30, 2023 (which includes an explanatory paragraph 
regarding Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern), relating to the consolidated 
financial statements of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon 
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2022. 
 
 
                                                                                    
/s/ KMJ Corbin & Company LLP
 
Irvine, California
March 30, 2023



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D., certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: March 30, 2023

 
By: /s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.  

David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D. 

 

 
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATIONS 

I, Paul Little, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in 
which this report is being prepared; 

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to 
be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting 
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles; 

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered 
by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during 
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that 
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial 
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and 
report financial information; and 

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in 
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting. 

 
Date: March 30, 2023

 
By: /s/ Paul Little  

Paul Little 

 

 
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period 
ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the 
undersigned, David-Alexandre C. Gros, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge: 

(1). the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and 

(2). the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company. 

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
David-Alexandre C. Gros, M.D.
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 32.2 

1 ECRTI T1 ARTF O NPCUPAOR RF  S8 P.U.1 . UE1 RTF O S350, 
AU ADF NRED NPCUPAOR RF  

UE1 RTF O 906 F I  RHE UACBAOEU-F XLEY A1 R F I  2002 

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Eledon Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period 
ended December 31, 2022 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the 
undersigned, Paul Little, Chief Financial and Accounting Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge: 

(1). the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and 

(2). the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results 
of operations of the Company. 

Date: March 30, 2023 By: /s/ Paul Little
Paul Little
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)


